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4.1.13 House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16896
Address: 1973 Sheridan Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

The two-story house has a hipped roof with a cross gable. The roof is also intersected by a large, gabled
wall dormer on the front (west) facade. The entrance on the first story is flanked by windows. Dark-framed
storm windows obscure the windows, but they appear to be plate glass with transoms. A one-story
screened-porch addition on the south side of the house is set back from the front facade. A rooftop deck
has been built on the addition. The second story has two sets of paired one-over-one sash windows. The
entrance and all of the windows on the first and second story of the front facade have shutters. In the
peak of the front dormer, part of the wall is recessed in a large, round-arched opening. A one-over-one
sash window, flanked by smaller one-over-one windows, is located in the recessed area. The house is
clad in gray shakes and has black and white trim.

A one-and-one-half-story garage is located at the rear of the property.
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History

The house was built in 1889 by Frank Doe, who was listed as the architect and builder on the permit.
Later that year, Doe also built a barn on the property. Doe appears to have developed the property
speculatively. Another barn was built in 1891. The first known residents were the Charles C. Bennet
family in 1894. Bennet was a furrier and had a store at 514 Nicollet Avenue. In 1905, contractor August
Cedarstrand built a full-width front porch on the house and made other alterations to the building. The
building was repaired after a fire in 1909. The occupants of the house appear to have changed frequently.
The m102§,t notable was Wilbur Foshay, who resided in the house in 1930, after his utilities empire had
failed.

Evaluation

The house was once a good example of the Colonial Revival style but alterations have compromised its
integrity. Although the property has a connection to Wilbur Foshay, a prominent businessman, it does not
have the strongest association with the man. The Foshay Tower in downtown Minneapolis, which Foshay
built as his corporate headquarters, has a stronger association.

Recommendation

The property is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

120 “Briefly Mentioned,” Minneapolis Tribune, August 8, 1889; Davison’s Minneapolis City Directory for

1894-1895 (Minneapolis: C. R. Davison, 1894); “Lawn Party,” Minneapolis Tribune, August 14, 1904;
Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis:
Minneapolis Directory Company); Minneapolis Building Permits B19861 (dated August 7, 1889), B19862
(dated August 7, 1889), B26353 (dated September 29, 1891), B61691 (dated March 8, 1905), B328174
(dated June 23, 1952), and B376671 (dated October 26, 1961).
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4.1.14 House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16374
Address: 1960 Sheridan Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

The house is two stories on a raised basement. A patio that runs along the front of the house extends
onto the roof of a garage attached to the basement on the house’s south side. A concrete and wrought-
iron welcoming-arm stair leads from the front lawn up to the front patio. The projecting entrance is slightly
off-center on the front facade. The round-arched doorway is recessed in a round-arched opening that is
outlined with rusticated stone. A wrought-iron balustrade runs above the entrance. A pair of tall, round-
arched windows are in the first-story wall next to the entrance. The openings are separated by stone
columns with carved spiraling shafts and composite capitals. On the other side of the entrance, another
tall, round-arched window is set higher up in the facade. The location of the window suggests that it looks
into a stairwell. Two three-light windows are set in the second story. The house is covered with cream-
colored stucco and the trim is painted light green. The pyramidal roof and a small roof over the first-story
windows are clad in Spanish tile. A stuccoed chimney runs along one of the side walls.

A one-story, gable-roofed garage is located at the rear of the property. The garage appears to hold two or
three cars.
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History

According to building permit records, this house was built in 1902. The Morrison-Crittenden Company
was listed as the contractor. The property’s owner, John S. Morrison, worked for the Morrison-Crittenden
Company, which not only built houses but provided real estate loans. In 1903, Morrison oversaw the
construction of a 14-by-14-foot frame barn. The Morrisons did not live in the house for very long; Otto T.
Lathrop and his family were the residents by 1909. The ownership had changed again by 1915 when
John Leuthold was the owner. Owner H. J. Hudson added a bay window in 1921 and a porch in 1923. A
1912 Sanborn insurance map, supposedly updated to 1930, shows a porch across the front (east side) of
the house and a bay window on the south side.

Given the style and form of the house, it was apparently rebuilt or extensively remodeled in the 1920s or
1930s. Permit records indicate that the house was stuccoed sometime after 1923, and an addition was
built in 1929. Perhaps this “addition” was a major renovation that gave the house its current appearance.
Beginning in 1989, changes were made when a masonry fireplace was constructed. The interior of the
house and some of the window openings were altered in 2005-2006. "'

Evaluation

Although the Spanish Colonial Revival style is relatively rare in the Kenwood area, the building is not a
noteworthy example of that style. In addition, the archival record leaves questions about the history of the
structure.

Recommendation

The property is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

121 “See These Today (advertisement),” Minneapolis Tribune, November 2, 1902; “My Fine Home,”

advertisement, Minneapolis Tribune, May 31, 1903; Davison's Minneapolis City Directory, 1909
(Minneapolis: C. R. Davison); Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory,
1930 (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory Company); Minneapolis Building Permits B52663 (dated
August 13, 1902), B56682 (dated September 25, 1903), B112686 (dated November 2, 1914), B149123
(dated May 6, 1921), B166448 (dated March 12, 1923), B218511 (dated September 17, 1929), B3033702
(dated February 23, 2005), and 1060057 (dated June 1, 2005).
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4.1.15 Franklin-Kelly House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6766
Address: 2405 West Twenty-second Street, Minneapolis

Property Description

The Prairie Style house is one story with a rectangular form and flat roofs. The building is clad in stucco
with brick decorative details. The front facade is divided into three sections with a fourth section on the
west end set back from the front. The outer sections have four narrow bays of windows with stucco and
tile decoration between the openings. Built-up corners mark the outside edges of the sections. The
central section is recessed and the roofline projects above the rooflines of the outer sections. Stairs,
flanked by brick posts and a brick wall, lead up to the main entrance. The stairs and brick wall are set
asymmetrically from the rest of the building. The doorway is flanked by large windows. Above the
entrance, four narrow window bays separated by stucco and tile decoration run across the center section.
Wide, flat eaves project out from the facade above the windows on all of the sections. Stucco parapet
walls rise above the eaves and end at the roofline.

A flat-roofed, stuccoed garage located at the rear of the property holds two single-car spaces. Like the
house, a wide cornice projects from the building below the parapet wall.
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History

The house and garage were built by Zack and Mahalia Saveland in 1915. Albinson Construction
Company was the builder and no architect was listed on the building permit. The property was sold in
early 1916 to Benjamin and Cora Franklin. Benjamin Franklin was a partner with Marwick, Mitchell, and
Company, an accounting firm that operated in the United States, Canada, Mexico, South America, and
Europe. The Franklins owned the house until 1923 when it was sold to Patrick J. Kelly. Kelly was the
president of Kelly Brothers, a local real estate company. Kelly owned the house into the 1940s, when it
was briefly owned by Gerald Stark. William P. and Agnes Sadler lived in the house after the Starks for the
next ten or so years. No one family has had a long association with the house. Alterations to the exterior
of the house and garage have been minimal.'?

Evaluation

This house stands out for its distinct style and its very good integrity. There are few houses in Kenwood in
the Prairie Style. Unlike most Prairie Style houses in the Twin Cities, the house at 2405 West Twenty-
second Street appears to be strongly influenced by the Viennese Secession. No architect is listed on the
building permit and a search at the Northwest Architectural Archives revealed no other information. Given
its distinctive design, it does not appear to be the work of Purcell and Eimslie or other leading local Prairie
Style architects.

Because the architectural style is rare in the neighborhood, the property was evaluated under Criterion C
for architectural significance. It is difficult to assess the significance of the property in the local context of
Prairie-style architecture because there is not sufficient scholarly research and evaluation covering that
period of design in Minneapolis. As a result, a case cannot be made for considering the building
significant under Criterion C.

Recommendation

The house is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register for architectural significance
under Criterion C.

'22 Davison's Minneapolis City Directory, 1917 (Minneapolis: C. R. Davison), 756; Marion Shutter, History

of Minneapolis: Gateway to the Northwest (Chicago, Minneapolis: S. J. Clarke Publishing Company,
1923), 11:127; “Planners of the Minneapolis July 1911, Civic Celebration,” Minneapolis Tribune, June 18,
1911; Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis:
Minneapolis Directory Company): Minneapolis Building Permits B114733 (dated April 20, 1915) and
B306790 (dated July 21, 1949).
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4.1.16 Klein-Peterson House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6761
Address: 2305 West Twenty-first Street, Minneapolis

Property Description

The Queen Anne style house is two-and-one-half stories with a rectangular form. The front-gabled roof
line is punctuated by gabled roof dormers projecting from the sides. All of the roofs are clad in green
asphalt shingles and dentils at the cornice lines. The house is clad in fish-scale shingles and two widths
of clapboard siding, all of which are painted white. The one-story front porch has lonic columns
supporting a front-gabled roof. The roof has a full pediment with dentils on the cornices. The porch has a
simple balustrade. The elevated base is covered with white latticework. Above the porch, a circular
opening in the attic under the front gable holds a recessed balcony. Another one-story porch is located on
the east side of the building, next to a projecting tower. The windows are one-over-one, double-hung sash
with storm windows.'?®

A four-car garage with a gabled roof is located at the rear of the property. Although a garage was built on
the property in 1940, the current garage appears to be new, or a dramatic expansion of the previous
garage.

123 Virginia McAlester and Lee McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses (New York: Alfred A. Knopf,
1998), 262263, 276-281.
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History

The house was built in 1890 by contractor A. C. Robinson for the owner, C. S. Chafman, who did not live
in the house for very long. No architect was listed on the building permit. A wood-frame barn was added
in 1893. By 1905, the house was owned by William L. and Nora Klein. Repairs were made to the house
and barn in 1906. It appears the repairs were regular maintenance. The Kleins lived in the house for the
next twenty-five years. Klein was the publisher of The Journal-Lancent, the official journal of the South
Dakota State Medical Association, the North Dakota State Medical Association, and the Montana State
Medical Association. The journal was published in Minneapolis from 1912 until 1968."**

In the late 1930s, Karl E. and Emma M. Peterson moved into the house. Peterson was in the monuments
business. They built a garage on the property in 1940. The Petersons owned the house into the 1960s.
Both the Klein and Peterson families have strong associations with the house.'®

Evaluation

A number of houses in the Kenwood neighborhood display the Queen Anne style, but many of these
houses have been altered with large additions and other modifications. The Klein-Peterson House stands
out as a textbook example of the Free Classic sub-type of the Queen Anne style and it retains excellent
integrity. As a result, it was evaluated under Criterion C for architectural significance. It is difficult to
assess the significance of the property in the local context of the Queen Anne style, however, because
there is not sufficient scholarly research and evaluation covering that period of design in Minneapolis. As
a result, a case cannot be made for the significance of the building under Criterion C.

Recommendation

The house is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register for architectural significance
under Criterion C.

'24 Dual City Blue Book for 19051906 (Saint Paul: R. L. Polk Company, 1905); “Sir Walter Raleigh to be
the Honor Guest at Many Social Affairs,” Minneapolis Tribune, April 28, 1915; Minneapolis Building
Permits B23230 (dated August 11, 1890), B31792 (dated December 12, 1893), B66488 (dated April 9,
1906), and B264541 (dated September 30, 1940); Minnesota Historical Society Library Catalog, “The
Journal-Lancent,”
http://mnhs.mnpals.net/F/D6X6NQM2TG2K7QGEJDJADI3AT6BC8S9349SF6MHGDXL1EXF3YV-
855287?func=full-set-set&set_number=010138&set_entry=000020&format=999 (last accessed August 3,
2010).

'2% Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis:
Minneapolis Directory Company); Minneapolis City Directory 1935-1970.
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4.1.17 Frank W. and Julia C. Shaw House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6603
Address: 2036 Queen Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

The house is a fine example of the Classical Revival style. The building is two stories with a two-story
front portico that is completed by a full pediment, adding another half-story to the house. The three-bay
facade has a central entrance. The door is surrounded by sidelights and a transom window. The same
sidelight and transom pattern is repeated by one-over-one-sash windows that flank the door. The three
openings on the second story align with those on the lower floor. In the central Palladian window, a two-
over-two sash is flanked by smaller leaded-glass windows. The two window openings on the outer bays
hold one-over-one sash windows. The full pediment of the portico is supported by four lonic columns. A
denticular cornice with modillions supports the pediment and runs below the eaves on the house. A
fanlight window is centered in the pediment, which is also accented with modillions. The building is clad in
blue-gray clapboard siding with white and gray trim. The hipped roof is punctuated by dormers on the
sides, and is covered in gray asphalt shingles. A large brick chimney rises along the side of the house
and projects above the roofline.

A garage is attached to the rear of the house. This is a historic addition and its location is confirmed by a
building permit and a Sanborn Fire Insurance Map.
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History

The house was built in 1899 by J. H. Edmonds, who was listed on the permit as the architect and
contractor. Edmonds built the house speculatively and sold it to Frank W. Shaw. Shaw and his family
were the first occupants. The Shaws added a two-story frame addition and a one-story addition in 1915. A
garage was built in 1920 as an addition to the rear of the building."*®

Shaw was born in Maine in 1857 and came to Minneapolis in 1880. He studied law with the firm of Rea,
Woolley, and Kitchel, and was admitted to the bar in 1883. Shaw, whose specialty was corporate law,
continued with the Rea firm. By 1900, he had become a partner, resulting in a change in the firm’s name
to Cohen, Atwater, and Shaw. The Shaw family lived in the house until 1928, when it was sold to Otto and
Florence Sanaker. The Sanakers built a garage addition to the rear of the building in 1930. Otto was the
secretary of the Davies Mortuary Company. The Sanaker family lived in the house through the 1930s.
During the 1940s, a variety of families occupied the house, but none would have as strong an association
with the property as the Shaws."?’

Evaluation

The house is an excellent example of the Classical Revival style with excellent integrity. Because there
are few houses in Kenwood in the Classical Revival style, the house was evaluated for architectural
significance under Criterion C. It is difficult to assess the significance of the property in this local context,
however, because there is not sufficient scholarly research and evaluation covering that period of design
in Minneapolis. It does not appear to be the work of a prominent architect.

Recommendation

The house is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register under Criterion C.

126 Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis:

Minneapolis Directory Company); Minneapolis Building Permits B43119 (dated May 3, 1899), B115027
(dated April 28, 1915), B144430 (dated September 3, 1920), B214743 (dated March 1, 1929), B221368
g%ated April 26, 1930), and B281666 (dated April 23, 1945).

Marion Shutter, History of Minneapolis: Gateway to the Northwest (Chicago, Minneapolis: S. J. Clarke
Publishing Company, 1923), II: 274-277; “Informal Fetes for Fall Brides Engage Society,” Minneapolis
Tribune, September 3, 1922.
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4.1.18 House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16644
Address: 2117 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

The house is two-and-one-half stories with double side-gabled roofs. The roofs are intersected on the
front by a gambrel roof and on the rear by a front-gabled roof. Additions on the south side and rear of the
house have flat roofs. The front facade is dominated by the gambrel-roofed section, which projects out
from the rest of the building. Under the section, the main entrance is located in a recessed porch. A
shallow bay window is next to the doorway, which has a sidelight. A plate-glass window with a transom is
set in the first story on the main part of the house. A one-story addition on the south side of the building is
recessed from the front facade. A one-over-one window is set in the addition. A new deck has been
added to the roof of the addition. On the second story of the gambrel-roofed section, two one-over-one
sash windows with round-arched transoms are set close together, connected by a coffered panel. A small
one-over-one sash window is set in the wall near the peak of the gambrel roof. A twelve-over-one sash
window is located on the second story of the main part of the house. The house is clad in narrow
clapboard siding that is painted yellow. The trim is painted white and black.

Large additions have been made to the rear of the house, including a garage. Second stories have been
added to historic one-story additions on the south side and rear.
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History

In November 1895, the C. F. Haglin Company began constructing the house. Alterations were made to
the building in 1902, and in 1950, the house was converted into a duplex. A detached garage was built in
1952, and the house was re-sided in 1952. Between 1986 and 1988, the house was reroofed and the
windows replaced “size to size.” The dates of other alterations are not known.'?

The 1897-1898 Dual City Blue Book shows a Mr. and Mrs. F. R. Collins at this address. Frank R. Collins
was a bookkeeper at Crane and Ordway, purveyors of plumbing and steam fitting supplies.129

Evaluation

Additions to the house have impacted its architectural integrity, and its owners and occupants do not
appear to be historically significant.

Recommendation

The house is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

128 Minneapolis Building Permits B35730 (dated November 4, 1895), B331822 (dated November 13,
1952), B549728 (dated April 16, 1987), and B558518 (dated June 16, 1988).

'2% November 4, 1895), B331822 (dated November 13, 1952), B549728 (dated April 16, 1987), and
B558518 (dated June 16, 1988).

'2% Dual City Blue Book for 1897—1898 (Saint Paul: R. L Polk and Company); Minneapolis Directory
Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory Company).
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4.1.19 Spencer Davis House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6481
Address: 2104 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

The house sits on a prominent corner lot and is two stories with a high cross-gabled roof that adds a half
story to the height. A round tower is located on the north end of the main facade. The first story is clad in
rusticated stone and is dominated by a full-width screened porch on the main facade. The glazing in and
around the main entrance has been modified and now has a mirrored finish. The windows on the main
facade within the porch are not clearly visible. The remaining windows on the first story are one-over-one
sash or plate glass with a transom. The second story and the half story at the roofline are covered with
narrow clapboard siding painted light gray. The windows on the upper stories are one-over-one sash. The
trim on the building is painted cream and gray. The cornices on the porch and the upper stories are lined
with small brackets. The porch roof is covered with either asphalt shingles or rubber membrane roofing.
The main roof is covered in what appears to be slate.

An addition has been made to the rear of the building. The garage, which was free standing at the rear of
the lot, was enlarged with a second story and connected to the house by a substantial one-and-one-half-
story section. The additions were made beginning in 2005.
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History

The house and wood-frame barn were built in 1892 by Spencer E. Davis. Edward S. Stebbins, a
prominent Minneapolis architect, designed the building. In 1923, a two-story porch was added to one of
the side facades and additional alterations were made to the building. The groperty was owned by the
Davis estate at that time. In 1971, the house was converted into a duplex.'®

Spencer Davis, a native of New York, relocated to Horicon, Wisconsin, in 1866 to work as the
superintendent of Mayville Iron Works. By 1870, he had joined with W. A. Van Brunt to form the Monitor
Manufacturing Company, which produced farm implements. T. B. Walker encouraged Davis to relocate
his business to Minneapolis. Davis made the move in 1891 and reestablished his factory, known as the
Monitor Drill Company, in Saint Louis Park. In 1908, the company was purchased by the Moline Plow
Company. Davis also had livestock and land interests in Wyoming and Texas. He died at the age of 71 in
1913. His widow continued to occupy the house until at least 1923

In the late twentieth century, the exterior of the house was portrayed in a television situation comedy,
“The Mary Tyler Moore Show,” as Moore’s residence. The interior of the building was not used in the
show. Despite its tenuous relationship to the program, the house has been a popular tourist stop for fans
of the show.

Evaluation

The original house was an excellent example of the Queen Anne style, which is prevalent in the Kenwood
neighborhood, and Spencer Davis, the original owner, was an important local businessman. Recent
alterations to the building, including a large addition to the rear of the house, have negatively affected its
historic integrity, disqualifying it for consideration for the National Register under Criterion C for its design.
This also weakens the case for its significance under Criterion B for its association with Davis. In addition,
other properties associated with Davis might better represent his role in area of industry in the late
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.

Recommendation

Given the property's compromised integrity, it is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National
Register under Criterion B for its association with Davis or Criterion C for architectural significance.

3% Minneapolis Building Permits B27366 (dated April 6, 1892), B27367 (dated April 6, 1892), B61198
g%ated November 29, 1904), B168085 (dated April 30, 1923), and B428826 (dated June 2, 1971).

“Spencer Davis Is Stricken,” Minneapolis Tribune, April 5, 1913; Marion Shutter, History of
Minneapolis: Gateway to the Northwest (Chicago, Minneapolis: S. J. Clarke Publishing Company, 1923),
II: 506-509; Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1930
(Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory Company).
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4.1.20 House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16625
Address: 2001 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

The house is two stories with a cross-gabled roof. A tower with a conical roof is nestled in the corner
where the front-gabled section of the house meets the side-gabled section. A screened front porch covers
half of the first story at the base of the tower. It has clapboard-covered piers with turned posts that
support the roof. An oval-shaped window and a bay window cover the rest of the first story. The oval
window is filled with leaded glass and the bay window has leaded-glass transom windows over plate-
glass windows. On the second story, three windows are located on the tower section—two are small
windows set high in the wall and the third is a one-over-one sash window. A bull's-eye window and three
one-over-one sash windows are located on the rest of the facade. Three one-over-one sash windows,
grouped together, sit in the third story of the tower section. A round-arched window, flanked by two small
rectangular windows, is located in the peak of the front-gabled section of the house. The walls are clad in
fish-scale shingles and clapboard siding that is painted a light blue-green. The trim is painted cream and
dark red. The lack of reveal between the siding and the trim, and the absence of some trim, especially at
the cornice-line of the tower, suggest that the exterior has been altered. The placement of some of the
windows also indicates that they may be new to the building.
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History

According to architectural historian Elizabeth Vandam, this house was designed by architect Harry Wild
Jones and built in 1888 for J. Arthur Ridgway. City records report that contractors Littlefield and Fall
received a permit for the house’s construction in 1887. A wood-frame barn was also built at the same
time. In 1920, a porch was added to the house or an existing porch was altered. Repairs were also made
to the house. More repairs were made to the house in 1944, but the permit does not specify what was
done. The exterior siding, soffits, gutters, trim, turret, and porch were repaired in 1985. A few years later,
in 1988, “miscellaneous alterations and remodeling” were completed on the house.*

Ridgway worked for two companies: the World’s Best Furnace Company and Ridgway and Company.
The latter sold real estate. Ridgway had Harry Jones design several other houses for him in the area
during this period. A city directory for 1891-1892 indicated that Mr. and Mrs. Ridgway lived at 2001
Kenwood, but they had moved by 1900, when the Everett Munn Warren family occupied the house.
Subsequent residents, the M. A. Scheldrup family, had moved by 1911. The frequent changes in
residents continued over the next decades. By 1930, Benjamin F. and Alima Newhouse occupied the
house. Newhouse was president and treasurer of the Newhouse Paper Company.'

Evaluation

While the house was designed by Harry Wild Jones, a noteworthy local architect, Alterations to the
building in recent years have affected its historic integrity.

Recommendation

The building is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

32 Elizabeth A. Vandam, Harry Wild Jones: American Architect (Minneapolis: Nodin Press, 2008), 128;
Minneapolis Building Permits B13545 (dated December 21, 1887), B13546 (dated December 21, 1887),
B145116 (dated October 8, 1920), and B538779 (dated August 27, 1985).

'3 Dual City Blue Book for 1891-1892 (Saint Paul: R. L. Polk and Company, 1891); “With the Travelers,”
Minneapolis Tribune, June 27, 1911; Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City
Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory Company).
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4.1.21 Charles H. and Mary E. Ross House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6480
Address: 2000 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

This large house rises two-and-one-half stories with a steeply pitched hipped roof. The front facade faces
east. A one-story porch with a front-gabled roof shields the front entrance. Three windows on the second
story align with window and door openings on the first story. Above the second story, a narrow front-
gabled dormer window projects out from the roof. The two-story section south of the entrance projects our
slightly from the rest of the house and holds two stories of bay windows. The front-gabled roof over this
section intersects with the hipped roof. South of the bay window section, a historic addition is set back
from the facade. Groups of three windows are located on the first and second stories, and the side-gabled
roofline connects into the main roof. Additional side-gabled roofs and wings project off of the north side of
the house. All appear to be historic, according to building permits and Sanborn Fire Insurance maps. The
wood clapboard siding on the house is painted blue and the wood trim is white. Rafter tails are exposed in
the eaves and the peaks of the front-gabled roofs have turned spindles for decoration. Two large brick
chimneys rise from the roof.

A large one-and-one-half-story, double-car garage is located at the rear of the property. The building has
a tall hipped roof like that on the house. The building may be the original barn to the property.
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History

This house and a wood-frame barn were constructed in 1899 for Charles Henry Ross. Both were
designed by architects McLeod and Lamoreaux, and W. O. Clark was the contractor. A front porch was
added in 1902. The barn was altered in 1904. In 1910, a two-story, frame addition, designed by Long,
Lamoreaux, and Long, was made to the building “for sleeping purposes.” In 1922, an elevator was
installed in the building. Lowell Lamoreaux was likely the principal designer for the property. Lamoreaux
studied at the University of Minnesota and worked briefly for Cass Gilbert before starting his own firm with
James McLeod. After dissolving the partnership in 1899, Lamoreaux joined the firm of Long and Long,
and soon became a full partner. The company, later known as Long, Lamoreaux, and Long, was a
prc;rgizr;epsEMinneapolis firm in the early twentieth century. Lamoreaux remained a partner until his death
in .

Charles Ross was born in Massachusetts and moved as a child with his family to Columbia, Wisconsin.
He attended Lawrence University at Appleton, Wisconsin, and then became a cashier for a bank in Blue
Earth, Minnesota. After gaining experience at several outstate Minnesota banks, Ross relocated to
Minneapolis in 1892 where he became a stockholder and cashier of the Flour City Bank. He also was
involved with some Saint Paul banks. As a business partner with C. H. Davidson in the firm Ross and
Davidson, Ross acquired control of fifteen banks in North Dakota. One biographer described him as “a
dominate figure in banking circles in Minneagolis and the Northwest.” Ross died in 1911, but his widow,
Mary, occupied the house until about 1921.M%°

Evaluation

Many houses in the Kenwood neighborhood feature the Queen Anne or Craftsman styles, but many of
these houses have been altered with large additions and other modifications. This house stands out for its
distinct Queen Anne style and its excellent integrity, so it was evaluated under Criterion C for architectural
significance. It is difficult to assess the significance of the property in the local context of Queen Anne-
style architecture, however, because there is not sufficient scholarly research and evaluation covering
that period of design in Minneapolis. Although the house was designed by a prominent Minneapolis
architect, Lowell Lamoreaux, scholars have not identified it as one of his noteworthy designs.

Recommendation

The house is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register for its architectural
significance under Criterion C.

Recommendation

The house is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register under Criterion C.

3% Minneapolis Building Permits B43764 (dated June 30, 1899), B53602 (dated November 20, 1902),
B59062 (dated June 1, 1904), B89498 (dated September 13, 1910), and B164117 (dated October 12,
1922); Alan K. Lathrop, Minnesota Architects: A Biographical Dictionary (Minneapolis: University of
Minnesota Press, 2010), 134—-135.

'35 Marion Shutter, History of Minneapolis: Gateway to the Northwest (Chicago, Minneapolis: S. J. Clarke
Publishing Company, 1923), II: 582-586; “C. H. Ross Passes Away, Was Prominent as a Banker,”
Minneapolis Tribune, June 18, 1911; Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City
Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory Company).
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4.1.22 House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16622
Address: 1971 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

The house is two stories with a hipped roof. The front facade is dominated by a screened porch that runs
most of the facade’s width and raps around to the side of the building. On the opposite end, a one-story
bay window projects out from the wall. On the second story, two two-over-two sash windows are set in the
wall. A large front-gabled roof dormer is located on the roof above. The walls are clad in clapboard siding
painted light green and the trim is painted cream and red. The roofs are covered with brown asphalt
shingles. A large brick chimney projects above the roofline. The house was remodeled in 2009 and the
alterations have affected the integrity.

A double-car garage with a hipped roof is located at the rear of the property.
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History

According to architectural historian Elizabeth Vandam, this house was designed by architect Harry Wild
Jones and built in 1895 for J. Arthur Ridgway. This was probably a speculative development for Ridgway,
who had Jones design several other houses for him in the area during this period. The house was erected
by contractor W. C. Wyckoff. The earliest-known residents were Mr. and Mrs. Alexis Caswell in 1897.
Caswell was manager for the Union Elevator B. In 1899, two families appeared to be living in the house
when the residents included Mr. and Mrs. Everett Munn Warren, W. C. Warren, Miss. K.J. McMullen, and
Mr. and Mrs. Alexis Caswell. The families may have been related. Warren was chief inspector for the
Mississippi Valley Lumberman’s Association. By 1900, the Warren family had moved to 2001 Kenwood
Parkway. The R. B. Clark family lived in the house by 1911, and William C. and Isabella Nichols lived
there in 1922. William worked at the Miller Publishing Company.136

Several changes have been made to the building. The kitchen was remodeled in 1968. In 2007-2009, a
new detached garage was constructed. In 2009, the interior of the house was significantly altered and it is
likely that window locations were altered to accommodate a new interior wall layout.

Evaluation

Although the house is of some architectural interest under Criterion C, alterations to the property in recent
years have negatively affected the building’s integrity.

Recommendation

The property is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

136 Elizabeth A. Vandam, Harry Wild Jones: American Architect (Minneapolis: Nodin Press, 2008), 128;
“Personal Intelligence,” Minneapolis Tribune, November 27, 1898; “Classified Ad—Deaths,” Minneapolis
Tribune, May 8, 1898; “Society,” Minneapolis Tribune, August 11, 1911; “Eastern Educator Comes for
School Information,” Minneapolis Tribune, August 2, 1912; “Society,” Minneapolis Tribune, September 22,
1922; Dual City Blue Book for 1917-1918 (Saint Paul: R. L. Polk and Company, 1917); Minneapolis
Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory
Company); Dual City Blue Book for 1899-1900 (Saint Paul: R. L. Polk and Company, 1899); Minneapolis
Building Permit B35173 (dated August 6, 1895).
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4.1.23 House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16742
Address: 1960 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

The front facade of this two-and-one-half-story Queen Anne house features several gabled forms. Fish-
scale shingles cover the upper stories; the first floor has clapboards. The entry, which is recessed in the
right corner, is identified by a gabled portico with an organic motif and the building's number within the
gable. A polygonal bay window is on the first floor; the window on the overhanging second floor is topped
with a13b7lind fan ornament. A narrow band of square windows extends across the gable on the third

story.

137 Minneapolis Building Permits B20652 (dated October 15, 1889), B44591 (dated October 18, 1899).
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History

Although one source claims that this house was originally “built on a site four lots to the south and moved
onto this spot in 1900,” this does not appear to be the case. H. C. Raymond obtained a building permit to
erect a “wood dwelling” on this lot in 1887. Raymond is listed as both the architect and contractor on the
permit. A barn was added between 1889 and 1893. This might have been what was moved to 1982
Kenwood Boulevard in 1900. Street addresses on Kenwood Parkway were shifted in the late nineteenth
century—the address of this lot was originally 1864 Kenwood Boulevard—which makes the historical
record confusing.'*®

The house was apparently built for Franklin Benner, a “dealer in gas fixtures, globes, grates, etc.” Benner
apparently had some business problems in 1888, shortly after the house was built, but he was able to
continue living there. He later became involved in the real estate business.'®

Evaluation

Although the house is of some architectural interest under Criterion C, it does not appear to have
sufficient significance to qualify for the National Register.

Recommendation

The property is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

'3 David Lanegran and Edward Sandeen, The Lake District of Minneapolis: A History of the Calhoun-

Isles Community (Saint Paul: Living Historical Museum, 1978), 88; Minneapolis Building Permits B11334
(dated July 1887), B20652 (dated October 15, 1889), B31623 (dated November 1, 1893), and E4964
(dated April 26, 1900).

39 “Around the City,” Minneapolis Tribune, December 23, 1888; Davison’s Minneapolis City Directory,
1900 (Minneapolis: C. R. Davison), 191.
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4.1.24 House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16257
Address: 1937 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

This two-and-one-half-story house has a single-story, flat-roofed extension to the side, which was
probably added in 1917. The front slope of the side-gable roof has three gabled dormers with broken
returns and round-arched windows with multilight upper sashes. The symmetrical facade has a center
entry with a fan light and side lights. It is protected by a flat-roofed, Classical Revival hood with a
denticular cornice. The hood is supported by columns. The corners of the clapboard-covered walls are
trimmed with pilasters. A flat frieze at the cornice line supports brackets for the roofs eaves. Colonial
Revival motifs top two broad windows on the first floor of the front facade.
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History

The city granted a permit for the construction of this house in June 1897. The architect was George
Bertrand, who had formed a partnership in the previous year with Arthur Chamberlin. Bertrand and
Chamberlin were to have a successful practice until 1931, the year of Bertrand's death. The architects
were responsible for designing a number of houses in Kenwood. A permit for a 28-foot by 32-foot barn
was granted in October 1897. Another barn was erected in 1900. A permit to wreck a frame barn was
issued, apparently in conjunction with a major remodeling project that produced a 14-foot by 15-foot
addition to the house, a new garage, and other alterations. The house was built by M. J. Coppage,
probably for sale. It appears that Darius Morgan, his second wife, Lizette Davis, and three of his children
from a previous marriage were the first occupants. He had been the general council for the Northwestern
Telephone Exchange since 1894. Before that, he had served in the Minnesota House and Senate for
districts in southern Minnesota and had a private law practice. After moving to Minneapolis in 1890, he
formed a law practice with William Eustis, which lasted until Eustis was elected mayor of the city in
November 1892. Morgan had a heart attack and died in the house in 1903 at the age of forty-nine. An
obituary hailed him as "one of the best known citizens of Minneapolis, and one of the ablest attorneys of
the Northwest."'*

Evaluation

Darius Morgan was one of the many Kenwood residents who had a successful career and was prominent
in the community. He moved to 1937 Kenwood Parkway well after his service in political office had ended
and several years after he had achieved what proved to be the pinnacle of his career, his position at
Northwestern Telephone. His life was cut short at a relatively young age. It does not appear that the
house merits National Register designation under Criterion B based on its association with Morgan. While
the design of the house is striking and the addition is not intrusive, it is one of many houses designed by
Bertrand and does not seem of particular significance, making it not eligible for the National Register
under Criterion C.

Recommendation

The property is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

%% Minneapolis Building Permits B39138 (dated June 22, 1897), B39961 (dated October 9, 1897),
B46940 (dated October 1, 1900), B130084 (dated October 27, 1917), 11045 (dated October 27, 1917);
Alan Lathrop, Minnesota Architects: A Biographical Dictionary (Minneapolis and London: University of
Minnesota Press, 2010), 22; "Vacant Premises," Minneapolis Tribune, November 7, 1897; "Club Activity,"
Minneapolis Tribune, December 26, 1897; "D. F. Morgan Passes Away," Minneapolis Tribune, April 28,
1903.
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4.1.25 Nella Y. and Walter J. Keith House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6477
Address: 1908 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

The house is two-and-one-half stories with a rectangular form. The front facade is a study in asymmetry
with rectilinear massing on the east side and a large round tower on the west side. The raised basement
is finished in rusticated stone. The first and second stories are clad in red brick and the attic story has
stucco, as well as wood timbering and siding. The front porch has battered columns covered with the
same rusticated stone that was used on the basement. The large front-gabled porch roof has wood
panels painted in multiple colors. The polychromatic colors are repeated on the attic story and the
bargeboard trimming the eaves. The first- and attic-story windows are one-over-one sash. The basement
and second-story windows are also sash windows, but the upper sash has a central diamond-shaped
pane surrounded by smaller triangular panes. The high hipped roof is interrupted by a front-gabled roof
on the east and the conical roof atop the tower on the west. All of the roofs are covered in brown asphalt
shingles. A large brick chimney projects above the roofline towards the rear of the house.

A large garage and storage building is located at the rear of the property. The building does not appear to
be original to the property and it is not clear from the record of building permits when it was built.
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History

Completed in 1900, the house was designed by Walter J. Keith, who was also the owner and was listed
as the contractor on the building permit. A brick and wood-frame barn (razed) was constructed later that
year. The house served as an example of Keith’s work to help market his architectural business.

Keith’s architectural career began in Minneapolis with brief partnerships with Fred H. Dodge and George
Bertrand. In 1894, he started his own firm, which became the Keith Company. The company’s profile rose
in 1896 when the Minneapolis Journal contracted with Keith to create a series of house designs for the
newspaper that were printed weekly for a year. He was approached by the Ladies Home Journal in 1897
to design a series of house plans for the magazine that proved very popular with readers and brought him
national attention. Keith produced another group of plans for the Minneapolis Tribune in 1898 and 1899.
This publicity established a national audience for Keith’s plans. He expanded on this early success with
his own publications beginning in 1899, which he co-published with his brother Max. These included
Keith’s Magazine, Keith’'s Home-Builder, and Keith’s Bungalows and Cofttages: 215 Designs Costing to
Build from $400 to $4,000. That year, Walter Keith boasted commissions totaling more than $2.5 million,
largely because of his mail-order plan business. His office at the Lumber Exchange Building employed at
least fifteen draftsmen, plus stenographers and clerks.*'

The Keith magazines, and other publications like The Craftsman and The Bellman, were part of a national
Arts and Crafts movement that was popular in the United States in the late-nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries. Its practitioners valued honesty, individualism, and democracy in design, construction, and
home furnishing. These values, particular democratization, led to “symbiotic relationships” between
homeowners, architects, and interior designers where each contributed their point-of-view to the design
process. The resulting homes often had open plans and were more naturalistic in style than European-
inspired designs. The Arts and Crafts movement coincided with the suburban expansion of many cities
and an increase in homeownership, particularly by middle-class citizens. Across the country, bungalows
and four-squares became common in towns and cities. Homeowners who did not hire architects
purchased designs through magazines and other publications. Keith’s Magazine and The Craftsman
offered building plans, as well as advice on how to decorate and furnish a home. The magazines also
included articles that heralded the importance of handicrafts and promoted the idea that a house was an
extension of the owner. This appears to be a belief that Keith championed. Early in his successful career,
he stated in a Minneapolis Tribune article that “the dwelling a man builds reveals his personality, and
through its hall and porticos runs the story of his life. How important is it, then, that your home should not
give a false impression as to your character.”*?

Many building designs were advertised each month in Keith’s Magazine. In at least three issues, January
1901, April 1901, and September 1903, renderings and plans for houses similar to the one at 1908
Kenwood Parkway were published. These drawings post-date the construction of the house. Each model
had variations in detail, but the form and massing—from the round corner tower to the roofline—were the
same. The house at 1908 Kenwood Parkway was the focus of the 1904 Christmas issue of Keith’s
Magazine. In an article titled “My Idea of a Typical American Home,” Keith described the design,
materials, and furnishings of his house in great detail. He explained that “being an American, naturally, |
am a firm believer that anything American is the best and naturally what | believe, therefore, to be a
typical American home, would be such a home as | would build for myself.”143

! “Started in the Journal,” Minneapolis Journal, December 18, 1899; “Personal Mention,” Minneapolis
Tribune, September 30, 1900; Walter J. Keith, “A Little Spanish Mission Design,” Minneapolis Tribune,
May 23, 1915; Minneapolis Building Permits B46663 (dated August 29, 1900) and B47493 (dated
December 19, 1900).

42 patty Dean, “It Is Here We Live,” Minnesota History 57 (Spring 2001): 245-266. Quote from Walter J.
Keith, “The Building of It,” Minneapolis Tribune, September 11, 1898.

%3 “Design No. 488,” Keith’s Magazine 5 (January 1901): 21; “Design No. 511,” Keith’s Magazine 5 (April
1901): 180; “Design No. 810,” Keith’s Magazine 10 (September 1903): 168; Walter J. Keith, “My Idea of a
Typical American Home,” Keith’s Magazine 12 (Christmas 1904), 277-281.

Phase I/Phase Il Architecture History Investigation for the Proposed Southwest Transitway Project—Hennepin County, Minnesota—February 2012
Volume Two—Section 4.1-86



Keith’s time in his “typical American home” was brief. The family lived in the house from 1900 through
1906, according to listings in city directories. They moved into a larger brick house, which was also
designed by Keith, at 421 Clifton Avenue, south of Loring Park. It is not clear why Keith moved. Perhaps
his family had outgrown the house on Kenwood. Keith’s business evolved in the 1900s. In October 1904,
he sold the magazine publishing business to Max. Walter Keith continued to contribute to the magazine
but also built and managed the Plaza Hotel (razed), which was located near Loring Park. It is not known
when Keith retired from his architectural practice. He eventually moved to California and died in
Pasadena in 1951.'*

Both the Plaza Hotel and the Walter Keith Residence on Clifton Avenue have been cited by historian Alan
Lathrop in his book Minnesota Architects: A Biographical Dictionary as notable examples of Keith’'s work.
Walter Keith had longer associations with these two properties than the house on Kenwood Parkway.

Evaluation

Walter J. Keith was a very successful architect with a national reputation for his mail-order building plans.
The house at 1908 Kenwood Parkway was designed by Keith early in his solo architectural career and
variations of the design were later sold in Keith’'s Magazine. While Keith touted the house as the typical
American home, he soon moved to a larger house in the Loring Park neighborhood. The house on
Kenwood Parkway was a stepping stone in Keith’s career and personal life, but it was one of many, and
the building cannot be considered pivotal to the evolution of Keith’s business. As a result, it does not
appear to be eligible under Criterion A or Criterion B. Although the house may have been a popular Keith
design and retains historic integrity, it is probably not the only Keith designed-home built in Minneapolis
and therefore cannot be considered unique. The architectural style is also not distinct compared to other
houses in the neighborhood. It is not eligible, therefore, under Criterion C.

Recommendation

The property is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

144 «gells Keith Magazine to Max L. Keith,” Minneapolis Journal, October 1, 1904; Minneapolis City

Directories; Alan K. Lathrop, Minnesota Architects: A Biographical Dictionary (Minneapolis: University of
Minnesota Press, 2010), 124—-125.
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4.1.26 House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16604
Address: 1726 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

The duplex is two stories with a pyramidal roof. A one-story, hipped-roof addition has been built on the
north side of the building. The front (east) facade is dominated by a full-width porch with a flat roof. The
roof of the porch has a balustrade around the edges creating a balcony. The first story has two entrances
and a large plate-glass window with a transom. The addition has a group of four windows. The second
story has two one-over-one windows. A door has been added between the windows to access the
balcony. Dormer windows with hipped roofs project from the front and side of the main roof. A brick
chimney rises from the point of the roof.

A hipped-roof garage is located at the rear of the property. This structure is longer than most garages in
the neighborhood and may have been used as a “double-car” garage for the duplex’s tenants.
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History

This house appears to have been built speculatively in the first years of the twentieth century. It was
owned by W. J. Bishopp (who lived nearby at 2115 Kenwood), a real estate dealer who apparently had a
hand in laying out the Kenwood neighborhood. Its residents do not appear in the Dual City Blue Book in
the years 1900 to 1914. The house, situated between a fire station and a water tower, may have been
viewed as less desirable than others in the neighborhood. Mrs. S. W. Fears lived there in 1904. By 1920,
Andres J. Ryden, a fifty-five-year old native of Sweden, resided in the house with his family of eight. The
directory for that year does not provide an occupation for Andres, but it does for his four adult sons, who
were employed as a clerk, engineer, bookkeeper, and collector. By 1930, John Miller, an inspector for the
Minneapolis and Saint Louis Railway shops, and his wife, Evelyn, lived in the house. A large concrete-
block garage was built in 1940 and appears to have replaced a smaller wood-frame garage. The single-
family dwelling was converted to a duplex in 1959.™%°

Evaluation

The property does not appear to have a strong association with any event or person, and is not a
significant example of an architectural style.

Recommendation

The property is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

Me W J. Bishopp is Dead,” Minneapolis Tribune, March 2, 1904; “In Society,” Minneapolis Tribune,
January 6, 1904; Federal Census for 1920, Hennepin County, ED 5, sheet 5A; Minneapolis Directory
Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory Company);
Minneapolis Building Permits B54178 (dated March 17, 1903), B221377 (dated April 29, 1930), B264696
(dated October 7, 1940), and B368793 (dated November 10, 1959).
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4.1.27 Ruth and Sim E. Heller House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6503
Address: 1916 Mount Curve Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

This low-slung, one-story rambler stretches across the lot. The shallow shed roof slopes towards the front
of the building. Like many other mid-twentieth-century houses, a garage is incorporated under the main
roof of the house. The two-car garage sits on the east end of the front (south) facade, with a large
driveway leading up to it. The central entrance to the house is deeply recessed. An opening in the roof
over the entrance alcove admits natural light to the space. Casement-sash windows are to the west of the
entrance. The exterior is clad in painted board-and-batten siding. The roof is covered in gray asphalt
shingles with copper flashing on the front eaves. A red-brick chimney rises above the west end of the
roof.
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History

According to authors David Lanegran and Ernest Sandeen, this house was designed by Baker-Lange
Associates. Architects Edward Baker and Austin H. Lange had established a practice in 1964, the year
the house was built. Their partnership lasted until 1973. The house’s owner and builder was Sim E.
Heller, who had grown up in North Minneapolis. He began his career as a teacher at Grand Rapids High
School in northern Minnesota and soon became its principal. In 1931, he bought a local movie theater
that was previously operated by Frank Gumm, whose daughter gained fame as Judy Garland. Over the
next couple of decades, the S. E. Heller Company purchased another seven movie houses, located
mostly on the Iron Range. In 1951, Sim and his wife, Ruth, relocated to Saint Louis Park. During the
1950s, he became a part owner of two prominent venues, the Criterion Restaurant in Saint Paul and
Harry’s Cafe in Minneapolis. In 1957, Heller became the secretary-treasurer of McDonald Restaurants of
Minneapolis. He and James D. Zein, his brother-in-law, owned the first McDonald’s restaurant in Saint
Louis Park, which was the second McDonald’s to open in Minnesota. Heller was elected to the board of
the Variety Club of the Northwest in 1965 and was also one of the major supporters of the Variety Club
Heart Hospital at the University of Minnesota. For a time, he served as the president of Adath Jeshurun
Synagogue in Minneapolis. The Hellers lived in the house until Sim’s death in the mid-1980s."*°

Evaluation

This is one of the most recent houses built in the Mount Curve area, and its style and diminutive size
differentiate it from the older houses nearby. Lanegran and Sandeen describe it as a “contemporary
essay in the blending of house and terrain.” It was the long-time home of Sim Heller, a prominent Jewish
businessman who contributed to the entertainment industry in Minnesota's Iron Range and the Twin
Cities. He also served a leadership role in the Twin Cities’ Jewish community. Heller's construction of a
house in a historically upper-class neighborhood was a sign that he had “made it.” The property was
evaluated under Criterion B for its association to Heller. Although the property has a strong association
with Heller, it was built less than fifty years ago and to be eligible for the National Register, it must have
exceptional importance under Criterion Consideration G. Without a context study of the Minnesota Jewish
community in the mid-twentieth century, it is difficult to make the case that the property has exceptional
importance.

Recommendation

The house is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register under Criterion B.

8 David A. Lanegran and Ernest R. Sandeen, The Lake District of Minneapolis: A History of the

Calhoun-Isles Community (Saint Paul: Living History Museum, 1978), 74; Alan K. Lathrop, Minnesota
Architects: A Biographical Dictionary (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2010), 10; “Sim E.
Heller Dies; Operated Popular Theater, Restaurants,” Minneapolis Star Tribune, May 22, 1986;
Minneapolis City Directory, 1965—-1966; Saint Louis Park Historical Society website
(http://www.slphistory.org/history/mcdonalds.asp); “Minneapolis Tent 12 Names Shapiro New Chief
Barker,” Box Office, December 6, 1965 (http://issuu.com/boxoffice/docs/boxoffice_120665); Minneapolis
Building Permit B389767 (dated October 7, 1964).
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4.1.28 House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-8717
Address: 1903 Mount Curve Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

The ltalianate-style house is two stories with a third-story addition over the projecting entrance section.
The exterior is clad in narrow clapboard siding painted gray with trim that is painted white. A shallow
balcony projects over the front entrance. The balcony is supported by paired, rectangular posts. Similar
paired posts form the corners of the balcony balustrade. Another balcony has been added as part of the
third-story addition. A pair of French doors is centered in the addition and is flanked by small octagonal
windows. On the first and second stories of the rest of the building, one-over-one sash windows are set
individually or paired. A one-story conservatory or dayroom is located on the west end of the house. It is
partially hidden by a tree, but appears to also have one-over-one windows. Substantial additions have
been made to the rear of the house and to the roof. The original hipped roof has been intersected by the
third-story addition, which runs the depth of the house and has a front-gabled roof.

A two-car garage is attached to the rear of the house at a lower level. The flat roof is used as a balcony.
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History

Fred H. Boardman built the house in 1901. The contractor was B. Cooper, and no architect appears to
have been consulted. Boardman was a native of New Brunswick, Canada, and a graduate of Bowdoin
College. He came to Minneapolis at the age of 30 in 1878. He was a partner in the law firm of Boardman,
Dever, Leary, and Boardman, and he also served two terms in the state legislature. In 1900, he was
elected Hennepin County attorney, a post he held until 1905. He died in 1914. In 1920, when an addition
and alterations were made to the house, the owner on the permit was listed as Midland National Bank,
which was acting as a trustee for the property. The architect for the addition was A. R. Van Dyck. An
addition was made to the front porch of the building in 1923. A frame garage, built in 1922, was replaced
by a stucco garage in 1930. The 1912 Sanborn Insurance Map, updated to 1930, shows a relatively
small, two-story house on the lot. The north wing of its cruciform plan is a single-story porch; another
single-story porch extends to the southeast. A large, two-story structure filling the southwest corner of the
lot holds a garage on the first floor and a dwelling unit above. The form of the house has changed
significantly due to alterations begun in the 1980s.A central gabled section rises three stories, extending
north in the location where the single-story porch once stood and south to the south facade. The
southeast porch might survive but is completely enclosed, and an attached double-car garage has been
added th1e47south side of the house at the basement level, accessed by a driveway from Logan Avenue to
the east.

Evaluation
Changes made to the house since Boardman occupied it have diminished its association with him, and
substantial alterations in recent years have seriously damaged the integrity of its design in the 1920s and

1930s.

Recommendation
The property is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

47 «Other 13-No Title,” Minneapolis Tribune, November 4, 1900; “Are Changing,” Minneapolis Tribune,
January 6, 1901; “F. H. Boardman Dies; End Comes Suddenly,” Minneapolis Tribune, May 16, 1914;
Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis:
Minneapolis Directory Company); Minneapolis Building Permits B48864 (dated June 5, 1901), B143116
(dated June 25, 1920), B157084 (dated April 6, 1922), B174219 (dated October 18, 1923), B224822
(dated October 24, 1930), B561550 (dated October 14, 1988), B561162 (dated September 29, 1988),
B3016995 (dated September 17, 2002), and B3046075 (dated March 14, 2007).
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4.1.29 Helen and Mac Martin House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-8763
Address: 1828 Mount Curve Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

The house is two-and-one-half stories with a cross-gabled roof. The entrance on the front facade is set in
a three-bay section that projects out from the rest of the building. The first story of the section is clad in
stone and holds the entrance, a round tower with a conical roof, and a pair of windows. The second and
attic stories are finished in cream-colored stucco. Two sets of paired windows are set in the second story
and small paired windows sit in the peak of the front-gabled roof. The rest of the front facade, under a
side-gabled roof, is clad in cream-colored stucco. The first story holds two sets of paired windows, and
the second story has one set of paired windows along with two smaller windows set close together. The
wood trim on the house is minimal and is painted to match the stucco, with the exception of black shutters
flanking most of the first-story windows. The roof is clad in flat terracotta tiles with a large stucco-clad
chimney, complete with chimney pots, rising from the side-gabled section. Two gabled roof dormers
project from the sides of the front-gabled roof.

A two-car garage with a one-car attachment is located on the rear of the house. The garages are
stuccoed and have a flat roof.
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History

Norman P. McGregor, a traveling salesman, originally built a house on this lot in 1897. It was demolished
for the current house, which was built in 1929 for Mac Martin, president of the Mac Martin Advertising
Agency. Miqgseapolis architect Maurice Maine designed the stone and stucco dwelling for Martin and his
wife, Helen.

Mac Martin, a leader and innovator in advertising, was heralded as the “dean of the Minneapolis
advertising industry.” He was born in Wabasha, Minnesota, in 1880, but his family moved to Minneapolis
when he was a boy. After graduating from the University of Minnesota in 1903, he found a job in
advertising because of his interest in commercial art. In 1904, he opened his own agency, which had
offices at various times in the Andrus Building, the Security (Midland Bank) Building, and the Thorpe
Building. Within two decades, the Mac Martin Advertising Agency had established a portfolio of major
promotional campaigns for national companies and products, most based in the Twin Cities area,
including Cream of Wheat, Gold Medal Flour, Creamettes, and Andersen Lumber (now Andersen
Windows). In fact, Martin was the first ad firm west of Chicago to have a national reach. The company
was a charter member of the American Association of Advertising Agencies, a national trade
association."*

In addition to directing his firm, Martin helped found the Publicity Club in 1907 to strengthen the city’'s
network of advertising professionals. The Minneapolis Civic and Commerce Association (forerunner of the
Chamber of Commerce) and the Minneapolis Advertising Forum both grew out of the Publicity Club. The
Forum promoted ethics in the profession and, with Martin serving as president, successfully lobbied the
state legislature for passage of a statue to curb fraud in advertising. In recognition of this
accomplishment, the national advertising association awarded the Forum the “Baltimore Truth Trophy” in
1914, with more to follow. “As a direct result of [Martin’s] outstanding leadership, the Forum won the
Printer’s Ink trophy in 1915, again in 1916, and gained permanent possession by winning in 1917.” In
addition, the Forum had a committee that policed advertising, and this evolved into the Minneapolis Better
Business Bureau. According to the American Advertising Federation, “this first agency remains the basic
model of Better Business Bureau work across the nation and internationally.”**

Martin also had a strong interest in education. He was an advocate for the Minneapolis Public Library and
helped support the establishment of its Business and Municipal Branch. He lectured on marketing and
advertising at the University of Minnesota between 1910 and 1922, first in the Extension Division and
later in the School of Business, which he helped establish in 1918. He wrote articles and books including
an early t1e5>§tbook in the field, Planning an Advertising Campaign for a Manufacturer, which was published
in 1914.

%8 Minneapolis Building Permits B39913 (dated October 5, 1897), B69294 (dated October 12, 1906),
E11315 (dated May 17, 1915), B120949 (dated April 17, 1916), B215856 (dated May 1, 1929), B233129
g4dgated August 9, 1932), and B530217 (dated August 1, 1984).

“Mac Martin, Dean of City Ad Industry, Dies,” Minneapolis Tribune, April 11, 1958; Mac Martin
Advertising Agency Collection, finding aid, at Minnesota Historical Society website
(http://www.mnhs.org/library/findaids/00508.xml); advertising clippings, Mac Martin Advertising Agency
Collection, Minnesota Historical Society; untitled newspaper clipping, Minneapolis Star, November 11,
1954, and Mac Martin biography timeline, both available in the Mac Martin clippings folder, Minneapolis
Collection, Minneapolis Central Library; University of Minnesota, Carlson School of Management, “History
of the Carlson School,” http://www.csom.umn.edu/about/
history.html (last accessed, June 14, 2011) ; “An Important Announcement,” display advertisement, New
York Times, February 26, 1919; “ ‘U’ Lecturer Prepares Advertising Textbook,” Minneapolis Tribune,
February 9, 1914.

"% |bid.; Mac Martin entry, Advertising Hall of Fame, American Advertising Federation website
(http://advertisinghalloffame.org/members/member_bio.php?memid=706&uflag=m&uyear, accessed July
2011).

*" “Mac Martin, Dead of City Ad Industry, Dies”; “Big Agency,” Albert Lea Evening Tribune, December 30,
1930; “ ‘U’ Lecturer Prepares Advertising Textbook.”
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In 1930, Martin merged his agency with Erwin, Wasey and Company to become part of one of the largest
advertising companies in the world. Martin retained his position as president of the Minnesota office, a
role he would hold until his retirement in 1956 after an impressive career spanning fifty-two years. He
passed away two years later. In acknowledgement of his role as a national leader in the advertising
industry, he was inducted posthumously into the American Advertising Federation Hall of Fame, the first
Minnesotan to receive that honor. Only two other advertising executives from Minnesota have entered the
hall of fame since that time: Ray Mithun, who cofounded Campbell-Mithun in 1933; and Pat Fallon, who
cofounded Fallon McElligott Rice in 1981."%

Martin was married three times, beginning with his marriage to Marian (Mary) Welles Collier in 1909. The
couple lived in a nineteenth-century four-square house at 614 East Twenty-fifth Street in Minneapolis.
They did not have children and eventually moved into an apartment at 602 East Twenty-fifth Street. After
Mary’s unexpected death in 1922, Martin remained in the apartment until marrying Helen Cobb Tircher in
November 1926. They moved into an existing house at 1944 Penn Avenue South in the Kenwood
neighborhood. Helen had a son, Albert, from a previous marriage, and Martin formally adopted “Bert.” In
1929, the family constructed the house at 1828 Mount Curve Avenue. Bert Martin graduated from the
Blake School and Yale University, became a soldier in the European theater during World War Il, and
died while in service in Belgium in 1944. Helen Martin was later committed to a psychiatric hospital in
Connecticut and died there in August 1952. Martin married Alice Fletcher in November of that year. The
couple occupied the house on Mount Curve and also had summer homes on Madeline Island and Lake
Minnetonka. They spent winters in Mexico City where Alice’s sons lived. When Mac Martin died in 1958,
an obituary included his “ivy-covered home on a wooded hilltop on Mount Curve” among his many
personal and professional accomplishments.153

Evaluation

Although the design of the house retains historic integrity, its French Eclectic/French Renaissance style
does not stand out among the houses on Mount Curve Avenue. As a result, the house is not eligible for
the National Register under Criterion C for architectural significance. The property does appear eligible,
though, under Criterion B in the area of significance of Commerce for its association with Mac Martin, a
leader in both the local and national advertising industry in the first half of the twentieth century. Martin’s
agency had offices in several downtown multitenant buildings, and none retain a close association with
him. The house that he built in 1929, just before merging his agency with one of the biggest agencies in
the world, represents the peak of his success as an independent entrepreneur. His strong association
with the house is reinforced by its inclusion in his obituary.

192 “Big Agency”; “Mac Martin, Dean of City Ad Industry, Dies”; “A Tribute to Pat Fallon and Other Local
Marketing Greats,” MinnPost.com, March 8, 2010,
http://www.minnpost.com/johnreinan/2010/03/08/16462/a_tribute_to_pat_fallon_and_other_local_marketi
ng_greats (last accessed June 14, 2011); Minneapolis City Directories, 1905-1958; Bob Geiger,
“Minneapolis Ad Executive Pat Fallon Becomes Third Minnesotan Named to Advertising Hall of Fame,”
LexisNexis, March 26, 2010.

153 «Social and Personal News,” Minneapolis Tribune, August 4, 1909; “Mrs. Mary W. Martin to Be Buried
Friday,” Minneapolis Tribune, November 29, 1922; Minneapolis City Directories, 1905-1958; “Helen Cobb
Tircher and Mac Martin Vows Are Exchanged,” Minneapolis Tribune, November 11, 1926; Mary Jane
Smetanka, “More Than Just a Cross and a Name,” Minneapolis Star Tribune, February 19, 2008; “Deaths
— Mrs. Mac Martin,” Minneapolis Star, August 9, 1952; marriage certificate no. 6130098, Mac Martin and
Alice Johnson Fletcher, November 25, 1952, information available on the Minnesota Official Marriage
System website, http://www.mncounty.com/Modules/Certificates/Marriage/MarriageSearch.
aspx?county=&by==&lastname=martin&firsthname=mac&from=&to= (last accessed June 14, 2011); “Mac
Martin, Dean of City Ad Industry, Dies.”
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Recommendation

The property is recommended as eligible under Criterion B in the area of significance of Commerce for its
association with Mac Martin. Its period of significance extends from the house’s construction in 1929 to
Martin’s death in 1958.
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4.1.30 Working-class Housing

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16599
Address: 1108 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis

Property Description

This multi-family building is two-and-one-half stories atop a two-story basement. The basement is visible
on the east and north sides of the building as the ground slopes down to the north. The basement walls
are brick and stone with multiple window openings. On the rear (north) side, balconies have been added
to the upper story of the basement and the first story of the house. The upper stories of the house are
clad in aluminum siding and the steeply pitched cross-gable roof is covered in red asphalt. A pair of
symmetrical one-story porches flanks the front facade and runs back along the east and west sides of the
building. Entrances to the building are located on the front facade under the porches. Two large, plate-
glass windows with transoms sit between the porches on the front wall. On the second story, three one-
over-one sash windows are positioned in an asymmetrical pattern. Paired one-over-one windows are
situated in the peak of the front-gable roof. A common brick chimney projects above the roofline.
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History

It appears that this multifamily dwelling was built in 1893. The building permit listed the address as 1446
to 1446-1/2 Kenwood Parkway, even though neighboring properties had addresses in the 1100s. The
legal description on the 1893 permit matches the present-day description for 1108 Kenwood Parkway,
and Sanborn fire insurance maps also show the dwelling around that time. The next extant permit for this
property \q\gas pulled in 1938 for repairs to a flat. By then, the address had become 1108-1110 Kenwood
Parkway.

The dwelling was part of a working-class enclave on the north edge of the Kenwood neighborhood. The
building’s occupants have been traced back to 1920, but could not be identified earlier. In 1920, the
Charles Sadloske family was living there. Charles, a native of Germany, worked as a foreman for the
Minneapolis and Saint Paul Railway Company. Other tenants in the building included Martin Johnsrud
and Morris Hall, both natives of Norway, who also worked for the railroad. Typical tenants of other
buildings in the neighborhood were Tom Gullickson and John Strand, both of whom worked at odd jobs,
and Nels A. Mellberg, a conductor for the street railway, and his family. By 1922, Guttorn (sometimes
Gust) Swanson, a Swedish-born carpenter, lived at 1108 Kenwood Parkway, and he remained there until
at least 1930. Tom Gullickson, a gardener, was also a resident. During the 1920s and into the 1930s,
Charles Johnson, a chauffeur, lived at or near 1108 Kenwood Parkway. He apparently worked for Guy
Thomas, the president of John Thomas and Company, who lived at 1600 Mount Curve—nearby, but in a
far more affluent area.'®

The other working-class dwellings in the area have been demolished for new houses or for the expansion
of a highway to the north. The building at 1108 Kenwood Parkway is the only remaining example of
working-class housing in the area.

Evaluation

Residences for the working class were rare in the Mount Curve and Kenwood neighborhoods. This house
was originally one of a series of buildings that lined the lower part of Kenwood Parkway. All of the other
buildings have been demolished for the nearby highway or for new residential construction. The building
stands out as the only surviving dwelling of its kind in the neighborhood, and it represents an important
aspect of the city’s social history—the many workers who supported the businesses and life styles of the
wealthy inhabitants of the nearby mansions. For this reason, it was evaluated under Criterion A. The
property’s poor historic integrity, however, disqualifies it for consideration for the National Register.

Recommendation

This property is recommended as not eligible for the National Register under Criterion A because of its
poor integrity.

1% Minneapolis Building Permits B31055 (dated May 1, 1893) and B253902 (dated June 6, 1938). The
address 1146—1148 Kenwood Parkway shows up in a 1902 advertisement (“Display Ad—No Title,”
Minneapolis Tribune, October 5, 1902).

1% Federal Census for 1920, Hennepin County, ED 76, sheets 4B—5A; Minneapolis Directory Company's
Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1930 (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory Company); Federal
Census for 1930, Hennepin County, ED 27-323, sheets 29B—-30A; Minneapolis Directory Company's
Minneapolis (Minnesota) City Directory, 1924 (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory Company).
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4.1.31 National Cash Register

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-17080
Address: 2523 Wayzata Boulevard, Minneapolis

Property Description

A curtain-wall section projects from the front (north) side of this three-story brick structure. Brick pilasters
divide the curtain-wall bays. Flat eaves project beyond the walls of this section. The flat roof of the rest of
the building holds mechanical equipment and antennas. The main entrance on the west side of the
curtain-wall section is emphasized by a black, arched canopy, which is not original. The entry walkway
and stairs are edged by two low brick walls. The one to the north continues the line of the brick at the
base of the curtain-wall section; the one to the south is somewhat higher. A surface parking lot runs along
the front of the property and another is at the rear.
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History

A headline in the Minneapolis Sunday Tribune on March 27, 1960, announced that “National Cash
Register Plans New Building.” The article quoted the local manager, A. J. Cron: “Increased volume of
business, particularly in the accounting and electronic machine division, together with the release of many
new products, makes this expansion necessary.” The 32,000-square-foot structure was estimated to cost
$300,000 and would house the company’s Minneapolis branch headquarters, which would expand from a
10,000-square-foot space in downtown Minneapolis. This would allow the one-hundred-person staff to
double over the next five years. In addition to offices, the building would contain an auditorium on the
second floor that could hold one hundred people and an “electronic data processing center” on the third
floor. The auditorium would be used for staff training and would also be available for public events, while
the electronic center “will be designed to accommodate possible future installation of a computer to
handle bookkeeping needs of companies too small to afford their own computers.” This was part of the
company’s “nationwide program of installing data processing centers in strategic locations,” starting in
New York, Los Angeles, and Dayton, Ohio. The article reported that at the time, the Minneapolis office
handled central Minnesota and “services some 30,000 office equipment machines in Hennepin county.”"*®
Contractor M. A. Mortenson Company did not receive a permit for a concrete foundation for the three-
story, 78-foot by 94-foot building until September 16, 1960. The delay might have been caused by the
need to procure a variance—the area’s zoning only allowed buildings two-and-one-half stories tall. Two
months later, Mortenson pulled a permit for the 36-foot-tall structure, which was scheduled to be
;ompletedﬁb?y August 15, 1961. The estimated cost of the foundation was $15,000 and of the building,
180,000.

David Griswold, who had designed the neighboring Miller Publishing Company Building several years
earlier, was the architect for the National Cash Register Building. The newspaper described the building
as having “a reinforced concrete foundation with brick and masonry enclosing the structural steel frame
on three sides. Glass curtain wall panels will decorate the front.” This was essentially what was built,
although a sketch of the facade in the newspaper article showed a slightly different articulation of the
curtain wall that what is visible today."®®

Evaluation

The expansion of the local branch of National Cash Register was a harbinger of the growing importance
of technology in the last half of the twentieth century. The new building anticipated the critical role that
computers would play in the business world—without foreseeing the arrival of the personal computer,
which would make its planned third-floor electronics center obsolete. The company’s move to Wayzata
Boulevard, although not quite beyond the city’s border, reflects the massive migration from urban
downtowns to suburbia in the decades following World War Il. It was only fitting that a company
positioning itself as a provider of cutting-edge technology would want to follow that pattern.

Recommendation

The National Cash Register Building is of interest as a local reflection of a national trend that resulted in a
radical transformation of business practices in the last half of the twentieth century. It is difficult to
establish the property’s significance in a local or statewide context, however, given the limited scholarly
research on this subject. As a result, this property is recommended as not eligible for the National
Register.

1% «National Cash Register Plans New Building,” Minneapolis Sunday Tribune, March 27, 1960.

'*7 Minneapolis Building Permits B372105 (dated September 16, 1960), and B373155 (dated December
15, 1960).
158 “National Cash Register”; Minneapolis Building Permits B412852 (dated December 27, 1968).
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4.1.32 Miller Publishing Company Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-17079
Address: 2501 Wayzata Boulevard, Minneapolis

Property Description

The property is on a small block edged by Wayzata Boulevard to the north, Madeira Avenue to the west
and south, and Antoinette Avenue to the east. There is some landscaping around the building’s north and
west sides, but the other sides are edged by asphalt-surfaced parking lots. The building has two main
sections: an office extending along Wayzata Boulevard, and an industrial plant that wraps around the
office to the south and east. The southwest section of the plant is two stories, but the remainder of the
building is a single story. The roof is flat except in the northwest corner, which has a very low-pitched,
hexagonal hipped roof. The office’s entryway, which is deeply recessed under an angled eave, has
Cherokee red trim. This and other detailing, such as the patterned brickwork near the top of the two-story
section, is strongly influenced by Frank Lloyd Wright.
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History

The Miller Publishing Company traces its roots to 1873 when a manufacturer in La Crosse, Wisconsin,
started a newsletter, The Northwestern Miller, to promote its milling equipment. Five years later, a new
owner moved the operation to Minneapolis, which was soon to earn its title as the flour-milling capital of
the world. The newsletter's coverage expanded and its quality improved, and it was soon required
reading for anyone involved with the prosperous milling industry. By the early twentieth century, Miller
Publishing owned its three-story headquarters at 118 South Sixth Street in downtown Minneapolis and
had offices in Chicago, New York, Toronto, and London."®

Milling, and agriculture in general, went through periods of rapid evolution in the first half of the twentieth
century. Milling activity was in decline in Minneapolis by the 1920s as the center of the industry moved
east. World War | produced a huge demand for agricultural and other commodities, over-stimulating
production. This led to an economic recession within a few years after the end of hostilities. Other sectors
recovered more quickly than farmers, who were hit with the double punch of the Great Depression and a
long-term drought about the time that things seemed headed for improvement. The industry was once
again revived by World War 11."®

Change became even more relentless in the mid-twentieth century, transforming farming from the realm
of rugged individualists to corporate boardrooms. A succinct overview of this trend is provided by historian
Arthur Schlesinger Jr.:

Great corporations were moving beyond industry to take advantage of the technological
revolution in agriculture and to establish bridgeheads in the countryside. In the years after 1940,
mechanization, by increasing man-hour productivity twice as fast on the farm as in industry,
enabled the farm population to decline from 31 million (1940) to less than 10 million (1970) and
the number of farms to decline from 6.4 million to 2.9 million while total output steadily increased.
A single farm worker produced food for sixteen people in 1951 and for fifty-one two decades later.
The American farmer not only heaped food on his own country’s tables but produced a surplus
that constituted about a fifth of all exports during the sixties.

At the same time the average size of farms increased from 167 to 387 acres; and the largest forty
thousand farms—Iess than 2 percent of the total—accounted for one-third of all farm sales.
Government subsidies of $4 billion a year went primarily to large- and medium-size agricultural
enterprises. The corporate invasion of farming began as a result of investment in land for
speculation and for tax shelters, but increasingly it aimed to establish profitable control over every
stage of food production and distribution. The goal, as Tenneco (formerly Tennessee Gas and
Transmission) put it, was “integration from the seedling to the supermarke’[.”161

As agribusiness became increasingly specialized, Miller Publishing launched magazines for top
management of businesses in specific sectors. It began this refocusing prior to World War Il. The weekly
Feedstuffs, for example, was introduced in 1929 to serve the growing feed industry. By mid-century, Miller
Publishing produced some seventeen magazines including Hog Farm Management, Dairy Herd
Management, and Home and Garden Supply Merchandiser. In addition to launching new publications,

%9 «“The History,” The Northwestern Miller, July 1973, 46—47; Bruce Rubenstein, “What Ever Happened to
Miller Publishing?” Twin Cities, March 1987, 39-40; George S. Hage, “Evolution and Revolution in the
Media: Print and Broadcast Journalism,” in Minnesota in a Century of Change, edited by Clifford E. Clark,
Jr. (Saint Paul: Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1989), 298-299, 317-318.

%0 y.s. Department of Agriculture, Agriculture Yearbook 1924 (Washington: Government Printing Office,
1925), 2.

101 Ar)thur M. Schlesinger Jr., “Toward the Bicentennial,” in The National Experience: A History of the
United States, ed. John M. Blum, 808—809 (New York: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, 1973).
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Miller also expanded through acquisition, such as when it purchased the monthly trade paper Bakers
Review in 1964."%

A symbol of this evolution was the company’s new headquarters at 2501 Wayzata Boulevard.
Technological advances in printing during this period likely stimulated the company’s decision to build a
new plant that took advantage of cutting-edge equipment. Traditional Linotype machines required
typesetting, and were slow, messy, and error-prone as a result. New machines using photocomposition
where re\q(g?l’utionizing the print industry, and Miller’'s move gave it an opportunity to take advantage of that
change.

For the new plant, Miller joined the exodus from downtown Minneapolis. The City of Minneapolis issued a
permit in October 1953 for a 228-foot by 160-foot building comprising two sections: a 120,000-square-foot
office and a 187,000-square-foot printing plant and warehouse. Although the construction was a single
story, the height is listed at 11 feet and 15 feet. It was estimated to cost $250,000 and be completed by
August of the following year. The permit gives David Griswold as the architect and Madsen Construction
Company as the contractor. In September 1966, the company received a permit to install a foundation for
a 64-foot by 78-foot addition to the “publishing house.” Griswold, by this time as a principal in the firm
Griswold and Rauma, was again the architect. Lyell Halverson was the contractor. That December, the
same team is listed on a permit for a 109.33-foot by 95.33-foot “addition to existing publishing house”
estimated to cost $344,000. Interior alterations totaling $4,000 were also undertaken.'®

In its Wayzata Boulevard facility, the company increased its profits by focusing on its strongest offerings,
reducing its line of publications to eight. Farming was entering a boom period. At the same time, farm
management and operations were changing radically, and some Miller employees felt that the company
was not doing enough to respond to this change. Turnover in the company’s management—and the end
of production of The Northwestern Miller—signaled that both the company and agribusiness were
undergoing a radical transformation. The company also faced internal financial challenges because of its
corporate structure. Miller had become employee-owned in the 1920s. It was required it to buy back the
stock of retiring employees, yet it could not afford to pay true market value to large shareholders.'®®

Miller attracted the attention of the American Broadcasting Company (ABC), which had started to diversity
by acquiring publishing businesses. ABC initiated negotiations with Miller's board in 1977 and purchased
the company the following year. An ABC executive who worked on the transaction said: “| loved Miller
Publishing. . . . | thought it was the best small company | had ever seen. | liked its history, its people. Here
was a combpany that was built on tradition. In my opinion it was the finest farm publishing company in the
country.”16

After a management change at ABC, the company’s publication division fell from favor. Miller was merged
with Farm Progress Publications, another of ABC’s holdings, in 1984. Members of Miller’s top
management were fired and others soon because discouraged with the new arrangement and left.
Clerical and other services were moved away from Minneapolis. Within a few years, the company’s
Wayzata Boulevard headquarters was sold and the art and artifacts in the building were auctioned off,
marking the end of Miller's association with the property.'®’

162 «The History”; Rubenstein, “What Ever Happened to Miller Publishing?”; R. W. Apple Jr., “Advertising:
Magazines and Tax,” New York Times, January 31, 1964.

'%% Elizabeth Maclver Neiva, “Chain Building: The Consolidation of the American Newspaper Industry,
1953-1980,” The Business History Review 70 (Spring 1996): 1-42.

184 “The History,” 82; Minneapolis Building Permits B338054 (dated October 28, 1953), B399120 (dated
September 20, 1966), B400306 (dated December 28, 1966).

1% Rubenstein, “What Ever Happened,” 42—-44. The First National Bank Building was erected on Miller’s
former downtown site.

1% The quote is in Rubenstein, “What Ever Happened,” 44. See also page 45.

%7 The quote is in Rubenstein, “What Ever Happened,” 6.
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Evaluation

The Miller Publishing Company Building was built for a business that was nationally prominent in milling
and agriculture, two industries that have played important roles in the history of the state and region. In
addition to housing the company’s main office, the building also held a printing plant where its
publications were produced. Miller's downtown Minneapolis headquarters, which it left to move to this
location in 1954, have been demolished. The new headquarters represented an important period of the
company’s growth, which reflected boom years for agribusiness. The subsequent downturn in that
business and aging management at Miller led to the firm’s demise.

The building’s design by locally prominent architect David Griswold and, later, Griswold and Rauma,
reflects the strong influence of Frank Lloyd Wright. Buildings that show similar influences are usually
residential. The application of these design concepts to a commercial structure, particularly one that
includes an industrial use, is rare and noteworthy in Minnesota.

Recommendation

The Miller Publishing Company Building is recommended as eligible for listing in the National Register
under Criterion A for its association with the Miller Publishing Company, which is significant in the areas
of Agriculture and Communications. The period of significance begins with 1954, when the company
moved to this location. It should end in 1967, with the completion of the two-story addition, but given the
National Register’s fifty-year rule, the period ends in 1961. While the building’s design is also of interest, it
does not appear to be of sufficient significant to qualify the building as eligible for the National Register
under Criterion C for Architecture.
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4.1.33 Lustron House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16728
Address: 2436 Mount View Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

The components for this single-story, side-gabled, prefabricated house were manufactured by the Lustron
Corporation in Columbus, Ohio. The square, panels that form the exterior walls are dove gray, one of the
four colors that were produced. The main entry is deeply recessed in the west end of the front (south)
facade. The roof’s overhang is supported by an angled, ornamental rain pipe. The front facade holds two
window openings with a central, fixed picture window flanked by narrower casements with three lights,
stacked vertically. The green, porcelainized-enamel, steel tile roof, which appears to be original, has a
low slope. A chimney rises off-center from the rear slope. A garage behind the house has steel panels
that match the house, but they are not structural.
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History

The Lustron Corporation was created to address the housing shortage after World War Il. Entrepreneur
Carl Strandlund planned to convert a former warplane factory into a facility to mass-produce single-family
houses and convinced the federal Reconstruction Finance Corporation to loan the company $37.5 million
for equipment and materials. Giant presses and other machines fabricated over 3,000 pieces for the all-
steel house, which came complete with bathroom fixtures and built-in cabinets. Following the example of
car companies, Lustron distributed houses through a network of builder-dealers across the country.
Buyers could customize houses to a small degree with accessories such as screen doors and an attic
fan. The company offered garage packages by 1949, although unlike the houses, where the panels were
structural, the garages had the panels applied a traditional wood-frame structure.'®

Production got started more slowly than anticipated, and the houses proved complicated to ship and
assemble. While some prospective homebuyers embraced the Lustron concept, others were not
receptive to living inside a steel box where magnets served as picture hangars. The company soon faced
a host of problems, ranging from trouble with local building inspectors to political intrigue in Washington,
and its demise was as rapid as its initial growth. The production line was permanently shut down in 1950
after producing about 2,600 houses.

The company offered several models. The house on Mount View Avenue appears to be a Westchester,
the first type that went into production. It was similar to the prototype Esquire model, which opened for
public examination in the Chicago suburb of Hinsdale in November 1946.Some one hundred
demonstration houses were soon installed around the county. Esquires are distinguishable by their eye-
catching bright yellow and blue color scheme. When Lustrons went into mass production, the color palette
was limited to neutral pastels—desert tan, maize yellow, surf blue, and dove gray—with neutral trim. The
Mount View model is dove gray. Westchester models had either two or three bedrooms, measuring
approximately 31 feet by 35 feet (1,085 square feet) and 31 feet by 39 feet (1,209 square feet),
respectively. There were Deluxe and Standard versions, with the Deluxe having more built-in amenities
and a bay window.

S. J. Groves and Sons took out a permit to erect a 46-foot by 26-foot single-story dwelling and 12-foot by
20-foot private detached garage at 2436 Mount View Avenue in March 1948. Although the date and
estimate cost ($12,400) seem appropriate and Groves was involved with erecting Lustrons, this does not
appear to be the permit for the Lustron house as it describes the structure as “frame” and the project also
mentions interior lath and plaster work. Also, the dimensions are wrong. In any event, the Mount View
house presumably dates from 1948-1949."%

Evaluation

America won World War Il, only to be confronted by a crisis on the home front. Returning soldiers wanted
to start families, but the nation’s housing stock had deteriorated. There had been almost no new
construction during the depression and war years, compounding the housing shortage. At the same time,
giant factories dedicated to military production needed a new purpose after the armistice. It seemed only
logical to retool the factories to manufacture housing.

'%® Two books are useful sources for information on Lustrons: Douglas Knerr, Suburban Steel: The
Magnificent Failure of the Lustron Corporation, 1945—1951 (Columbus: Ohio State University Press,
2004) and Thomas T. Fetters, The Lustron Home: The History of a Postwar Prefabricated Housing
Experiment (Jefferson, N.C., and London: McFarland and Company, 2002). A website dedicated to
Lustrons (http://www.lustronpreservation.org/index.php) has a good collection of materials on the history
of the Lustron Corporation and technical information about the houses. Carl Strandlund married a woman
from Minnesota, and ended up spending his final days in the Minneapolis suburb of Edina. He died in
1974 and is buried in Section 41 of Minneapolis’s Lakewood Cemetery.

'%9 Minneapolis Building Permit B298171 (dated March 25, 1948).
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The Lustron Corporation was in the vanguard, promoting a thoroughly modern house with walls and a
roof of porcelain-enamel steel panels. While mass-producing homes out of steel was a cutting-edge idea,
though, nineteenth-century entrepreneurs had already had success at prefabricating buildings. British
manufacturers produced prefabricated cast-iron structural systems for industrial facilities in 1801. Within a
few decades, factory-produced cast-iron storefronts became popular in American cities. By the early
twentieth century, Sears, Roebuck and Company and other merchants were selling kits of prefabricated
houses, albeit of wood, out of catalogs.

The 1930s witnessed the introduction of a dizzying array of prefabricated houses. A 1950s study on The
Prefabrication of Houses reported that by the mid-1930s there were “some 33 systems which were
supposed to be commercially available. Of these, 16 were steel frame construction using panels of
various materials such as asbestos cement, precast concrete, steel or composition board; five were of
steel load-bearing panels; eight were of precast concrete; one was of precast gypsum; two were of wood
frame; and only one was of plywood. Of the 25 commercially available systems in 1938, 15 used steel,
two used plywood, and precast concrete was still a challenge not to be abandoned, with five systems in
use.” Steel fell from favor, though, because of problems with corrosion, condensation, insulation, and,
most of all, the cost of the machines and facilities to fabricate the metal. The Lustron Corporation was to
tackle these hurdles head-on.

First, though, World War Il erupted, and the steel surpluses of the 1930s quickly became shortages as
steel and other materials were dedicated to the war effort. Domestic housing virtually stopped, but
experiments with prefabrication multiplied as the military sought buildings that could be erected quickly
without skilled tradesmen. Production techniques were greatly improved during the war, but prefabrication
came out of the war with an image problem. “Whereas the prewar prefabricated house may have been
suspect as an interesting freak, the postwar product was often stereotyped in the public mind as a dreary
shack.”

Lustron’s snappy porcelain-enamel panels helped dispel that image. It was the use of this product, rather
than the product itself, that was innovative. The process of enameling metal sheets had been developed
in German and Austria in the mid-1800s. Because the porcelain enamel was tough, did not fade, and was
easy to clean, it was quickly adopted by manufacturers of signs, appliances, and bathroom and kitchen
fixtures. By the end of the nineteenth century, metal enameling was being done on an industrial scale in
the United States. Iron was initially used for the base metal; sheets of low-carbon steel became available
in the early twentieth century. In addition to its other qualities, the sleek, streamlined look of porcelain-
enamel panels made it popular by the 1930s as siding for gas stations, hamburger stands (like the White
Castle chain), and other commercial structures. A technological breakthrough during World War Il allowed
the use of lower heat and lighter-gage metal panels.170

Lustron scholars estimate that as many 2,000 Lustron houses are extant. Many, however, have been
altered extensively on the exterior and interior. In addition, the supposedly “maintenance-free” steel
components are susceptible to dents and rust, and replacing deteriorated panels is a very complicated
undertaking. While Lustrons have experienced something of a renaissance with a growing appreciation of
post-war design, they do not suit the aesthetic tastes or space requirements of many homeowners. It is
unusual to find one in very good condition.

There are about twenty Lustrons in Minnesota, of which about a dozen are in Minneapolis. They are
varying states of preservation. A pair of Lustrons on Cedar Avenue in south Minneapolis displays the
range of conditions: 4916 Cedar, which has desert tan panels, has been restored and has been
determined eligible for the National Register, while 4900 Cedar has undergone a number of alterations,
including a very unsympathetic coat of black paint. The largest grouping is on Nicollet Avenue in south
Minneapolis, just south of Fiftieth Street. All are Westchester Deluxe models. The houses at 5009 and
5047 Nicollet are surf blue, while those at 5015 and 5055 Nicollet are dove gray. The yellow Lustron at
5021 Nicollet appears to be an early model; it has an unusual bright yellow/blue color scheme. The

"% The above section is excerpted from narrative prepared by Charlene Roise for a Lustron website

developed by the National Trust for Historic Preservation in 2005-2006.
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panels at 5027 Nicollet exhibit a blue-gray color that is not original, and it is unclear whether they have
been painted or are new. In either case, the integrity of this house is questionable. The rain gutter is
clearly a modern interpretation of the original. The dove gray house at 5055 Nicollet has a front
porch/entry addition that compromises its integrity, and the enclosure of recessed entries at 5015 and
5047 Nicollet has affected their integrity.

In comparison, the house at 2436 Mount View Avenue has been restored and is a remarkably well-
preserved example of this important mid-twentieth-century housing initiative. While it is impossible to
examine the entire cohort of Lustrons in the United States, anecdotal evidence indicates that many
Lustrons are deteriorating, have been substantially altered, or have been demolished. The condition of
the Lustrons on Nicollet Avenue is probably above average. The Mount View house appears to be one of
the best Lustrons in Minneapolis, which had the largest concentration of this house type in the state.

Recommendation

The property qualifies for the National Register under Criterion C for its significance in the area of
Architecture. Its period of significance is the apparent period of its erection, 1948-1949.Lustrons were
produced during a time of great experimentation in housing design and construction. The Lustron
Corporation came closer than most of its competitors to providing sound, affordable, mass-manufactured
houses during a critical housing shortage after World War II.
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4.1.34 Bryn Mawr Park

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-17078
Address: 2131 Wayzata Boulevard, Minneapolis

Property Description

Bryn Mawr Park comprises about 52 acres. The irregularly shaped parcel is bounded by railroad corridors
to the northeast and southeast, Interstate 394 to the south, and the residential Bryn Mawr neighborhood
to the northwest. The topography is mostly flat. Pedestrian and bicycle paths run through the park and
connect with a regional trail, which is carried on a bridge over an industrial area southeast of the park.
Some trees and picnic tables are scattered through the park, which is dominated by eleven softball fields,
two baseball fields, and one cricket field. There is a large surface parking lot accessible from Morgan
Avenue, and the park board gives the park’s address as 601 Morgan Avenue South.
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History

The original farm in the area provided the name for the park and the surrounding neighborhood, Bryn
Mawr, a Welsh phrase meaning “great hill.” The farm’s owner, John Oswald, was one the first members of
the Minneapolis Board of Park Commissioners, so it is particularly apt that this name was given to the
park that was established on his farm in the early twentieth century. The board acquired thirty-nine acres
of the farm in 1910 with little enthusiasm from Theodore Wirth, who felt that other parks had higher
priority. Five years later, Wirth recommended that the property be developed as an equestrian center, an
idea he raised again in 1924. Neither time brought results. Instead, a baseball field was developed at
Bryn Mawr in 1922, a foreshadowing of the park’s ultimate fate."

A few more proposals to develop Bryn Mawr appeared during the 1920s and 1930s, and apparently more
athletic fields were installed in this period. Also, the park’s size was increased with the board’s purchase
of sixty acres along Bassett’'s Creek in 1934. There were no buildings in the park until 1953, when a
structure with toilet facilities and storage space was erected. At the same time, the soil in the fields was
improved. Bigger changes were to come in the 1960s, when freeway construction impinged on the park’s
south side and on another park, The Parade, to the southeast. More ball fields were created at Bryn Mawr
to compensate for fields lost at The Parade.

Evaluation

Although Bryn Mawr Park is in proximity to the Grand Rounds, it is not part of this historically significant
park and parkway system. Alterations to Bryn Mawr in recent decades, particularly the construction of the
ball fields, has changed the open character of the landscape, substantially modifying the park’s character.

Recommendation

Bryn Mawr Park is recommended as not eligible for listing in the National Register.

" David C. Smith, “Bryn Mawr Meadow Park,” 2008, available at Minneapolis Park and Recreation Board

web site (http://www.minneapolisparks.org/default.asp?Page ID+4&parkid+253).
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4.2 Minneapolis South Residential/ Commercial Survey Zone

A total of 446 properties were surveyed in this survey zone (see Appendix B for the complete list of these
properties; 6 of the properties are also in the Minneapolis West Residential Survey Zone). Of the

surveyed properties, thirty-two individual properties and two potential historic districts warranted Phase I
evaluation. Seven individual properties and seven historic districts were listed in or previously determined
eligible for the National Register of Historic Places. Table 4.2 provides information on Phase Il properties

in this survey zone. The Phase |l evaluation of each property follows.

Table 4.2—Phase Il Properties in Minneapolis South Residential/Commercial Survey Zone

. . . . SHPO Inventory Project
Historic Property Name Address (Minneapolis) Number NRHP Status Segment(s)
Bounded by the Mall, the alley
between Knox and James
Avenues South, Lagoon
The Mall Apartment Historic | Avenue, and the aIIe_y between HE-MPC-7854 Recommended eligible C
District Holmes and Hennepin
Avenues with additional
properties on south side of
Lagoon Avenue
Emilie Bissonette Building 2813 Hennepin Avenue HE-MPC-5857 Recon;:giagl(éed not C
Norris Creameries 2828 Emerson Avenue S. HE-MPC-3528 Recon;irzgeiglied not C
ane d‘?ﬂ“gza Company 1006 West Lake Street HE-MPC-6324 Recommended eligible c
Bruer Brother Lumber 2836 Lyndale Avenue S. HE-MPC-3503 Recommended not c
Company Building eligible
J. F. Thompson House 2928 Harriet Avenue S. HE-MPC-16541 Rec"";:%?gl‘éed not c
Eighth Ward Warehouse 2900 Pleasant Avenue S. HE-MPC-15371 Reco”;%?gged not c
Western Alloyed Steel 2848 Pleasant Avenue S. HE-MPC-15370 Recommended not c
Casting Company Building eligible
th
West Twenty-ninth Street West 29" Street _between Recommended not
. o Pillsbury and Blaisdell L C
Workers Housing District eligible
Avenues South
Duplex 2825 First Avenue S. HE-MPC-16092 Reco”;ﬁ;glied not c
g/linneapolis Fire Station No. 2749 Blaisdell Avenue S. HE-MPC-6030 Recon;:irgieglied not c
Frenz Brake Service 2749 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-16809 ReCO”;%?gged not c
William H. Baily Building 2743 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-16807 ReCO”;E’;?&‘éed not c
Professional Building 2701 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-16797 Reco”;ﬁ;gl‘éed not c
Calvary Baptist Church 2608 Blaisdell Avenue S. HE-MPC-6027 Recommended eligible C
Apartment Building 2515 Blaisdell Avenue S. HE-MPC-16322 Reco”;ﬁ;glied not c
Rowhouses 1-11 East 25" Street HE-MPC-16145 Recommended eligible C
Commercial/Apartment 2443 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-16775 Recommended not c
Building eligible
Matthew McDonald House | 2400 Blaisdell Avenue S. HE-MPC-16306 Re°°";[i’;£‘|‘éed not c
John Alden Bovey House | 2322 Blaisdell Avenue S HE-MPC-16305 Recorgﬂ;?gl‘ied not c
Hardware Mutual Fire | 5344 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-6514 Recommended eligible c
Insurance Company Building
First Christian Church 2300 Stevens Avenue S. HE-MPC-16981 Recommended eligible C
Apartment Building 2312 Blaisdell Avenue S. HE-MPC-16304 Recommended eligible C
Thomas Walston House 2302 Blaisdell Avenue S. HE-MPC-6026 Recommended not c

eligible
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. . . . SHPO Inventory Project
Historic Property Name Address (Minneapolis) Number NRHP Status Segment(s)
Lee Mortuary 2217 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-16762 Recorr;:ir;tr;l(ied not C
William S. Jones House 2208 Blaisdell Avenue S. HE-MPC-16300 Re°°r21%‘?glied not c
Humboldt Institute 2201 Blaisdell Avenue S. HE-MPC-16299 Recommended eligible C
Marie Antoinette Apartments | 26-30 West 22™ Street HE-MPC-16113 Re°°";:%?gl‘éed not c
Joe Billman Mortuary 2121 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-16758 Recorr;:ing?glied not C
Rose Manor Apartments 22 East 22™ Street HE-MPC-16110 Recorr;:ir;tr;l(ied not C
President Apartments 2020 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-16753 Re°°";:g?t’)‘|‘éed not c
g;z:‘ek"” Nicollet Liquor 2012 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-16752 Recommended eligible c
Minneapolis and Saint Louis
Railway Company Main 111 Franklin Avenue East HE-MPC-16487 Recommended eligible C
Office
Plymouth Congregational 1900 Nicollet Avenue HE-MPC-6511 Recommended eligible c

Church
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4.2.1 The Mall Apartment Historic District

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-7854

Address: Bounded by the Mall, the alley between Knox and James Avenues South, Lagoon Avenue, and
the alley between Holmes and Hennepin Avenues, with additional properties on south side of Lagoon
Avenue, Minneapolis.

Property Description

The Mall Apartment Historic District is a residential district composed of twenty-eight apartment buildings,
four smaller residences, and a lot with a multi-stall garage. It is located in the area of southwest
Minneapolis referred to as “Uptown.” The district occupies rectangular city blocks and is bounded on the
north by the Mall, a picturesque street with a wide central median that is maintained by the Minneapolis
Park and Recreation Board. To the south is Lagoon Avenue and to the east is Hennepin Avenue,
Uptown’s main commercial corridor. To the west is more parkland, including the manmade lagoon that
connects Lake of the Isles and Lake Calhoun. Most of the apartment buildings were constructed from the
mid-1910s through the 1920s and are brick with stone, terra-cotta, or concrete ornamentation. The
apartment buildings are similar in size and most have flat roofs, but they demonstrate a variety of styles
including Exotic Revival, Spanish Revival, and Classical Revival. The district also contains three frame
residences. Even though they are contemporaries to the apartment buildings in the district, they are
noncontributing properties because they are not associated with the multifamily building context. The
district also contains one noncontributing lot that once held a residential building; only a multicar garage
remains.

The following properties are within the district and fall within the survey area set by the APE. The historic
names are provided if known.

Map  Property Name Address Date  Cont./Noncont.

A Martinique Apartments 2880 James Avenue South 1921  Contributing

B Ambassador Apartments 2886 James Avenue South 1921  Contributing

C Belvedere Apartments 2896 James Avenue South 1921  Contributing

D Apartment Building 2885 James Avenue South 1930 Contributing

E Apartment Building 2891 James Avenue South 1913 Contributing

F Apartment Building 2895 James Avenue South 1915 Contributing

G House 1610 Lagoon Avenue 1904  Noncontributing

H Apartment Building 2880 Irving Avenue South 1928 Contributing

I M. E. Greenberg Building 2884 Irving Avenue South 1928 Contributing

J Duplex 2888 Irving Avenue South 1914  Noncontributing

K House 2892 Irving Avenue South 1904  Noncontributing

L Ruskin 2871 Irving Avenue South 1916  Contributing

M Jamaica 2875 Irving Avenue South 1916  Contributing

N Emerald 2881 Irving Avenue South 1916  Contributing

0] Mall View Apartments 2870 Humboldt Avenue South 1915  Contributing

P Alden Apartments 2876 Humboldt Avenue South 1916  Contributing
Priscilla Apartments 2882 Humboldt Avenue South 1916  Contributing

Q The Mall Apartments 2871 Humboldt Avenue South 1915  Contributing

R Granada Apartments 1456 Lagoon Avenue 1929 Contributing

S Lot with multi-stall garage 1452 Lagoon Avenue 1915 Noncontributing

T Lagoon Court Apartments 2870 Holmes Avenue South 1915 Contributing

U Lagoon Court Apartments 2878 Holmes Avenue South 1915 Contributing

V Lagoon Court Apartments 2873 Holmes Avenue South 1916  Contributing

wW Lagoon Court Apartments 2877 Holmes Avenue South 1916  Contributing

X Lagoon Court Apartments 2883 Holmes Avenue South 1916  Contributing
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The following properties are within the Mall Apartment Historic District, but are outside of the APE. As a

result, they were not inventoried. The historic names are provided if known.

Map  Property Name Address Date
Y Apartment Building 2901 Knox Avenue South 1922
Z Apartment Building 2905 Knox Avenue South 1927
AA House 1721 Lagoon Avenue c. 1900
BB Mead Apartments 1715 Lagoon Avenue 1916
CC Inter-Lakes Apartments 1709 Lagoon Avenue 1916
DD Apartment Building 2900 James Avenue South 1915
EE Apartment Building 2908 James Avenue South 1916
FF Lagoon Terrace Apartments 2901 James Avenue South 1914
GG Isle Villa Apartments 1619 Lagoon Avenue 1916
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The M. E. Greenberg Building, 2884 Irving Avenue South

The Jamaica, 2875 Irving Avenue South
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The Granada Apartments, 1456 Lagoon Avenue

The Granada Apartments in 1937
Minneapolis Collection, Hennepin Country Central Library, Minneapolis
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Lagoon Court Apartments, 2883 Holmes Avenue South

Lagoon Court Apartments, February 1957
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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History

In 1904, Lawrence Veiller, deputy tenement house commissioner in New York, wrote: “Of the many
problems that press upon us for solution in our American cities none presents so many startling aspects
as the problem of the housing of the working people. . . . Unscrupulous landlords and builders are quick
to see that by crowding people closer and closer together they can greatly increase their profits. . . . Thus
has arisen the great tenement-house system of our American Cities.” He went on to explain that in the
past sixty-three years, some people in New York City had tried to build “model” tenements that provided
standard facilities at a reduced rate, but “during the same period of time the speculative builders of the
city, unrestricted by proper legislation, [had] erected approximately over fifty thousand indescribably bad
types of tenement houses.” For the older Eastern cities like New York, overcoming the problems of
tenement housing was difficult because, as Veiller indicated, much of the dense metropolitan
infrastructure had been built without regulation. For many, the idea of multifamily housing went hand in
hand with squalor, disease, and social decay.

As America moved farther west, young, booming cities had the benefit of addressing housing problems
as they developed, which lessened somewhat the stigma that multifamily housing bore. In the years
before World War |, many communities that were founded on industry became regional retail, banking,
and real estate centers, which encouraged the movement of residents from farms and small towns to
larger urban areas. As a result, apartments were increasingly accepted as a necessity.

Minneapolis’s urban core threatened to become especially congested as its thriving economy of the
1920s lured residents from the state’s farming communities. Between 1900 and 1920, the population of
Minneapolis grew by almost 178,000. Even in the early years of this trend, the city demonstrated a
willingness to embrace multifamily housing. A 1902 article in the Minneapolis Journal observed that “life in
apartments is popular in a city where detached houses for rent are scarce and where so many people like
to live at the suburban lakes during the summer season. The flat offers many advantages in the way of
conveniences which some houses do not possess. . . . [It] gives people who want to be near the center of
the city homes at a reasonable cost.” In contrast to the squalor of crowded and unsanitary tenements,
apartment houses provided the amenities modern urbanites demanded. High-quality multifamily housing
was “the result of an effort to solve the problem of congestion which . . . confronted the larger cities of this
country.” The 1917 Plan of Minneapolis promoted the construction of high-end apartment buildings as
part of the city’s urban renewal. Using Paris as a model, it showed that multi-unit buildings were not only
as fashionable and functional as single-family residences, but in some ways could be even more so.?

In the case of southwest Minneapolis, apartment houses enabled many in the swelling middle class to live
in the desirable Chain of Lakes area where property values were high. Key to the construction of
apartment buildings in that area was the expansion of the streetcar line. Hennepin Avenue and Lake
Street, the intersection of two prominent lines, became an important commercial node, supporting
numerous retail businesses as early as 1900. Residential neighborhoods clustered around these
streetcar-commercial centers.*

In 1916, the Minneapolis Tribune noted that those who worked downtown but could not afford to live close
to their place of employment made good use of the streetcars and “flocked to apartments buildings.”

' Lawrence Veiller, “The Housing Problem in American Cities,” Annals of the American Academy of
Political and Social Science, vol. 25, City Life and Progress (March 1905): 48—49, 59.
% Quoted in Michael Koop, “Living Downtown,” Hennepin County History 53 (Summer 1994): 24.
3 Christine Curran and Charlene K. Roise, “Nokomis Knoll Residential Historic District,” National Register
of Historic Places Registration Form, available at the State Historic Preservation Office, Minnesota
Historical Society, Saint Paul, 8:2—8:3; Phillip Kent Wagner, “The Historical Geography of Apartment
Housing in Minneapolis, Minnesota, 1870 to 1930,” Ph.D. thesis, University of Minnesota, September
1991, 241, 245; R. W. Sexton, American Apartment Houses, Hotels, and Apartment Hotels of Today
SNew York: Architectural Book Publishing Company, 1929).

Marjorie Pearson and Charlene Roise, “South Minneapolis: An Historical Context,” prepared for the
Minneapolis Heritage Preservation Commission, August 2000, 23; Wagner, “Apartment Housing in
Minneapolis,” 225.
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Because of the density that these structures created in areas where real estate values were high,
apartments seemed a “necessary and logical result” of increased urban living. Consequently, the number
of apartment buildings in the city of Minneapolis increased 55 percent between 1912 and 1927. At the
same time, streetcar usage in the city was headed toward its early 1920s peak of 138.6 million
passengers a year, and by 1925 southwest Minneapolis had the highest level of ridership.’

Land for apartment buildings in South Minneapolis was often made available by demolishing older large,
single-family homes, a phenomenon frequently seen in the Phillips and Whittier neighborhoods. For
buildings in the Mall Apartment Historic District, however, much of the land was vacant. While its location
next to a rail corridor had made it undesirable for housing, this attracted a group of coal companies that
acquired the property in 1911, intending to turn the area into a manufacturing district. The plan was
opposed by local residents, though, and they were soon joined by the Minneapolis park board, which
wanted to protect the nearby Lake District from industrial infringement. In May 1913, the board voted
unanimously to build what was then called the Twenty-ninth Street Mall.® With this new amenity, the land
south of the Mall was rapidly transformed with the construction of eighteen apartment buildings between
1914 and 1916.”

At this point, most likely due to wartime supply problems, the construction of apartment buildings south of
the Mall ceased until 1921, when 2880, 2886, and 2896 James Avenue South were erected. These brick
buildings appear to have originally been very similar in design with recessed central window bays, cubical
forms, and pressed metal cornices with paired brackets. The following year brought the construction of
the first apartment building south of Lagoon Avenue at 2901 Knox Avenue South. There was one last
burst of apartment construction at the end of the decade with the erection of 2905 Knox, 2880 and 2884
Irving Avenue South, 1456 Lagoon Avenue, and 2885 James Avenue South.?

The 1920 census indicates that the residents of the apartment buildings along the Mall primarily held the
white-collar jobs of a rising middle class. Their occupations included manager, nurse, lawyer,
saleswoman, agent, bookkeeper, secretary to the president, and stockbroker. Some were employed in
jobs involving cutting-edge technology of the day—auto mechanic, telephone cable splicer, and electric
supplier. They were generally not working-class construction or factory labor.

Construction of apartment buildings along the Mall ended in 1930, brought to an abrupt halt by the Great
Depression. A lack of easily developable land, however, would most likely have stopped construction
within the same finite boundaries. Sanborn fire insurance maps and building permits show that by 1930,
the neighborhood had very little unoccupied area. The park board controlled the land to the north, and it
in turn was bounded by the Chicago, Minneapolis, and Saint Paul Railway line. To the east, Hennepin
Avenue was well established as a commercial district. Single-family residences were along Knox Avenue
and south of Lagoon Avenue. Parkland along the channel that connected Lake Calhoun and Lake of the
Isles blocked expansion further west.

After World War I, the allure of home ownership in the developing suburbs appealed to many middle-
class residents of Minneapolis. As the demand for urban housing declined, so did the construction of
apartment houses for the next two decades. Apartment living was not to experience a renaissance until
the late 1960s when post-war baby boomers began moving away from their childhood homes.

° “Building Activity for Winter Months Greater Than 1915,” Minneapolis Tribune, March 5, 1916; Wagner,
“Apartment Housing in Minneapolis,” 178, 226.

® Pearson and Roise, “South Minneapolis,” 51; “Gateway to Lake Street,” Minneapolis Journal, August 25,
1911; Minneapolis Board of Park Commissioners, Thirtieth Annual Report (1912), 66, and Thirty-first
Annual Report (1913), 33; “Park Board Votes 29th Street Mall,” Minneapolis Journal, May 7, 1913.

" These properties are 2870, 2873, 2877, 2878, and 2883 Holmes Avenue South; 2871 and 2876
Humboldt Avenue South; 2871, 2875, and 2881 Irving Avenue South; 2895, 2900, 2901, and 2908 James
Avenue South; and 1456, 1619, 1709, and 1715 Lagoon Avenue.

® Minneapolis Building Permits B121375 (dated May 2, 1921), B151197 (dated July 9, 1921), B154724
(dated October 28, 1921), B208774 (dated February 16, 1928), B209645 (dated April 11, 1928), B216638
(dated June 7, 1929), and B220013 (dated January 9, 1930).

Phase I/Phase Il Architectural History Investigation for the Proposed Southwest Transitway Project—Hennepin County, Minnesota—February 2012
Volume Two—Section 4.2-10



Evaluation

The cluster of apartment buildings south of the Mall is evidence of the changing dynamics of
Minneapolis’s early twentieth-century population, the expansion of the city’s streetcar system, and the
appeal of new apartment building designs. Members of the middle class, a burgeoning sector thanks to
post-World War | prosperity, could live in the more prestigious and park-like areas of Minneapolis and
take streetcars to jobs downtown. They enjoyed living in new apartments that were far removed from the
overcrowded tenements of the nineteenth century.

With the exception of the exuberant Mediterranean Revival Granada Apartments at 1456 Lagoon Avenue,
the buildings in the district have attractive but unremarkable designs that are similar to contemporary
apartment buildings around the city. This concentration of buildings is distinguished, though, by the
rapidity of construction, the density of the development, and the cohesive design of the district. The few
single-family residences in the area all predate the apartment buildings with the exception of 2888 Irving
Avenue South, which was built at the same time as the earliest apartment buildings in 1914. Especially
important to the character of the district is its setting, which is influenced both by the parkland to the north
and west and the commercial corridors of Hennepin Avenue and Lake Street to the east and south.

The Mall Apartment Historic District is eligible for the National Register under Criterion A with Community
Planning and Development as its area of significance.

It is also eligible under Criterion C for its significance in Architecture as a district that “represent[s] a
significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual distinction.”® Although the
individual buildings are not stylistically noteworthy, for the most part, they are a distinctive concentration
of an important early twentieth-century building type.

Recommendation

The Mall Apartment Historic District is recommended as eligible for the National Register under Criterion
A in the area of Community Planning and Development and under Criterion C for Architecture. Its period
of significance begins with the erection of the first apartment buildings in 1914 and ends with the last
surge of construction in 1930. The district is very well preserved and maintains integrity of location,
design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.

® Patrick W. Andrus and Rebecca H. Shrimpton, eds., National Register Bulletin 15: How to Apply the
National Register Criteria for Evaluation (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1991), 17.
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4.2.2 Emilie Bissonette Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-5857
Address: 2813 Hennepin Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

The Emilie Bissonette Building is a two-story, flat-roofed commercial building with subdued Neoclassical
Revival elements. The side and rear walls of the building are common brick laid in a stretcher bond. The
slanted portions of the side walls, which are visible from the front, are a high-quality yellow brick that is
also laid in a stretcher bond with some soldier courses. The 68-foot front (west) facade is gray Bedford
stone. Single-story fluted pilasters topped with fluted stone urns are at each end. The wall curves upward
toward the second story. There is a narrow, molded cornice above a plain frieze at the roofline. The first-
story entrance to a stair to the second floor is at the center of the front facade, flanked by fluted pilasters
that reach up to a small molded cornice above the first floor. The four storefronts are paired, and the
entrances of each pair are adjacent. A projecting band of stone runs below the sills of eleven evenly
spaced window openings on the second floor. All hold modern double-hung replacement windows with
six-light top and bottom sashes.
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Artist’s sketch of the Bissonette Building prior to its construction
“Contract Let for Greek Type Store-Flat Building,” Minneapolis Journal, June 21, 1925

Mayme Hoye Cleaner, c. 1930
Lee Brothers, photographer—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

Phase I/Phase Il Architectural History Investigation for the Proposed Southwest Transitway Project—Hennepin County, Minnesota—February 2012
Volume Two—Section 4.2-13



History

On June 26, 1919, the Minneapolis Tribune reported on the marriage of Emelie Beaudoin to Lieutenant
William Bissonette. The Bissonettes were not included in the 1920 federal census, but an advertisement
for the W. C. Bissonette Company, which was located in the Andrus Building in downtown Minneapolis,
appeared in the Tribune on June 13, 1922. The 1930 Minneapolis city directory listed the Bissonettes as
rentlng a house at 200 Diamond Lake Road and indicated that William worked as a “preprinter” for a
‘rental and investments company.”

In June 1925, the Minneapolis Journal reported that excavation was about to begin on a new commercial
building on Hennepin Avenue. The Journal also published an artist’s rendering of the building, calling it a
“Greek type of structure” that was to be erected for W. C. Bissonette. It was also noted that the 68-foot
facade would be of Bedford stone. The building had four storefronts and four apartments on its second
floor. The prominent Minneapolis architectural firm Magney and Tusler was the designer. Although
Bissonette was a contractor the newspaper noted that the building would be constructed by the Ernest
Ganley Com pany

The 1930 Minneapolis city directory listed a beauty parlor and a dry cleaner at 2813—-2817 Hennepin
Avenue. Both the 1949 and 1952 updates to the 1912 Sanborn fire insurance map |nd|cate that all the
storefronts were in use, with one business occupying both of the south storefronts.'

Evaluation

Very little information is available about the Bissonettes. W. C. Bissonette was one of many contractors
involved in construction work in Minneapolis during the 1920s, and he did not appear to have a
particularly distinguished career. While the Bissonettes commissioned the building, they did not live or
work there, and the building’s tenants do not appear to be significant. There is no compelling reason for
the property to be considered eligible for the National Register under Criterion A or Criterion B.

The property is of interest architecturally. The sophisticated detailing that it displays is somewhat unusual
on a relatively modest commercial building. It was designed by Magney and Tusler, a prominent
Minneapolis firm that is best known for designing the Foshay Tower, which was erected only a few years
after the Bissonette Building. While the Bissonette Building demonstrates the skill of these talented
architects, though, it is not a seminal work like the Foshay, and its design does not rise to the level of
significance that makes a compelling case for eligibility under Criterion C in the area of Architecture.

Recommendation

The Emilie Bissonette Building is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.

10 “Weddings,” Minneapolis Tribune, June 26, 1919; W. C. Bissonette Company advertisement,

Minneapolis Tribune, June 13, 1922; Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Minnesota) City
D/rectory, 1930 (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Directory Company, 1930).

“Contract Let for Greek Type Store-Flat Building,” Minneapolis Journal, June 21, 1925.

% Sanborn Map Company, Insurance Maps of Minneapolis, Minnesota, vol. 6 (New York: Sanborn Map
Company, 1912), Sheet 622 (including November 1949 and 1952 updates).
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4.2.3 Norris Creameries

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-3528
Address: 2828 Emerson Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

Norris Creameries is a warehouse/commercial structure located on the west side of Emerson Avenue
along the north edge of the Midtown Greenway. It consists of the original creamery building with a
substantial addition on its north side. The original building is a one-story brick warehouse that is
rectangular in plan. The northeast corner of the building is slightly taller than the main roofline and is
curved. Original windows have been filled in. The one-story modern addition has a band of brick around
its foundation, and modern wood siding covers the remainder of the walls. The west end of the building’s
north wall jogs out and holds the building’s entry, which is highlighted by a square tower with a pyramidal
roof.
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West and north facades of Norris Creameries
with historic portion visible at rear. View to south.

Emerson Avenue South (east) facade of Norris Creameries, 1932
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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Norris Creameries, August 17, 1938
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

New addition at Norris Creameries, August 1947
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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History

The parcel occupied by Norris Creameries has seen a great deal of development. A small frame dwelling
was constructed in 1909, but the following year, a large “milk house” was built on the site for H. C.
Johnson. More additions to the site included a concrete-block garage constructed for Chris W. Johnson in
1917. The owner was later shown to be the Johnson Certified Milk Company.13

By 1921, the company had changed its name to the Johnson Pure Milk Company, and by 1928, Norris
Creameries owned the site. A 1932 photograph of the company showed a small brick building with large
windows and a parapet wall that was taller at the center. Norris continued alterations on the building
during the 1930s. In 1946, Norris Creameries added a 168-foot by 137-foot brick and concrete garage
onto the earlier structure. A 1947 photograph showed the significance of this expansion; the former front
facade of the factory was heavily altered and the entrance moved. Another photograph showed a
modernized interior with painted murals.™

Norton Creameries business no longer exists, and the building has seen extensive alterations in recent
decades. A home improvement store currently occupies the building.

Evaluation

The Norris Creameries property is included within the boundaries for the Chicago, Milwaukee and Saint
Paul Railroad Grade Separation National Register Historic District. The district's period of significance is
from 1912 to 1916. The date of construction for the creamery did not fall within that range, so it was
designated as noncontributing to the district. For this survey, the building was reassessed as an individual
property. Due to the large modern addition and alterations to the original material, its integrity is too
compromised for eligibility under any criterion.

Recommendation

Norris Creameries is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.

3 Minneapolis Building Permits B81884 (dated May 28, 1909), B85704 (dated March 11, 191), B126488
Sdated March 21, 1917), and B140140 (dated January 1, 1920).

4 Minneapolis Building Permits B148038 (dated April 14, 1921), B208816 (dated February 21, 1928),
B215022 (dated March 27, 1929), B223500 (dated August 19, 1930), B224610 (dated October 11, 1930),
and A26981 (dated September 18, 1946); “Norris Creameries, 2824 Emerson Avenue South,
Minneapolis,” location no. Norton and Peel 17292, “Norris Creameries, Incorporated, 2824 Emerson
Avenue South, Minneapolis,” location no. Norton and Peel 99014, and “Mural of North Shore scenes
photographed by Norton and Peel displayed in reception area, Norris Creameries, Minneapolis,” location
no. Norton and Peel 172921, all from Minnesota Historical Society Collections.
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4.2.4 The Buzza Company Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6324
Address: 1006 West Lake Street, Minneapolis

Property Description

The Buzza Company Building is a large, sprawling complex located at the northwest corner of West Lake
Street and Colfax Avenue South. The original portion, which fronts onto West Lake Street, has a flat roof
and a C-shaped plan. The front facade is seven bays wide; the side facades are three bays wide. Each
bay has one large window opening with three modern double-hung replacement windows and a three-
over-one-light transom. Under each window is a band with three recessed panels. The main entrance is
capped with a shallow, decorative, arched hood containing relief sculpture and supported by two
modillions. The roof has a small penthouse and a wide pressed-metal cornice. The first floor is a darker
concrete than the upper floors and is topped with a small cornice.

At the rear of the original portion’s east side is a two-story annex that has an arched, recessed entrance.
This attaches to a three-story, flat-roofed addition that fronts onto Colfax Avenue. Although the latter has
a similar appearance to the Lake Street portion, the addition is shorter. It is sixteen bays wide. The bays
on the first floor are configured like those on the original portion. The windows on the upper two floors are
double-hung with single lights, and the openings are separated by a simple pilaster that runs between the
two floors. The pilasters on the west wall of this part of the addition are rounded with flared capitals.

The east facade of the building has one recessed bay, and its northernmost three bays are part of the
third portion of the building, which extends west toward Dupont Avenue. The footprint, roofline, and
window bays are all irregular. The most prominent portion is a seven-story tower, which has a flat roof, a
very tall penthouse, and a large nameplate that reads “BUZZA.” This addition’s walls are primarily flat and
free of ornamentation, except for the south wall, which has rounded, flared pilasters.

The property includes two other components: a single-story brick garage erected around 1949
(noncontributing) and a tunnel (contributing), which extends north from a parking lot that occupies the
site’s north end. Measuring approximately twenty feet in width and thirteen feet in height, the tunnel
passes beneath Twenty-ninth Street about midway between Dupont and Colfax Avenues. It was
constructed in 1913 to link the Buzza property to the former rail corridor, now the Midtown Greenway,
which is listed in the National Register as the Chicago, Milwaukee and Saint Paul Railroad Grade
Separation Historic District. The grade separation was created between 1912 and 1916, so the tunnel
also falls within the period of significance of that historic district.

During the course of this survey, the Buzza Company Building was nominated to the National Register.
According to the nomination, the “property boundary incorporates its legal description, which is defined as
all of Block 20, and Lots 1 to 6 of Block 29, including adjacent part of alley in the Windoms Addition to
Minneapolis. Additionally, the boundary includes the underground concrete tunnel, twenty feet wide and
thirteen feet high under and across 29th Street, about halfway between Dupont Avenue South and Colfax
Avenue South, connecting said property with the former right-of-way of the Chicago Milwaukee & St. Paul
Railway Company (now owned by the Hennepin County Regional Railroad Authority).”15

'S Jennifer Hembree, “Buzza Company Building,” National Register of Historic Places Registration form,
August 2011, prepared by MacRostie Historic Advisors LLC.
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Above: Lake Street facade and west side of original section.
View to northeast.

Below: Emerson Avenue South (west) facade,
including the tower section. View to northeast.
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Above: West facade (modern building in foreground). View to east.

Below: Tunnel below Twenty-ninth Street at the north end of the
property. The former railroad corridor is on the other side of the tunnel.
View to north.
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Lake Street facade, c. 1920.
Charles J. Hibbard, photographer—Minneapolis Historical Society Collections

The tower section, January 1951
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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Evaluation

During the course of this survey, the Buzza Company Building was nominated to the National Register
under Criterion A in the areas of significance of Industry and Military. It is significant in Industry for its role
as the headquarters of a nationally important greeting card designer and producer, the Buzza Company,
with the period of significance extending from 1923 to 1942. Its period of national Military significance is
from 1942 to 1946, when it was used by various government agencies and contractors, including the

Mi1rgneapolis-HoneyweII Regulator Company, to produce military optics that were important in World War
Il.

On November 1, 2011, the nomination was considered by the Minnesota State Review Board, which
recommended its designation, and the nomination is expected to be approved by the National Park
Service. A developer intends to rehabilitate the property with the assistance of federal and state historic
tax credits.

Recommendation

In accordance with the recent National Register nomination, this property is considered eligible to the
National Register.

'8 Jennifer Hembree, “Buzza Company Building,” National Register of Historic Places registration form,
August 2011, prepared by MacRostie Historic Advisors LLC.
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4.2.5 Bruer Brothers Lumber Company Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-3503
Address: 2836 Lyndale Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

The Bruer Brothers Lumber Company Building is a one-story frame structure on the north side of the
Chicago, Milwaukee and Saint Paul Railroad Grade Separation, a National Register Historic District that
is commonly known as the Midtown Greenway. The building’s front (east) facade has a false front with a
wood cornice at the roofline. The stuccoed facade has no embellishments and has asymmetrically placed
modern doors and windows. The south wall of the building extends down the north side of the Midtown
Greenway, exposing the wall of the subgrade floor. This wall has been finished in modern metal sheeting,
and all windows and doors are modern replacements.
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Bruer Brothers Lumber Company after the 1914 fire
Early Minneapolis Business Firms Photograph Album 2, pages 11-11% —
Minneapolis Collection, Hennepin County Central Library, Minneapolis
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Bruer Brothers Lumber Company after reconstruction
Early Minneapolis Business Firms Photograph Album 2, page 12
Minneapolis Special Collections, Hennepin County Central Library, Minneapolis
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History

On October 1, 1914, after various improvements had been made to its facilities, the Bruer Brothers
Lumber Company suffered a devastating fire that totally destroyed its frame mill. After that loss, the
company decided to build a concrete factory. This, however, did not prevent another large fire in
November 1921 that destroyed the factory. !

The following month, Bruer Brothers took out a permit for “repairs to sash and door factory after [a] fire.”
In January 1922, the company took out a second permit for a 33-foot by 66-foot frame addition to the
factory. On March 19, 1922, Bruer Brothers announced in the Minneapolis Tribune that its “new sash and
door factory is now in operation and we are in a position to give you excellent service. . . . With our
facilities we can furnish your new house complete."18

Evaluation

The Bruer Brothers Lumber Company building is included within the boundaries for the Chicago,
Milwaukee and Saint Paul Railroad Grade Separation National Register Historic District, which has a
period of significance from 1912 to 1916. The building’s construction date of 1921 made it noncontributing
within that district. For this survey, the building was reassessed as an individual property.

The property does not appear to have sufficient significance to merit National Register designation under
any criterion. In addition, its poor integrity would disqualify it from consideration.

Recommendation

The Bruer Brothers Lumber Company Building is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.

i “$125,000 Lumber Yard Blaze Caps Series of Fires,” Minneapolis Tribune, October 2, 1914;
Minneapolis Building Permit B107794 (dated December 12, 1913) and B107896 (dated January 17,
1914); “Flames Destroy Lumber Yard,” Minneapolis Tribune, November 25, 1921.

'8 “Lumber and Mill Work Buyers,” Minneapolis Tribune, March 19, 1922.
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4.2.6 J. F. Thompson House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16541
Address: 2928 Harriet Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

The J. F. Thompson House is a two-story, cross-gable Stick Style frame structure. It has clapboard siding.
The single-story, open front porch has elaborate wood railings and trim and a hipped roof supported by
turned posts. The building’s south wall has a two-story bay. The windows have what may be historic two-
over-one-light storms. The gable end on the front facade is covered in octagonal wood shingles. A large
picture window on the first story has a stained-glass transom.
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History

A Minneapolis building permit from June 1886 shows that J. F. Thompson planned to construct a two-
story dwelling at 2928 Harriet Avenue South. After it was erected, little work was done to the building over
the nex$9few decades except for plumbing and electrical updates. In 1971, the house was converted into a
duplex.

In 2000, the house was lifted to allow the construction of a new foundation. In 2003, a new front porch
was constructed.”

Evaluation

Although the Thompson house initially appears to be a well-preserved example of a Stick Style residence,
a review of building permits indicates that much of the detailing is of new construction. As a result, the
building is not eligible under Criterion C.

Recommendation

The J. F. Thompson House is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.

19 Minneapolis Building Permits B7530 (dated June 21, 1886) and B429308 (dated June 23, 1971);
Minneapolis Building Permit Index for 2829-2830 Harriet Avenue South.

20 Minneapolis Building Permits 3005308 (dated August 31, 2000), 1000736 (dated September 18, 2000),
and 3021180 (dated May 13, 2003).
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4.2.7 Eighth Ward Warehouse

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-15371
Address: 2900 Pleasant Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

The Eighth Ward Warehouse is composed of two one-story, front-gable brick warehouse buildings on the
south side of the Chicago, Milwaukee and Saint Paul Railroad Grade Separation, a National Register
Historic District that is commonly known as the Midtown Greenway. The buildings are connected at their
rear walls by a small concrete addition. The building’s north walls extend along the wall of the Midtown
Greenway. Originally these spaces were open, but they have since been enclosed with concrete block.
The foundation under the upper floors is embellished with round, concrete corbels, and these are topped
with simple brick pilasters located above every fourth corbel. Although the window and door openings are
in their original configuration on the east half of the building, they have modern windows and doors.
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Front (east) facade of the Eighth Ward Warehouse.
View to southwest.

History

The first building documented on the site was a 28-foot by 40-foot frame shop constructed in 1888 for the
Tildew Heating Company. This is most likely the building that appears on the 1912 Sanborn fire insurance
map. At a city council meeting in March 1917, Eighth Ward alderman Frank Heywood moved that the City
of Minneapolis negotiate with the Northern Coal and Dock Company to purchase land the company held
along Pleasant Avenue. It was reported at that time that lots 2, 14, 15, and 16 of Block 5 of the Excelsior
Addition to Minneapolis would cost $9,000.°

City council proceedings do not document when or how the building was constructed, but minutes from
1926 and 1927 mention that insurance was taken out on the building and its contents.”

By 1965, the building was owned by the Twin City Milk Products Association. A permit taken out on
February 25 of that year indicated that remodeling work would take place on the “office bU|Id|ng

Evaluation

The Eighth Ward Warehouse is included within the boundaries of the Chicago, Milwaukee and Saint Paul
Railroad Grade Separation National Register Historic District. The district’s period of significance is from
1912 to 1916. The nomination dates the building at 1927. As this was after the period of significance, the
building was determined as noncontributing to the district. A source for this date is not given, but based
on information from city council proceedings, the building was constructed between 1917 and 1926.

! Minneapolis Building Permit B14449 (dated April 20, 1888); Minneapolis City Council Official
Proceedings, March 9, 1917 (page 176); Sanborn Map Company, Insurance Maps of Minneapolis, vol. 4
gNew York: Sanborn Map Company, 1912), 398.

Minneapolis City Council Official Proceedings, July 30, 1926 (page 71), January 28, 1927 (page 669),
and June 24, 1927 (page 1376).

Mlnneapolls Building Permit B390771 (dated February 25, 1965).
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The lack of documentation on the building makes it difficult to evaluate in the context of Minneapolis’s
history. Without sufficient information, it cannot be justified as eligible under Criterion A.

Architecturally, it is a standard warehouse design without any noteworthy characteristics and it has
suffered from alterations, making it ineligible under Criterion C.

Recommendation

The Eighth Ward Warehouse is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.
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4.2.8 Western Alloyed Steel Casting Company Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-15370
Address: 2848 Pleasant Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

The Western Alloyed Steel Casting Company Building is a large brick factory structure with a large,
modern stucco addition. The building is surrounded by modern landscaping.
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Pleasant Avenue South (east) facade of Western Alloyed Steel Building.
The historic portion of the building is visible at the left. View to southwest.

History

The building was in place before the trench was dug for the Chicago, Milwaukee and Saint Paul Railway’s
grade separation between 1912 and 1916. To accommodate this construction, the building was rebuilt in
1916. In late 2007, Minneapolis developer Basim Sabri proposed converting the building into a ninety-
two-unit condominium complex. The following February, the city council approved the development after
the number of units was reduced to seventy-seven.

Evaluation

The Western Alloyed Steel Casting Company Building is within the boundaries of the Chicago, Milwaukee
and Saint Paul Railroad Grade Separation National Register Historic District. Although the building’s
construction date fell within the period of significance, its poor integrity at the time the nomination was
written caused it to be classified as a noncontributing property. Since that time, the property’s integrity
has been further compromised by its conversion to condominiums. The style of the new addition refers to
Middle Eastern architecture, which is inappropriate for the building’s historic industrial character.

Because new additions to the building were not sympathetically done, worsening the building’s already
low integrity, the Western Alloyed Steel building cannot be considered as ineligible for the National
Register under any criterion.

Recommendation

The Western Alloyed Steel Casting Company Building is recommended as not eligible for the National
Reqgister.

% Steve Brandt, “Sabri’s Latest Plan Stirs the Pot,” Minneapolis Star Tribune, January 11, 2008; Steve
Brandt, “City Council OKs Symbolic Freeze on Home Foreclosures,” Minneapolis Star Tribune, January
19, 2008.
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4.2.9 West Twenty-Ninth Street Workers Housing District

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-17067
Address: West Twenty-ninth Street between Pillsbury and Blaisdell Avenues South

Property Description

Nine single-family houses, one duplex, and one four-unit apartment building were considered as a
potential historic district. This group of residential properties, the West Twenty-ninth Street Workers
Housing District, is located in a generally residential area in the southern portion of the Whittier
neighborhood and is bounded on the south by the Midtown Greenway, a former railroad depressed
corridor converted into recreational trails. To the east is Blaisdell Avenue South, a residential and
commercial corridor. Pillsbury Avenue South is to the west and West Twenty-eighth Street is to the north,
but the district does not extend to either street. The houses are small and vernacular in design, but they
display elements from a variety of styles popular in the late nineteenth century including Italianate, Stick,
Queen Anne, and Four Square. All but two of the buildings fall within the district’s period of significance,
but some are non-contributing due to poor integrity.

The following properties are within the potential historic district and fall within the survey area set by the
APE. The historic names, if available, are provided.

Map Property Name Address Date
B House 114 West 29" Street c.1890
[ Mabel Jackson Duplex 106 West 29" Street 1917
D Charles W. Nicholson

Apartment Building 2828 Blaisdell Avenue South 1916
E House 101 West 29 Street c. 1895
F House 111 West 29 Street c. 1880
G House 115 West 29" Street c.1895
H Elizabeth Smith House 117 West 29" Street 1883
I Elizabeth Smith House 119 West 29 Street 1883
J Elizabeth Smith House 121 West 29" Street 1883
K Elizabeth Smith House 125 West 29" Street 1883

The following property is within the potential district but outside of the APE. As a result, it was not
inventoried.

Map Property Name Address Date

A B. Cooper House 118 West 29" Street pre-1886
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Map showing the boundaries of the potential West Twenty-ninth Street
Workers Housing Historic District. The key for the list is on the previous
table.

111 West Twenty-Ninth Street
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118 West Twenty-ninth Street

119 West Twenty-ninth Street
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History

All of the properties in the West Twenty-ninth Street Workers Housing District are situated in Lindley and
Lingenfelter’'s Addition to Mlnneapolls which was platted in 1873. This area was not annexed by the city,
however, until ten years later.?®

The earliest houses in the district appear to date from the 1880s. The Italianate L-plan house at 118 West
Twenty-ninth Street is identified as the B. Cooper House. In a cultural resources assessment related
improvements to Interstate 35W, this house was given a construction date of 1886. The earliest building
permit for the property, however, is from October of that year. Issued to B. Cooper, it covered $800 worth
of “repairs after heaving two houses,” indicating that the house may have been relocated from another
site. If this is the case, its constructlon was perhaps prior to 1886. The permit lists Cooper as the
“architect” of the house’s woodwork.”®

At 111 West Twenty-ninth Street is another Italianate design with a square footprint. No original building
permit exists for this house, but it appears on an atlas of Minneapolis as early as 1885. Its construction
date has been approximated to be around 1880.%"

The four houses at 117, 119, 121, and 125 West Twenty-ninth are very similar in design—two-story, front-
gable, frame dwellings, with Stick Style trim. According to the I1-35W study, they were constructed in 1883
by contractor Alonzo Kittman and were orlglnally owned by Elizabeth Smith as investment properties.
Smith lived in one of the houses until 1891.

The earliest permit for 117 dates from November 1898 and was issued to owner Mand Herchman for
$150 in repairs to the property. The earliest permit for 119 does not appear until May 1900, when owner
M. P. Water spent $125 to build a frame shed and undertake repairs. The first germits for 121 and 125
are plumbing permits and are dated even later—1907 and 1915, respectively.2

The vernacular Queen Anne house at 114 West Twenty-Ninth does not have an original building permit,
but it was extant by 1904, as evidenced by its earliest building permit. That year, the City of Minneapolis
issued a permit to owner William Chrichton for the construction of a 10-foot by 16-foot by 13-foot, one—
and-one-half-story addition, suggesting that the house had probably been in existence for some time.?

There is one apartment building in the district, and it has one of the last construction dates. In 1916, the
36-foot by 60-foot “plaster veneered flats” at 2828 Blaisdell Avenue South were constructed at a cost of
$7,000 by day laborers. The owner was Charles W. Nicholson and the architect was A. N. Olson. The
following year, the duplex at 106 West Twenty-ninth Street was also constructed by day laborers for
owner Mabel Jackson for $2,500.°

% Marjorie Pearson, Penny Petersen, and Charlene Roise, “The Evolution of the Whittier Neighborhood,”
December 2009, 7, prepared for the Whittier Alliance by Hess, Roise and Company; John R. Borchert,
David Gebhard, David Lanegran, and Judith A. Martin, Legacy of Minneapolis: Preservation Amid
Change (Minneapolis: Voyageur Press, 1983), Figure 4.

Mlnneapolls Building Permlt B8770 (dated October 6, 1886).

2T Will Stark, “111 West 29" Street,” December 2001, Midtown Greenway, Minnesota History-Architecture
Form.

8 Susan Granger, Scott Kelly, and Patricia Murphy, “Historic Context Study for the Standing Structures
Survey of the I-35 W Study Area,” May 1994, prepared by Gemini Research for the Minnesota
Department of Transportation, 91.

Mlnneapolls Building Permits B42152 (dated November 9, 1898), B45864 (dated May 14, 1900),
D34020 (dated April 26, 1907), and D87569 (dated September 7, 1915).

Mlnneapolls Building Permit B60117 (dated August 24, 1904).

Mlnneapolls Building Permits B124096 (dated September 2, 1916) and B127890 (dated May 23, 1917)
On the construction permit, 106 West Twenty-ninth Street was identified as a “plaster veneered duplex.”
New siding was placed on the house in 1950. See Minneapolis Building Permit M98904 (dated July 20,
1950).
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Evaluation

The small, vernacular residences along West Twenty-ninth Street incorporate elements from building
styles popular during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Alone, the properties are
comparatively unremarkable, but together, they form a distinct group of modest housing that was
apparently occupied by working-class families and individuals.

Very little information, though, is available on these properties and their inhabitants. The available
documentation shows that the properties were constructed or moved to the site by their owners
individually—the exception being the Stick style houses at 117—125. Consequently, there is not a
significant development pattern that sets this district apart from any other working-class neighborhood in
South Minneapolis.

The construction dates of many of the houses are unknown; most have to be estimated. While most of
the properties appear to have been built between 1880 and 1895, two (106 West Twenty-ninth Street and
2828 Blaisdell Avenue South) are from 1916-1917, creating a relatively large gap in construction activity
that diminishes the cohesion of the group. In addition, three properties—101, 114, and 115 West Twenty-
Ninth Street—have integrity issues because of alterations that removed historic materials and modified
the original design. This further diminishes the potential for a National Register district,

Recommendation

The Twenty-ninth Street Workers Housing District is recommended as not eligible for the National
Register.
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4.2.10 Duplex

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16092
Address: 2825 First Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

The two-story, frame, two-unit residence has a front gable roof that extends over a two-story front porch.
The open porch is edged by four fluted columns with lonic capitals that have bands with egg-and-dart and
acanthus leaf motifs. The columns support the dentillated entablature of a Neoclassical pediment, but the
interior of the pediment has been covered with modern fiberboard siding. The porch on the second floor
has a railing with turned posts. The front facade displays both historic beadboard and modern siding. The
secondary facades are covered in modern siding.
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History

The original building permit for this structure is not available. The first building permit associated with the
property is for electrifying the residence. It was issued on November 21, 1904, to the Bell Electric
Company.

The dwelling appears to predate this permit by at least four years as activities of a resident, Mrs. J. N.
Ryker, were mentioned in the Minneapolis Tribune as early as July 1900. That month, her mother and
sister, Mary and Carrie Bray, visited her at her residence at 2825 First Avenue South. The following year,
the Tribune noted that Mr. and Mrs. H. J. Warnike were living at that address. In 1908, Mrs. Georg;e S.
Koffend was a resident. These announcements indicate that the occupants had social ambitions. 3

A variety of permits were issued for the property over the years. In August 1919, for example, an outside
“grade door and platform” was constructed by contractor William Benson. On September 4 of that year,
the city issued two plumbing permits. A one-and-one-half-story barn at the rear of the lot was converted
into a garage between 1930 and 1951.%

Evaluation

The late nineteenth-century residence at 2825 First Avenue South has a two-story front porch that uses
Classical ornamentation. While the two-story columned porch gives the property an impressive
appearance, the house has had alterations over time that diminish its integrity. Infill obscures the
pediment of the temple front, the key feature of the otherwise vernacular design of this house.

The architect of the building is unknown, so it cannot be considered as “the work of a master.” Although
well done, the design does not have “high artistic value.” Therefore, the property at 2825 First Avenue
South does not appear to be eligible under Criterion C.

Recommendation

The property at 2825 First Avenue South is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.

%2 Minneapolis Building Permit F11229 (dated November 21, 1904).

3B 4n Society,” Minneapolis Tribune, July 22, 1900; “Social and Personal,” Minneapolis Tribune, January
11, 1901; “Social and Club Events—Personal News Notes,” Minneapolis Tribune, November 25, 1908.
3 Minneapolis Building Permits B137948 (dated August 22, 1919), D120498 and D120499 (dated
September 4, 1919); Sanborn Map Company, Insurance Maps of Minneapolis, Minn., vol. 4 (New York:
Sanborn Map Company, 1912), Sheet 400 (1930 and 1951 revisions).
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4.2.11 Minneapolis Fire Station No. 8

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6030
Address: 2749 Blaisdell Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

Minneapolis Fire Station No. 8 is located between a residential neighborhood to the west and the
commercial corridor of Nicollet Avenue to the east. The walls of the two-story, flat-roofed building are of
variegated light-brown brick. On the front facade, large folding doors fill all three bays on the first floor.
The brick pilasters between the bays and at the corners are ornamented vertical limestone bands topped
by stylized scrolls showing the influence of the Streamline Moderne style. This is further emphasized by
the projecting limestone surround around the center door, which is inscribed: "M. F. D. Station No. 8."
Smooth, flush limestone bands run horizontally above all three doors and connect the capitals of the
pilasters. The parapet is capped by limestone coping. The one-over-one modern windows on the front
facade of the second floor are paired.*

% part of the description excerpted from Pearson, Petersen, and Roise, "The Evolution of the Whittier
Neighborhood," 22.
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History

Minneapolis had no fire department until 1868 and only a volunteer force until 1879. Water pressure,
supplied to hydrants by pumps at Saint Anthony Falls, was unreliable and facilities were very limited until
1872, when firefighters walked out in protest. Conditions improved rapidly under the direction of Chief
Winslow Brackett, and within a few years the volunteer service ranked as one of the best in the country,
with permanent stations to house upgraded equipment.®®

Some good things came out of the economic depression of the 1930s. Federal relief funds targeted
construction projects that replaced aging public buildings while providing employment. These objectives
were behind the city’s plans to replace three obsolete fire stations, all built in the 1880s. Two of the
stations were in North Minneapolis—Station No. 4 at Twelfth Avenue North between Washington Avenue
and North Third Street, and Station No. 14 at North Fourth Street and Twenty-first Avenue North. (The
location of the latter was later changed to Thirty-third Street just east of James Avenue North.) The third
was at the corner of Blaisdell Avenue South and East Twenty-eighth Street. All of the stations had engine
companies, according to the fire department’s 1889 annual report. Both Station No. 4 and Station No. 8
had a hook and ladder company as well, while Station No. 8 and Station No. 14 had chemical engine
companies. Station No. 4 served downtown Minneapolis and the industrial area to the north and west.”’

In September 1938, the city applied for a grant from the federal Public Works Administration (PWA) to
upgrade the three stations. Station No. 8 was rebuilt on its original site. The building permit index for the
property does not list a permit from this period, but the building appears to be a mirror image of Station
No. 4, for which a building permit was issued in May 1939. That permit reported that the steel and
concrete structure of Station No. 4 was 75 feet wide, 102 feet deep, and 30 feet high (a relatively tall two
stories). The estimated cost for the construction was $80,000, plus about $15,000 for steam heating,
plumbing, electrical work, and lath and plaster finishing.38

All of the new stations were in operation by 1940. According to a survey of the city’s fire stations
completed in 1944, Station No. 8 “is modern and well arranged throughout, and is well set back and
egress is excellent to streets carrying rather heavy traffic.” An assistant chief oversaw the station, which
had “a pumper, and an aerial truck temporarily replaced by a service truck, in active service, and a
pumper and a hose tender in reserve.”®

Evaluation

Station No. 8 exemplifies an important phase of the evolution of the Minneapolis Fire Department,
representing the city’s efforts to upgrade its collection of fire stations with federal work relief funds. The
three stations built with the assistance of PWA funds in 1939-1940 featured a similar design, as did
Station No. 17, built a year later with a subsequent PWA grant at 821 East Thirty-fifth Street in South
Minneapolis. Stations No. 14 and No. 17, though, were of a smaller scale, only two bays wide. Although
both survive, neither remain in use today by the fire department. Stations No. 8 and No. 4, however, still
serve their original function and retain good integrity, and both could be considered locally significant in
the area of Government. There is nothing that specifically distinguishes them from any other fire station in
Minneapolis in this context, however, so their significance is not great enough to merit National Register
designation. Their significance can also be considered in the context of Federal Relief Construction in
Minnesota, 1933-1941. The multiple property documentation form for this context provides stringent
registration requirements for government buildings “due to the large number of surviving resources, and
because many Government Buildings may be considered historically significant for their association with

% Richard Heath, Mill City Firefighters—The First Hundred Years, 1879—1979 (Minneapolis: Extra Alarm
Association of the Twin Cities, 1981), 7.

%" Ibid., 148-149.

% Ibid.; Minneapolis Building Permit B257418 (dated May 10, 1939). An original building permit is not
available for Station No. 8, but it was most likely constructed at the same time as Station No. 4 as their
agppearances are identical.

% Heath, Mill City Firefighters, 148—149; Adrian Huyck notebook, Minneapolis Fire Department, 1957-
1965, available at Minneapolis Collection, Hennepin County Central Library.
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the unprecedented federal response to the Great Depression.” For a government building to be eligible
under Criterion A, it must represent “a particularly important project through the size and scope of the
work involved, or by the number of people employed; or the project should represent a significant
contribution to the community by providing a new and modern facility which offered programs, amenities,
or community services which were previously unavailable.” Station No. 8 does not meet this test, and it
does not qualify under any of the other registration requirements.

Recommendation

Minneapolis Fire Department Station No. 8 is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.
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4.2.12 Frenz Brake Service

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16809
Address: 2749 Nicollet Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

Frenz Brake Service is a flat-roofed commercial building located at the northeast corner of Nicollet
Avenue and West Twenty-eighth Street. The walls of the one-story automobile repair shop are covered
with stucco, and the parapet wall along the roofline has terra-cotta coping. An angled storefront with large
windows faces the intersection; above this is a pressed metal sign reading “Frenz Brake Service” in
stylized modern lettering. The east portion of the building that fronts onto West Twenty-eighth Street has
four service bays. The north wall of the building abuts 2743 Nicollet Avenue, an older, three-story, brick
commercial building.
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History

The earliest recorded structure on this site was a 14-foot by 22-foot brownstone and wood dwelling with
an 8-foot by 20-foot shed, constructed in September 1884. This remained on the site for forty years until it
was demollshed to make way for a 16-foot by 30-foot brick filling station, which was built by Sinclair Oil in
1924 %

Sinclair Oil’s filling station was in use for twenty years until it was demolished by the George Cook
Construction Company. The same company then erected a much larger concrete-block filling station,
which measured 27 feet by 100 feet and cost $15,000. The Aagard Sign Company built and installed a
“flatwise” metal sign above the building’s entrance reading “Frenz Brake Service.” George Evan Frenz
was apparently a co-owner of the shop. In 1946, his father, George L Frenz was operating an
automobile repair shop at 2907 Nicollet Avenue, a block to the south.*

Evaluation

As motoring grew in popularity, filling stations and automobile repair shops became a necessity on the
American landscape, much to the displeasure of those who thought they were a visual blight. In
response, during the first three decades of the twentieth century, these buildings were often designed to
blend into a residential neighborhood.

This approach began to change by the 1930s. K. Lonberg-Holm published a technical report in the June
1930 issue of Architectural Record that discussed the most efficient design for maximum profitability. The
article featured a prototype known as the “box-type station” that had an operator’'s room and service bays
flanking a central entrance. The Architectural Forum stated that this flat-roofed design was “clean,
unassuming, and has the inestimable virtue of looking like a filling station.” As later scholars observed:
“Their simple, spare lines and sleek materials were in keeping with the design of the era’s autos
themselves and broadcast their function as gas stations that earlier domestic and civic designs failed to
do.”

The large plate-glass windows provided unobstructed views of approaching vehicles to facilitate quicker
service and they acted as storefront windows to display the newest merchandise in the shop. Tires,
batteries, and accessories became an important part of sales during the 1930s. According to Lonberg-
Holm, a corner location was the most desirable site for a service station due to its V|S|b|I|ty

Frenz Brake Service is an example of the box-type station popularized during the 1930s and 1940s. It is a
flat-roofed building with a central entrance bracketed, on one side, by the operator’'s room/waiting room
with large storefront windows, and, on the other side, multiple service bays. Its minimal ornamentation
reflects the Streamline Moderne style.

Frenz Brake Service, however, was built sixteen years after the publication of Lonberg-Holm'’s article in
Architectural Record, so it is not from first generation of box-type stations when the concept was new and
revolutionary. Also, the building permit indicates that the business was originally a garage and a filling
station. Although the use of the building is still automobile-related, there is no extant historic material (gas
pumps, canopy, etc.) denoting its original use as a filling station.

40 Minneapolis Building Permits B2049 (dated September 19, 1884) and B184825 (dated December 2,
1924).
41 Minneapolis Building Permits 15496 (March 22, 1946), B287006 (dated March 29, 1946), and H22822
sdated July 29, 1946); “Obituaries,” Minneapolis Star Tribune, January 30, 2005.

Jim Draeger and Mark Speltz, Fill ‘Er Up: The Glory Days of Wisconsin Gas Stations (Madison, Wisc.:
W|scon3|n Historical Society Press, 2008), 37.

Draeger and Speltz, Fill ‘Er Up, 38.
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The windows, an important part of the box-type station’s design, are modern replacements. The stucco
on the walls is also relatively new. Historic records do not indicate whether the concrete-block walls were
originally covered with stucco.

Although Frenz Brake Service typifies all the qualities of the box-type gas station, it does not date from
the first generation of this type; it is one of the more common later examples. Later alterations and loss of
historic materials has negatively affected its integrity making it not eligible under Criterion C as an
example of a box-type gas station.

Recommendation

Frenz Brake Service is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.
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4.2.13 William H. Baily Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16807
Address: 2743 Nicollet Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

The William H. Baily Building is three stories in height. The front facade is faced in dark red brick, while
the side facades are common buff-colored brick. The first story is commercial space and has two large
storefronts. Both have been extensively remodeled. Centered in the facade between the storefronts is a
door to a stairway that provides access to the upper floors. The doorway is topped by a carved stone
lintel. The two upper floors, which are three bays wide, are residential. Each bay holds two windows. The
central bay has arched window openings. The two exterior bays each bow out slightly, forming a shallow
bay that is capped with dentillated copper roofs at the third floor. All window openings have stone sills.
Stepped bricks form a bracketed cornice at the roofline. This is bookended by large brick brackets that
top narrow pilasters edging the facade. All windows on the upper floors are double hung; some historic
windows are extant, while other openings have modern replacement windows.
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History

A permit for the construction of the building at 2743 Nicollet Avenue is not available, but advertisements
for renting space in the building began appearing in the Minneapolis Tribune in 1890. In September of
that year, Baily and Company, a real estate firm with an office in Minneapolis’s Boston Block, advertised a
seven-room flat complete “with all modern conveniences” for onIy $1O The following year, one of the
storefronts, which included the basement, also became available.**

In 1903, the company looked to profit from leasing the exterior as well as the interior of the building,
offering a “brick wall space for advertising purposes " Interested parties could contact W. H. Baily, who
had an office in the New York Life BU|Id|ng

The owner of the building was William Hadley Baily, who was involved in Minneapolis’s real estate market
for many years. Baily was born in Green County, Pennsylvania, on September 11, 1832. In 1864, he
married Virginia Patterson in Uniontown, Fayette County, Pennsylvania. There they had their first three
children: Henry (1867), Caroline (1872), and William (1877). Bally, his wife, and their eldest child appear
in the 1870 federal census, which gives Baily’s occupation as “retired druggist. "4

By 1879, the family had relocated to Minneapolis. A notice in the Minneapolis Tribune announced that
Bailey and two other men, L. H. Green and H. H. Newlon, had formed a firm called Green, Newlon and
Company “for the purpose of transacting fire insurance business.” The company had an office in the
Athenaeum Library Building. In the 1880 federal census, Baily listed his occupation as “fire i msurance
agent.” Later that year, his daughter Mary was born, His last child, Ella, followed four years later.*”

By 1882, Baily seems to have branched out into real estate, forming the firm of Baily and Groos with Fred
Groos, located at 209 Nicollet Avenue. By 1886, Baily appears to have partnered with a man name
Brackett. The following year, he became vice president of a new organization comprising around fifty-nine
real estate firms housed in the Boston Block Building at 304 Hennepin. “The object of their union [was] to
concentrate their several deals among themselves and fraternizing together in a bond, which, it [was]
hoped, will be beneficial to all members.”*® It was apparently a few years after this that he erected or
purchased the three-story commercial-residential building at 2743 Nicollet.

As the decade drew to close, the Baily family was prestigious enough to have their activities reported in
the Tribune. Readers were informed, for example, when Mrs. Baily and their youngest daughter took
numerous lengthy trips to the East Coast and the Gulf of Mexico. In the 1895 Minnesota census, Baily
identified his occupatlon as money Ioaner and on the federal census five years later, he was listed as
being involved in “mortgage and loans.”

A 1905 Minneapolis Journal article said that for many years Baily had “been in the real estate and loaning
business at the New York Life building and [had] been a prominent officer of the Westminster
Presbyterian church,” a well-established congregation. His son, Henry, was a lawyer, who shared an
office with his father. The fam|Iy all lived together in a flat at 140 Laurel Avenue. The Tribune described
the seventy-year-old Baily as “a man of many friends.”*

* Classified advertisement, Minneapolis Tribune, September 28, 1890; classified advertisement,
aneapolls Tribune, August 6, 1891.

Clas3|f|ed advertisement, Minneapolis Tribune, October 18, 1903.

Ancestry com, “Descendants of George and Alice Maris,” http://wc.rootsweb.ancestry.com/cgi-
bln/|gm cgi?op=GET&db=maris&id=19460 (accessed May 4, 2011)

” Classified advertisement, Minneapolis Tribune, August 2, 1879; “Descendants of George and Alice
Gossip about Town,” Minneapolis Tribune, December 22, 1882; classified advertisement, Minneapolis
Tribune, September 16, 1883; classified advertisement, Minneapolis Tribune, December 8, 1886; “The
Clty,” Minneapolis Tribune, July 23, 1887.

“It Was a Gay Week,” Minneapolis Tribune, February 24, 1889; “The Week in Society,” Minneapolis
Tribune, August 10, 1890; “Social Mlscellany, Minneapolis Tribune, November 16, 1890.

%0 “well-known Man Drops from View,” Minneapolis Journal, September 21, 1905.
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When Baily passed away from paralysis on February 11, 1908, the Tribune reported that his residence
was 2743 Nicollet Avenue, indicating that he retained ownership of the building until the time of his death.
Baily was buried at Oak Grove Cemetery in his hometown of Uniontown, Pennsylvania. He was preceded
in death by his wife, Virginia, and his son, William, who died as an infant.”’

Evaluation

William Hadley Baily was a successful businessman who came to Minneapolis during its early decades
and capitalized on its burgeoning fire insurance market before branching out into real estate. As
evidenced by the fifty-nine real estate firms that worked in the Boston Block in the 1880s, though, he was
one of many men involved in that industry in Minneapolis in the late nineteenth century. He is an early
owner of 2743 Nicollet and is most likely responsible for its construction, but no documentation could be
found to confirm this.

Although his family was socially prominent enough to have their activities reported in newspapers, neither
the Minneapolis Tribune nor the Minneapolis Journal printed more than a short death notice when he
passed way. Were he an important businessman or a citizen of note, he would have received a full
obituary. Therefore, while Baily was a respected local businessman, he was not a leading businessman in
Minneapolis during his lifetime and the building is not significant for its association with him under
Criterion B.

The building has interesting architectural details that refer to the Italianate style, but the design is
subdued, the architect is unknown, and the integrity is compromised. There are better examples of the
Italianate style with higher integrity in Minneapolis, making this building ineligible under Criterion C.

Recommendation

The William H. Baily Building is recommended as not eligible the National Register.

51 4n Society,” Minneapolis Tribune, June 21, 1906; “Died,” Minneapolis Tribune, February 14, 1908;

Waynesburg (Penn.) Republican, February 20, 1908 (available at http://www.fordyce.org/genealogy/
GCRecords/Republican.html).
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4.2.14 Professional Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16797
Address: 2701 Nicollet Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

The one-story professional building is located at the southeast corner of Nicollet Avenue and East
Twenty-Seventh Street. The building has a dynamic zigzag footprint and is positioned so that both of its
main facades face towards the intersection while the entrances are accessible from the sidewalks. The
flat roof cantilevers out over the entrances. These canopies, as well as the corners of the roof’'s wide
eaves, have narrow brick supports with square punch-outs. The walls are buff-colored brick laid in a stack
bond. The window openings are emphasized by one row of bricks in a rowlock bond. On the longer
facades, bands of casement windows run beneath the eaves. Other facades have large picture windows
or larger single-pane windows.
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Exterior of 2701 Nicollet Avenue, December 19, 1949
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

Exterior of 2701 Nicollet Avenue, December 19, 1949
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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Waiting Room, 2701 Nicollet Avenue, December 19, 1949
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

Waiting Room, 2701 Nicollet Avenue, December 19, 1949
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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Dentist’s Office, 2701 Nicollet Avenue, December 19, 1949
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

Dentist’s Office, 2701 Nicollet Avenue,
December 19, 1949
Norton and Peel, photographers—
Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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History

Lots 1 and 2 of Block 7 of Carson’s Addition to Minneapolis were vacant in 1948, when the city issued a
permit to Dr. Arthur W. Swanson, dentist, and Dr. Youbert Johnson, physician, to construct a 126-foot by
95-foot, one-story office and medical clinic building on the property. Sebco, Inc., was the contractor for
the project, which was estimated to cost $50,000. The permit did not list an architect. One week later, the
city issued a second permit for a 39-foot by 25-foot attached garage, also to be constructed by Sebco. It
was anticipated that the building would be completed by the beginning of 1949.%

According to the Minneapolis city directory for 1950, Dr. Swanson and Dr. Johnson had offices in the
clinic, as did Dr. John H. Bonbright, dentist, Dr. Henry F. Cole, dentist, and Dr. George F. Schmidt,
physician. Two years later, only Swanson and Cole remained from that group, joined by dentist Jacob van
Arx. In 1960, Swanson continued to practice out of the building along with four other dentists—Aina Kiris,
Henry G. Kaspar, Anders Finncold, and Imants Niels. Dr. Youbert Johnson had returned to the building
along with another physician, Flora Mattson. The following year, the city issued Johnson a permit to repair
fire damage at the clinic. Engberg served as the contractor.”

Evaluation

The historic photographs from 1949 show that the building’s exterior has very good integrity of design.
(The interior was not evaluated.) Because the building is still in use as medical offices, it also has integrity
of association.

The architect for the building is unknown. Therefore, it cannot be assessed under Criterion C for its
importance within an architect’'s body of work. It can be assessed as a representative example of its style.
Constructed in 1948, the medical clinic is an early small-scale commercial interpretation of the Modernist
style, indicated by its flat roof, dynamic, angular walls, cantilevered canopies, and ribbon windows. The
design is not outstanding enough, though, to merit an individual listing on the National Register under
Criterion C as an example of the Modernist Style in commercial architecture.

Recommendation

The building at 2701 Nicollet Avenue is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.

52 Minneapolis Building Permits B302139 (dated September 16, 1948) and B302328 (September 27,
1948); Minneapolis Special Council Permit 30941 (dated September 29, 1948).

% Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Hennepin County, Minn.) City Directory, 1950 (Saint
Paul: Minneapolis Directory Company, 1950); Minneapolis Directory Company's Minneapolis (Hennepin
County, Minn.) City Directory, 1952 (Saint Paul: Minneapolis Directory Company, 1952); Polk's
Minneapolis (Hennepin County, Minn.) City Directory, 1960 (Saint Paul: R. L. Polk and Company, 1960);
Minneapolis Building Permit B375990 (dated September 12, 1961).

Phase I/Phase Il Architectural History Investigation for the Proposed Southwest Transitway Project—Hennepin County, Minnesota—February 2012
Volume Two—Section 4.2-55



4.2.15 Calvary Baptist Church

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6027
Address: 2608 Blaisdell Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

A substantial composition of brick and stone, Calvary Baptist Church dominates the intersection of
Blaisdell Avenue and West Twenty-sixth Street. Built between 1888 and 1928, the composition displays
characteristics of the Romanesque Revival and Gothic Revival. At the southwest corner of the
intersection is the building’s tall bell tower, square in plan and capped with an ornate cornice, pointed
finials, and a steeply pitched spire. A gabled entry in the tower’s west side is approached by a long flight
of stairs. A turret-like bay is just to the south. The gabled ends of the main worship space front on
Blaisdell and Twenty-sixth Street, flanking the tower. An arched, tripartite arrangement of stained-glass
window fills much of each facade, with smaller windows above. The building extends to the west and to
the parish house to the south in a series of irregular sections that create a picturesque composition. The
walls are red brick throughout, with stone trim appearing on window sills, door surrounds, and string
courses.

Phase I/Phase Il Architectural History Investigation for the Proposed Southwest Transitway Project—Hennepin County, Minnesota—February 2012
Volume Two—Section 4.2-56



Interior of auditorium, Calvary Baptist Church, probably early twentieth
century
Minneapolis Collection, Hennepin County Central Library, Minneapolis

Calvary Baptist Church, March 2, 1953
Norton and Peel, photographers—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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History

The beginning of Calvary Baptist Church can be traced to 1881 when Reverend Henry N. Herrick, a
retired Baptist minister, organized the “Herrick Mission,” a non-denominational Sunday school. Classes
were held in a school building at Twenty-sixth Street and Nicollet Avenue, which was outside the city
limits at the time. Assisted by his family and members of the First Baptist Church, the endeavor was
recognized by the city’s Baptist Union as the Nicollet Avenue Mission. Soon after, a mission chapel site
was selected at Twenty-sixth and Blaisdell, “anticipating the growth of the city in that direction.” Zelora E.
Brown of First Baptist Church, who was in the real estate industry, purchased the two lots for $1,300
before selling them to First Baptist for $2,000.The site was maintained as the location for the mission’s
chapel, a building purchased from another congregation and relocated from Hennepin Avenue and Tenth
Street. It was officially named Calvary Baptist Church of Minneapolis in 1883 and incorporated as “The
Trustees of Calvary Baptist Church of Minneapolis” in May 1885.>

By 1886, the congregation was outgrowing its little mission chapel, and it adopted plans for a new church
with a budget not to exceed $25,000, including furnishings. Prominent members of the church, including
George Alfred Pillsbury, donated $500 each to help the cost. Construction began in August 1888. The
new edifice was designed by Warren H. Hayes, a Minneapolis architect who specialized in churches. He
had recently designed First Congregational Church and Wesley United Methodist Church. His design
followed the popular “Akron plan,” in which a two-story semi-circular auditorium was surrounded by
educational rooms on the second floor that could be closed off by sliding doors or similar partitions. This
first portion was constructed along Twenty-sixth Street, but Hayes envisioned the eventual construction of
a 1,200-seat auditorium to the east towards Blaisdell Avenue. Unfortunately, he would not see this
accomplished during his lifetime.>®

The congregation eagerly watched as the building was erected. Although the church had a membership
of 208, the new edifice would have a capacity of five hundred in anticipation of future growth. When the
footings were laid, Pastor Gulian Lansing Morrill ceremonially placed a copy of the Bible underneath a
footing stone. On February 17, 1889, the congregation held its first service in the new structure. Costing
$23,065, the construction had come in well under budget. The exterior of the church was completed the
following year.56

By the turn of the century, the chapel had reached full capacity—membership totaled 532 in 1900—and
an expansion of the facilities was necessary. In 1902-1903, an auditorium was attached. On February 21,
1903, the Minneapolis Tribune announced that the new facility, which “cost about fifty thousand dollars,
without the organ,” would be dedicated the next day. “While the original plans were made by the late
Warren H. Hayes,” who passed away in 1899, “the work of completing the building has been under the
immediate supervision of Architect Harry W. Jones of this city, who is largely responsible for the excellent
results obtained.” Jones had joined the church on May 20, 1889, coming from First Baptist, Calvary’s
mother congregation. He was an active member of the congregation, serving as Calvary’s first chief

54 “Calvary Church: 1879-1979, Our Centennial Year,” pamphlet, and G. Bradford Dunn, “Calvary
Church: 1879-1979, A Centennial History of Calvary Baptist Church,” presented at the Centennial
Celebration, May 6, 1979, booklet, 2—3, both from Calvary Baptist Church file, Minneapolis Collection,
Hennepin County Central Library, Minneapolis.

% Dunn, “Calvary Church,” 4-5; Alan K. Lathrop, Minnesota Architects: A Biographical Dictionary
(Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2010), 97; Jonathan Kalstrom, “Historic Churches, Part 7:
Calvary Baptist Church,” Lake Area (Minneapolis, Minn.), March 1998, 42; Christopher Stephen Jenks,
“American Religious Buildings: The Akron Plan Sunday School,” Common Bond: New York Landmarks
Conservancy (December 1995), available at http://www.sacredplaces.org/PSP-InfoClearingHouse/
articles/American%20Religious%20Buildings.htm (accessed April 27, 2011); Larry Millett, AIA Guide to
the Twin Cities (Saint Paul: Minnesota Historical Society Press, 2007), 211.

%6 Dunn, “Calvary Church,” 5-6.
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usher, as well as a deacon (1890-1896, 1899-1910), the Sunday school superintendent (1894-1897),
and a music committee member (1895—1896).57

Regardless of Jones’s involvement, Hayes appears to have had a significant influence on the design of
the new auditorium at Calvary. The altar stood on a podium in the front, clearly the focal point at the
convergence of the auditorium’s walls. His obituary noted that he “originated the ‘diagonal’ plan of church
construction, now conceded to be the best for most churches.” During his career, Hayes used the
diagonal plan in the design of about twenty churches in Minneapolis. ®

Ten years later, in 1913, Harry Wild Jones assisted the congregation in fundraising for a new pipe organ,
which would cost $5,000 plus $1,500 to install. He appealed to his friend, the famous industrialist and
philanthropist Andrew Carnegie. Carnegie’s donation “came unexpected” to the congregation within a
week after the donation campaign had started. His gift, when added to the pre-existing amount, created a
surplus of $1,100 after the organ’s installation.>®

During World War I, Calvary found itself with its highest membership ever. Part of this was due to the
disbanding of Central Baptist Church in June 1918 after thirty-four years in existence. When Central’s
church building was sold, 196 of its members came to Calvary and half of the proceeds of the building’s
sale went into Calvary’s Building Fund. Due the increasing number of parishioners, discussion of a new
building had already begun the year before at Calvary.®

By the 1920s, nearly fourteen hundred adult members alone jammed into Calvary for Sunday service and
weekday events. Calvary knew expansion was a necessity, but the process to build an addition was slow.
In 1927, a parish house committee that had been meeting for six years, finally recommended the erection
of a new building costing between $60,000 and $70,000. In December of that year, a $55,000 mortgage
was taken out on the church’s property. Jones designed the parish house, which was dedicated on May
2, 1928, the same year that Calvary celebrated its forty-fifth anniversary. The actual cost for the new
structure, furnishings, and decoration came in over budget, totaling $77,900.%"

The 1920s represented the peak of membership at Calvary and it would also be the last era of major
construction on the building. In 1933, the parish celebrated a half-century in Minneapolis, but the
membership had dropped to 800. By the dawn of World War I, it had dropped further still to 645. This
was just a foreshadowing of the dramatic changes in population that urban centers would experience in
the postwar suburban exodus that would lead to closure of many inner-city churches as their membership
numbers drops to unsustainable levels.®

In his 1944 book Minneapolis Churches, H. Paul Douglass wrote that nearly one-third of Calvary’s
members lived more than four miles away from the church, indicating that the concept of the
“neighborhood church” was quickly disappearing as the automobile widened residential and religious

57 «

Calvary Baptist Church to Be Dedicated Tomorrow,” Minneapolis Tribune, February 21, 1903; Carole
Zellie, “Calvary Baptist Church,” City of Minneapolis Heritage Preservation Commission Registration
Form, 1994, prepared by Landscape Research; Dunn, “Calvary Church,” 6, 21. Jones’s daughter, Mary
White Jones Smith, was one of the longest-standing members of the Calvary Baptist Church at the time
of her death of in 1981, having been baptized there on November 13, 1898.

%8 “Death of Warren H. Hayes,” Minneapolis Tribune, August 29, 1899; Charlene Roise and Christine
Curran, “Westminster Presbyterian Church,” National Register of Historic Places Nomination form, 1998,
8-8, prepared by Hess, Roise and Company.

%9 “Andrew Carnegie Gives $1,750 to Assist Minneapolis Church Purchase New Organ,” Minneapolis
Tribune, May 12, 1913; “Calvary Baptist Church Installs New Pipe Organ,” Minneapolis Tribune, October
18, 1913; Dunn, “Calvary Church,” 8; Elizabeth Vandam, Harry Wild Jones: American Architect
gMinneapoIis: Nodin Press, 2008), 71.

° Dunn, “Calvary Church: 1879-1979,” 8-9.

o1 “Calvary Church: 1879-1979, Our Centennial Year”; Dunn, “Calvary Church,” 11; Vandam, Harry Wild
Jones, 71; Millet, AIA Guide to the Twin Cities, 211.

62 Dunn, “Calvary Church,” 12.
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options. If Calvary was no longer anchored to the neighborhood, parishioners questioned whether they
should stay in the Whittier neighborhood, which was experiencing a socioeconomic decline.®®

In 1958, Calvary celebrated its silver anniversary. By this time, the American drive to leave the city was
strong. This influence had reached Calvary’s parishioners: “There was some feeling that Calvary should
move to the suburbs, possibly purchasing an existing building.” A committee examined the Richfield
Lutheran Building at West Fifty-eighth Street and Wentworth Avenue, situated just outside of
Minneapolis’s boundary. At a succeeding church meeting, however, the parishioners voted to remain at
their current building. Bucking the trend of many churches to flee to the suburbs for the sake of
convenience, “it was the feeling of the congregation that, although it would take more effort on the part of
[the] members to stay, there was a definite need for inner city churches and that Calvary should not
abandon the inner city.”64

Staying would come at a cost. The church required maintenance, and when John Wesley Forsline
became Calvary’s senior pastor in 1970, he began a campaign of rehabilitation. The first priority was the
exterior including repairing the steeple and the roof, repointing the brick, and placinG% storms on the
windows. Interior work such as wiring, plumping, and painting was also completed.

Between the end of the World War Il and 1977, more than seventy congregations had left the inner city of
Saint Paul and Minneapolis for “better” environs in the suburbs. Calvary, however, was determined to
remain in Whittier as it had for nearly a century, choosing to adapt with the evolving neighborhood rather
than abandon it. In 1978, a fundraising effort called “Summer of 1978” was undertaken to prepare the
church for its centennial year with landscaping work and youth programs.66

Today, Calvary Baptist Church continues its inner-city mission, still housed in the 123-year-old church on
Blaisdell Avenue, as strongly ensconced within the Whittier neighborhood as it was when the
congregation was founded.

Evaluation

Calvary Baptist Church has been an intrinsic part of the Whittier neighborhood since its earliest days as a
Sunday school. In its 130-year history, the congregation has had connections with some of Minneapolis’s
most prominent citizens, including George Alfred Pillsbury and Harry Wild Jones. After World War I,
when many urban congregations chose to leave the inner city for the convenience of the suburbs, the
parishioners of Calvary made the conscientious decision to remain in Whittier.

As a functioning church, the property must be evaluated under Criteria Consideration A: Religious
Properties, for “a religious property requires justification on architectural, artistic, or historic grounds.” To
be eligible on historic grounds, it would have to be “directly associated with either a specific event or a
broad pattern in the history of religion.” Calvary is one of the longest-standing Baptist congregations in the
city, one of the few that chose to remain in the inner city rather than relocate to the suburbs after World
War Il. For 120 years, it has maintained its facility at a prominent intersection in South Minneapolis, using
a leading local architect, Warren Hayes, for its original construction, and tapping another major local
architect and congregant, Harry Wild Jones, for the parish house. It represents the congregation’s
substantial commitment to creating a high-quality setting to enhance the religious experience. It also
highlights the permanence, the commitment to place, that the congregation has remained committed to
despite changes to the neighborhood surrounding it. These things factor into the case for the property’s
eligibility under Criterion A. The period of significance under this criterion begins with the initial
construction of the church in 1889 and extends to fifty years ago, the National Register cut-off.

The property is also eligible under Criterion C for its architectural significance as a noteworthy product of
Warren Hayes and Harry Wild Jones. Both were important architects of the late nineteenth century and, in

63 |pa:
Ibid., 13.
% Dunn, “Calvary Church,” 15; “Calvary Church: 1879-1979, Our Centennial Year.”
&5 Dunn, “Calvary Church,” 17.
% Ibid., 18.
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the case of Jones, the early twentieth century. The period of significance under this criterion begins with
the initial construction of the church in 1889 and extends to 1928 when the last major phase of
construction was completed.

The property was designated as a local landmark by the Minneapolis Heritage Preservation Commission
in 1995 in the areas of significance of Cultural History and Master Architects.

The building maintains integrity of location, setting, materials, design, workmanship, feeling, and
association.

Recommendation

The Calvary Baptist Church is recommended as eligible for the National Register.
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4.2.16 Apartment Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16322
Address: 2515 Blaisdell Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

This three-story apartment building is located on the east side of Blaisdell Avenue between West Twenty-
fifth and West Twenty-sixth Streets. The basement level sits partially above grade, creating garden-level
apartments that are faced in medium brown brick. The rest of the front facade is covered in buff-colored
brick. The front facade is five bays wide, and the central three bays are recessed. On each floor, the
windows in most bays are outlined by a row of the darker brick. On the projecting bays, the darker brick
wraps around the inside corner and extends around one window on the recessed section. Air-conditioning
units project through the walls in various locations. A central recessed entrance is framed with sheets of
gray and burgundy marble and has a cantilevered canopy. A circular driveway leads from the street to
this entrance. The bay south of it has recessed balconies in place of window opening at each floor. This
bay and the bay south of it are one floor taller than the other bays. The first bay of each side facade is
similar in design to the front facade, while the remainder of the walls are white concrete block.
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History

Prior to the construction of the current apartment building, lots 21 through 24 of Block 12 of J. T.
Blaisdell’'s Revised Addition to Minneapolis held single-family dwellings. On October 1, 1964, the City of
Minneapolis issued contractor Hamm and Okerman a permit to construct a 143-foot by 118-foot by 32-
foot (three-story) apartment building. Estimated to cost $450,000, the forty-nine-unit building would
include underground parking.®’

Minneapolis architect Harold Wilfred Fridlund designed the building. Fridlund was born in Minneapolis on
September 2, 1906. After graduating from Minneapolis’s Central High School, he attended the University
of Minnesota. While in school, he worked with architects Bertrand and Chamberlin and with Frederick
Mann. In 1930, he was awarded first prize of the Magney and Tusler Prizes in architecture; later that year,
he received a Bachelor of Architecture degree. After graduation, he worked as a junior then senior
draftsman for Minneapolis’s Board of Education for two years before being employed for four years by the
Public Works Administrations as an engineer. Around this time, he started the magazine Northwest
Architect; he served as its editor for the next seventeen years. He spent two years as a supervisor in
specifications and details in the Saint Cloud office of architect Nairne W. Fisher before forming a
professional partnership with C. A. Hausler in 1938. They established an office at University and Snelling
Avenues in Saint Paul and continued as partners until 1942, when Fridlund joined the War Department as
an assistant chief engineer at the Gopher Ordnance Works in Rosemount, a rural community south of the
Twin Cities. After the war ended, Fridlund worked for a few years as the chief architect of the Federal
Housing Administration in Minnesota. In 1950, he started H. W. Fridlund Architects, which he operated
until suffering a stroke in 1986. He died three months later at the age of 80. Fridlund’s projects included a
1963 apartment building at 2312 Blaisdell (HE-MPC-16304), not far to the north, as well as the Anoka
County Courthouse (1955), the Soldiers Home Assembly Hall and Chapel (1964), and the Mount Olivet
Home at 5517 Lyndale Avenue South in Minneapolis (1965).%

Evaluation

Although the apartment building is impressively designed and features amenities, like underground
parking, that are relatively unusual during this period in this location, it is not significant enough to qualify
under Criterion C as an example of Modern design in the first decades following World War 1.

Architect Fridlund had a long and diverse career, which has not yet received much scholarly attention. As
a result, it is difficult to evaluate the significance of this apartment building in the context of his work. It
seems likely, though, that larger and more public commissions would better represent his practice.

Recommendation

The apartment building at 2515 Blaisdell Avenue South is recommended as not eligible for the National
Reqgister.

67 Minneapolis Building Permit B389945 (dated October 1, 1965).

% American Architects Directory, 2nd ed. (New York: R. R. Bowker Company, 1962), 229, available at
http://communities.aia.org/sites/hdoaa/wiki/Wiki%20Pages/1962%20American %20Architects %20Director
y.aspx; University of Minnesota, “Fifty-eighth Annual Commencement, 1930,” program, 89, and
“Commencement Convocation, Fall Quarter, 1930,” program, 6, available at
http://conservancy.umn.edu/bitstream/57547/1/1930-commencement.pdf (accessed August 8, 2011);
“Harold Wilfred Fridlund,” November 18, 1944, application for membership to the American Institute for
Architects, and “Harold Fridlund,” hand-written notes, both from Northwest Architectural Archives, Elmer
L. Andersen Archives, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis; “H. W. Fridlund, President of Architecture
Firm,” obituary, Minneapolis Star and Tribune, February 19, 1987.
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4.2.17 Rowhouses

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16145
Address: 1-11 East 25" Street, Minneapolis

Property Description

These rowhouses are a series of three-story, flat-roofed, attached residences. The first floor sits above
grade; the foundation is rough-faced stone topped with a smooth stone band. The entrances of the
houses are paired, and the two units are mirror images. Carved sandstone steps rise up archways that
hold the recessed doorways. The arches are crowned with two rows of bricks in soldier and rowlock
bonds that rest on sandstone blocks with carved leaf motifs. The interior walls of the recesses are curved
and bow outward. The bays above the entrances have two double windows, while the outer bays of each
two-bay unit have picture windows on the first and second floors and paired windows on the third floor. A
stone band with a Greek key design runs between the first and second floors. Projecting rows of brick run
between the second and third floors. A cornice with modillions is above the third floor. Above this is a
decorative brick parapet wall.
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History

In 1893, the city issued J. M. McGuire a permit to construct a 45-foot by 125-foot brick and stone
“tenement” in this location at a cost of $30,000. These appear to have been built with modern amenities.
On May 17, six plumbing permits were issued, and six days later, an electrical permit was issued.®®

These rowhouses, numbered one to eleven, were designed by well-known Minneapolis architects
Franklin Long and Frederick Kees, perhaps the city’s most prolific designers during the 1880s. Long was
born in South Bainbridge, New York, in 1842. His family left New York in 1859 and traveled to
Woodstock, lllinois. Long relocated to Chicago, where he eventually worked as an apprentice draftsman
for J. C. Cochrane. After coming to Minneapolis in 1868, he partnered with Robert Alden, one of the city’s
pioneer architects, in 1874."°

Kees, a native of Baltimore, was born in 1852 and apprenticed for architect E. G. Lind from 1865 to1878
before coming to Minneapolis, where he joined the office of Leroy Buffington, one of the city’s well-known
architects. He had a practice with B. W. Fisk for two years before forming a partnership with Franklin Long
in 1884. This firm would become one of the most prolific in the Minneapolis, designing some of the most
monumental buildings of the late nineteenth century including the Public Library (1884), the Kasota Block
(1884), the Masonic Temple (1888), the Lumber Exchange (1888-1890), and Minneapolis’s City Hall and
Courthouse (1895—1905). The partnership lasted until 1898."

During their partnership, Long and Kees showed a preference for heavy stone buildings in their larger
commissions, typically adopting the Richardsonian Romanesque style. Elements of this style are seen in
the Twenty-fifth Street rowhouses, including the semicircular arches at the entryways. The walls, though,
are of brick.

Evaluation

This property is on the edge of the Washburn-Fair Oaks Historic District; the boundary for that district runs
down the alley directly to the east of the building. Nearby rowhouses included in the district at 100 East
Twenty-fifth Street and 106-108 East Twenty-fourth Street are similar to the rowhouses at 1-11 East
Twenty-fifth Street in scale (two to three stories), material (red brick), and period of construction (1889
and circa 1900). The style and construction date of 1-11 East Twenty-fifth Street suggest that it should
have been included in that district, particularly given its excellent architectural pedigree as the work of
Long and Kees.

Recommendation

This property should be considered as a contributing property in the Washburn-Fair Oaks Historic District,
which has been determined eligible for the National Register.

69 Minneapolis Building Permits B29833 (dated April 1, 1893), D8310, D8311, D8312, D8313, D8314,
D8315 (dated May 17, 1893), and F821 (dated May 23, 1893).

" Northwest Architectural Archives, “Long and Kees Collection,” ElImer L. Anderson Library, University of
Minnesota, Minneapolis, http://special.lib.umn.edu/findaid/xml/naa024.xml (accessed May 4, 2011);
Lathrop, Minneapolis Architects, 142.

" Northwest Architectural Archives, “Long and Kees Collection.”
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4.2.18 Commercial/Apartment Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16775
Address: 2443 Nicollet Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

This three-story building has commercial space on the first story and apartments on the upper stories. It
has two primary facades—one on Nicollet Avenue and one on West Twenty-fifth Street. The first story,
which is faced in smooth-faced masonry, holds a series of storefronts on both facades. There is a
recessed entry into the storefront at the corner where the two facades intersect. A single-story section
extends that the Twenty-fifth Street facade another bay to the east also holds a storefront. Some of the
storefronts have entries, which are recessed. Near the center of the Twenty-fifth Street facade, a
projecting canopy with decorative stonework on the wall above announces the entry to the stairway for
the apartments. The walls on the upper floors are brick, and the fenestration pattern is articulated by
stone trim. Three adjacent windows on the second and the third floors are grouped by vertical stone
pilasters; a recessed panel is below the stone sills of the third-floor openings. Wider windows are edged
by vertical stone elements that curve above the third floor into an arch, which is accented by brick laid in a
fan pattern. The parapet once had stone panels and coping (see the historic photograph on the next
page), but it is now plain brick that does not match the brick on the walls below.
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Apartment Building at East Twenty-fifth Street and Nicollet Avenue, c. 1927
Charles P. Gibson Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

History

In 1923, the City of Minneapolis issued contractor W. E. Kenney a permit to install an electric billboard at
the northeast corner of Nicollet Avenue and East Twenty-fifth Street on Lots 7 and 8 on Block 2 of
Cochran’s Addition to Minneapolis. Three years later, on June 1, 1926, contractor Ernest M. Ganley
Company received a permit to install the foundation for a new commercial building on these lots. Later
that month, the city issued a permit to the Naftalin Holding Company to construct a three-story, 94-foot by
125-foot brick, tile, and reinforced-concrete commercial building with nine storefronts and twenty-four
apartments. (The corner commercial space apparently occupied several bays.) Ganley was the again
contractor, and the building was designed by prominent Minneapolis architect, Perry E. Crosier.”

Perry E. Crosier, a native of Minneapolis, was born on November 17, 1890. He began as a draftsman for
Harry Wild Jones, one of the city’s most celebrated architects in that era, before working for Bertrand and
Chamberlin, also a well-established firm. By 1914, Crosier had his own firm of architects and contractors
called the Crosier Construction Company, which lasted two years. For the rest of his career, he worked
independently as an architect. A few years before the Nicollet Avenue project, Croiser had designed the
Belmont Apartments, prominently located near the intersection of Franklin and Hennepin Avenues. One
of his most renowned residential designs was the Fair Oaks Apartments on Twenty-fifth Street and Third
Avenue, several blocks east of Nicollet, which opened in 1939. He also designed a number of movie
theaters including the Avalon, Boulevard Twins, and Hopkins. Many examples of Perry Crosier’s work are
extan7t3in Minneapolis and surrounding communities, and some fall within the Southwest Transitway’s
APE.

2 Minneapolis Building Permits F164667 (dated February 27, 1923), B197723 (dated June 1, 1926), and
B198216 (dated June 19, 1926).
73 Lathrop, Minnesota Architects, 53-54.
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Evaluation

For this property to be eligible under Criterion C as the work of a master, it would have to be considered
one of Crosier’s finest works. Given the building’s relatively unassuming design and the alterations that
have diminished its integrity, the building at 2433 Nicollet is not one of his major accomplishments. The
compromised integrity, as well as the building’s apparent lack of historic significance, eliminate it from
National Register consideration.

Recommendation

The building at 2443 Nicollet Avenue is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.
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4.2.19 Matthew McDonald House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16306
Address: 2400 Blaisdell Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

This two-and-one-half-story brick and terra-cotta residence displays the French Renaissance Revival
Style. The front (east) facade is three bays wide; each bay is two windows wide. The foundation is rough-
cut limestone. The main entrance is at the center of the first floor and is underneath a hipped-roof canopy
supported by wood Doric columns and square brick pillars with ornate terra-collar capitals. The windows
do not appear to be original. On the outer bays of the second floor, the openings are crowned with terra-
cotta panels of carved ornate designs with shield motifs, and they are connected to the windows below
them by narrow terra-cotta bands with an egg-and-dart design. The spandrels have a square panel of
raised brick. The north bay curves out. Yellow brick at the corners of the house form faux quoins. A tall
wood frieze runs below the projecting eaves. Three round-arch dormers are the hipped roof on each
facade; the center dormer has sidelights that create a Palladian form. Ornate terra-cotta decorates the
ridge of the roof. A small two-story, flat-roof wing extends from house’s north facade.
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2400 Blaisdell Avenue, September 7, 1950
Norton and Peel Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

History

In early 1902, Matthew McDonald, part owner of the McDonald Brothers Company, purchased Lots 1, 2,
and 3 of Block 8 of J. T. Blaisdell’'s Revised Addition to Minneapolis, a prominent location at the corner of
Blaisdell Avenue South and West Twenty-fourth Street. The Minneapolis Tribune reported that McDonald
intended to build a large 45-foot by 56-foot mansion of pressed brick and terra-cotta on the site. Costing
between $15,000 and $20,000, the grand house would be designed by architects Franklin B. and Louis L.
Long and boast a “magnificent reception hall,” 25 feet by 20 feet in size.”

By the time McDonald erected the Blaisdell mansion, he had already been a prominent businessman in
Minneapolis for twenty-five years. McDonald was born in Silver Lake, Pennsylvania, on December 13,
1848, to Morris and Elizabeth McDonald, who had both emigrated from Ireland around 1840. He
graduated from an academy at Binghamton, New York, and around 1877, he entered the crockery and
ceramics trade in Bradford, Pennsylvania, with his brother, Morris. The brothers soon realized that the
Northwest held untapped markets, and they decided to expand by opening a branch store in Minneapolis
in 1884, which would be managed by Morris. The Tribune announced the opening of the new “crockery
store” at 423 Nicollet Avenue, declaring that it stocked fine china, cut glass, chandelier lamps, and fancy
goods that were “of the finest ever shown on the market.” The venture apparently met with immediate
success. ‘It was not long . . . before it was found that the tail was wagging the dog, and in 1885 Matthew
McDonald closed up the business in Bradford and joined his brother in Minneapolis.””®

Advertisements in the Tribune show that the McDonald Brothers had competition in the crockery and
china markets from the McClelland Brothers. Soon, however, McDonald Brothers grew into the largest

74 «

Building News of the Week,” Minneapolis Tribune, February 23, 1902; “Magnificent Residence for
Blaisdell Ave.,” Minneapolis Tribune, April 10, 1902.

’® Marion D. Shutter, History of Minneapolis, Gateway to the Northwest, vol. 2 (Chicago: S. J. Clarke
Publishing Company, 1923), 581-582; “McDonald Bros. Company Celebrates Fortieth Anniversary,” The
Pottery, Glass and Brass Salesman 15 (July 5, 1917): 9, 25.
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china and ceramic jobbing trade in the city. The brothers established important connections across the
country and in Europe. In addition to the wholesale and retail business, they introduced new departments
to the store, the first of which was “house furnlshlngs

The company suffered a potentially devastating blow when its main building on First Avenue South was
devastated by a large fire in July 1895. The company experienced over $82,000 in losses. Fortunately,
the damage was covered by insurance, and the firm immediately made plans to get back to work. It
erected a five-story-tall “magnificent new home” at Fifth Street and First Avenue North and “plunged into
tremendous jobbing and wholesaling.” The company had fifty employees, and through its twelve traveling
salesmen, McDonald Brothers covered a wide territory including anesota Wisconsin, the Dakotas,
lowa, Montana, ldaho, Nebraska, and parts of Washington State.”’

By the turn of the century, Tribune advertisements listed only the McDonald Brothers under the category
of china and glassware sales. During the first decade of the twentieth century, the company continued
expanding its line of goods, most likely to keep in completion with the rising popularity of the department
story. Additional products sold by McDonald Brothers included toys, “fancy goods,” silverware, furniture,
books, and stationary. By 1913, the company had even expanded into automobile tires and supplies, as
well as dry goods, “furnishings and notlons By 1916, the company identified itself as sellers of
“Wholesale General Merchandise.””

Matthew McDonald was involved with his namesake company until his death in 1910, and his brother,
Morris, continued after that, at least until 1923.7° In 1927, Butler Brothers, a Chicago-based retail and
wholesale supplier, “purchased the merchandise and good will” of McDonald Brothers. When the sale
was completed, “the merchandise [was] transferred and McDonald Brothers [lost] its identity in the Butler
organization.”80

Evaluation

McDonald Brothers business appears to have been the pre-eminent ceramic and china jobber in
Minneapolis for many decades before expanding into more lines of merchandise, making Matthew
McDonald potentially significant under Criterion B as an important merchant in Minneapolis in the late
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.

Matthew McDonald’s construction of and residency in the house at 2400 Blaisdell Avenue occurred
during the company’s peak period. Around the same time, the company erected an impressive
warehouse building, which is still extant at 111 North Fifth Street in downtown Minneapolis. When two
properties both represent a person’s historic contributions, the National Register Bulletin 15 states that
“the best representatives usually are properties associated with the person’s adult or productive life.”
While the house is evidence of the prosperity McDonald experienced from his success in business, the
company’s building is still extant, has good integrity, and is located in the area of Minneapolis historically
associated with the jobbing industry. As a result, the McDonald Brothers Building is a better
representation that the house of McDonald’s business success.

The house is one of many Minneapolis buildings designed by accomplished architects Franklin and Louis
Long. Franklin is best known for his partnership with Louis Kees, which produced well-known buildings
such as the Masonic Block and the Flour Exchange Building. Louis Long and partner Lowell Lamoreux

"6 “McDonald Bros. Company Celebrates Fortieth Anniversary.”
" “Took Part of It Down,” Minneapolis Tribune, July 6, 1895; “Hose and Nozzle,” Minneapolis Tribune,
January 3, 1896; “Big Crockery House,” Minneapolis Tribune, September 8, 1895.

8 “McDonald Bros.,” classified advertisement, April 16, 1903; “McDonald Bros. Company Celebrates
Fort|eth Anniversary.”

’ The date of Morris’s death is unknown.
8 Shutter, History of Minneapolis, 581-582; “Butler Absorbs McDonalds Bros.” New York Times, March
22,1927.
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designed the Central YMCA and the Plymouth Building. The McDonald House is not one of the most
noteworthy designs by these architects.®’

The house displays a variation of the French Renaissance Revival Style. While this is a relatively rare
architectural style in the Twin Cities area, it is one of a number of revival styles that were common during
the period, and there is not sufficient context to claim that it is significant enough to merit National
Register consideration under Criterion C for this reason alone.

Recommendation

The Matthew McDonald House is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.

8 Lathrop, Minnesota Architects, 142—144.
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4.2.20 John Alden Bovey House

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-16305
Address: 2322 Blaisdell Avenue South, Minneapolis

Property Description

The John Alden Bovey House is a two-and-one-half-story, side-gable, brick, Colonial Revival residence.
The front (west) facade is five bays wide. The main entrance, located at the central bay of the first floor,
has a wood pediment surround with fluted columns with Roman Doric capitals. The pediment and
architrave, which has curved sides, are decorated with dentils. The doorway is bracketed by multi-pane
sidelights and is crowned by a cut-glass fanlight. The windows openings on both floors are topped with
jack arches, flanked by shutters, and hold six-over-six windows. The central window on the second floor
has two four-over-four sidelights. A dentillated cornice at the roofline is below eaves that flare slightly.
There are three dormers on the front facade. All have round-arched windows and front-gable roofs; the
central dormer is bracketed by two smaller two-over-one windows with shed-roof dormers. A long dormer
with multiple windows is on the rear (east) facade. A large 85-foot by 66-foot brick addition is attached to
the rear facade of the house, extending to the public alley to the west and the sidewalk on West Twenty-
Fourth Street to the north.
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History

On August 18, 1915, the City of Minneapolis issued John Alden Bovey a building permit to construct a
two-story (26-foot) brick-veneered residence measuring 54 feet by 55 feet. W. Jenson was listed as the
builder. Minneapolis architect Ernest Kennedy designed the residence in the Colonial Revival style. Eight
years later, a $2,000 26-foot by 19-foot brick-and-tile garage was constructed. M. Mattson was
contractor.®

Bovey was born in New Brunswick on May 11, 1867, shortly before his father, Charles A. Bovey,
embarked on a business venture in the United States.®® Charles had been born in Bath, England, in 1832,
and arrived in New Brunswick at the age of fifteen, where he became involved in the lumber industry.
After the Civil War in the United States, the “possibilities of business in the west . . . intrigued [Charles]
Bovey,” bringing him to Minneapolis in 1869. His family later joined him. Charles soon started a lumber
business with W. W. Eastman and John De Laittre called Eastman, Bovey and Company. It was one of
the “pioneer” mills on the west side of Saint Anthony Falls. Later, it moved to a site in North Minneapolis.
After twenty years, it was renamed the Bovey-De Laittre Company. A couple years before Charles’s
death in 1911, his lumber company was noted as the longest running in the city.*

His son John received a degree from Yale University in 1891 and eventually followed his father into the
lumber industry, establishing the Bovey-Shute Lumber Company with Royal B. Shute in 1903. Shute died
three years later at the age of forty. John’s construction of the substantial house on Blaisdell in 1915
indicates that the business was a success.®

While Bovey lived in Minneapolis, the general office of Bovey-Shute was located in North Dakota. In
1915, Devil’'s Lake became its new home. A Bismarck Daily Tribune article from that year noted: “Bovey-
Shute is recognized as one of the biggest institutions of its kind in the northwest. With over thirty lumber
yards in North Dakota, the company has for years proved a strong factor in the development of the state,
having adopted a broad policy in assisting in the upbuilding of the territory through which it operates.”
Four years later, an article in the Minneapolis Tribune added: “This company has come to be the motive
force behind the building and development that has brought the territory in the space of one lifetime from
the status of an Indian hunting ground to that of the world’s richest Empire.”®® By 1919, the firm was
known as Bovey, Shute, and Jackson. John Bovey passed away in 1938.%"

The house he built on Blaisdell Avenue was no longer in the possession of his heirs by 1957, when a
special council action granted the owner a special use permit allowing the property to host wedding

82 Minneapolis Building Permit B117570 (dated August 18, 1915) and B174055 (dated October 13, 1923).
Born in Mankato, Minnesota, in 1864, Ernest Kennedy received some schooling from the University of
Minnesota. He later studied at the Sorbonne in Paris, the Polytechnic in Berlin and Munich, and may have
also studied in Italy, Spain, and Russia. After returning to Minnesota in 1897, he established a practice
that was well-received, his specialty being large houses for the city’s most prominent residents, including
Alfred Pillsbury, E. C. Gale, and Rufus Rand. Kennedy passed away in 1938. Lathrop, Minnesota
Architects, 126

83 Catalogue of the Officers and Graduates of Yale University in New Haven, Connecticut, 17701-1910
(New Haven, Conn.: Tuttle, Morehouse, and Taylor Company, 1910), 441;Minnesota Death Certificate
No. 1906-50-1278.

8 Horace Bushnell Hudson, ed., A Half Century of Minneapolis (Minneapolis: Hudson Publishing
Company, 1908), 303—-304; “Charles A. Bovey Passes,” Minneapolis Tribune, November 3, 1911.

8 Catalogue of the Officers and Graduates of Yale University, 441; Minnesota Secretary of State, “Bovey-
Shute Lumber Company,” Domestic Corporation Filing No. 6734-AA, June 11, 1903, available at
http://da.sos.state.mn.us/minnesota/corp_inquiry-find.asp?:Norder_item_type id=10; “Bovey, Shute and
Jackson, (Inc.),” Minneapolis Tribune, June 17, 1919.

% «State News and Comment,” Bismarck Daily Tribune, March 1, 1915; “Bovey, Shute and Jackson.”

8 Catalogue of the Officers and Graduates of Yale University, 441; Minnesota Secretary of State, “Bovey-
Shute Lumber Company,” Domestic Corporation Filing No. 6734-AA, June 11, 1903, available at
http://da.sos.state.mn.us/minnesota/corp_inquiry-find.asp?:Norder_item_type_id=10; Minnesota Death
Certificate No. 1906-50-1278; “Bovey, Shute and Jackson, (Inc.),” Minneapolis Tribune, June 17, 1919.
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receptions. In September of that year, contractor G. H. Lindwall built a small addition onto the rear of the
building and undertook other alterations. In 1961, an 85-foot by 66-foot brick gymnasium addition was
built onto the rear of the building by the Boy’s Club of Minneapolis.88

Evaluation

By the early twentieth century, the forests of Minnesota were becoming depleted, and there were only two
sawmills in operation in Minneapolis by 1912. Bovey-Shute’s greatest impact was on developing the
region to the west of Minnesota, particularly North Dakota, and it is likely that a property in that state
would more appropriately represent that history. John Bovey’s father, Charles, was active during the
industry’s nineteenth-century heyday. As one of the pioneer lumbermen in Minneapolis, he appears to
have had a far greater impact on the city’s history than his son. The Charles Bovey family residence was
located at Harmon Place and Thirteenth Street South, which at the time was at the outskirts of the city.
The house is no longer extant.®

In evaluating the National Register eligibility of the John Bovey House, there is also the issue of integrity.
When viewed from Blaisdell Avenue, the Bovey House appears to have excellent integrity. The rear
(west) facade and the southwest corner, however, are almost completely obscured at street level by the
1961 gymnasium addition. This modern construction is an austere, windowless, brick cube—an
inappropriate design for the decorative, side-gable Colonial Revival residence. At 85 feet by 66 feet in
size, the gymnasium’s scale overwhelms the 54-foot by 55-foot house. Consequently, despite the high
level of integrity of most of the original house, the gymnasium has enough of an adverse effect on the
property’s overall integrity to render it ineligible for the National Register even if it had significance under
one of the criteria.

Recommendation

The John Alden Bovey House is recommended as not eligible for the National Register.

8 Minneapolis Special Use Permit 42008 (dated May 10, 1957) and Building Permits B359106 (dated
September 5, 1957) and B376203 (dated September 25, 1961).

8 “Two Saw Mills Left to Uphold Dignity of Lumbering City,” Minneapolis Tribune, March 10, 1912;
Hudson, A Half Century of Minneapolis, 303—-304.
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4.2.21 Hardware Mutual Fire Insurance Company Building

MnSHPO Inventory Number: HE-MPC-6514
Address: 2344 Nicollet Avenue, Minneapolis

Property Description

Rising three stories on a high basement, this building towers over the intersection of Nicollet Avenue and
Twenty-fourth Street. On the first and second floors of the five-bay front (east) facade, the three central
bays are faced with smooth ashlar, with four pilasters delineating the bays. The central entry, approached
by steps with a pair of iron light standards with spherical globes, has a classically inspired frame topped
by a railing and shield, all of the same stone. Stone also appears on quoins trimming the corners, on
window surrounds, on a denticulated entablature between the second and third floors, and another
cornice below the roof eaves. Coursed stone covers the walls from the base of the first-floor windows to
the ground. In other areas, the walls are variegated brick. The hipped roof is clad with red tile. A small,
cube-shaped penthouse on the roof near the front facade appears to have been altered; the city issued a
permit in 1935 to “raise penthouse.” Multicar garages built just north of the building in 1923 and 1935 are
no longer extant; that area is now a surface parking lot. A property to the east at the corner of Blaisdell
and Twenty-fourth Street (HE-MPC-16130) has a playground that is associated with the building’s current
occupant, the Waldorf School, but this property was not historically associated with 2344 Nicollet.®

%0 Description excerpted in part from Pearson, Petersen, and Roise, "The Evolution of the Whittier
Neighborhood," 11, 35.
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Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, 2344 Nicollet Avenue, 1923
Charles J. Hibbard Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

Office interior, Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, 1923
Charles J. Hibbard Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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Interior of lobby, Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, 1923
Charles J. Hibbard Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, 1924
Charles J. Hibbard Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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Office, Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, 1924
Charles J. Hibbard Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

Front Entrance, Hardware Mutual
Insurance Company, 1924
Charles J. Hibbard Photograph—
Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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Cafeteria, Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, 1924
Charles J. Hibbard Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

Stenographers, Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, 1924
Charles J. Hibbard Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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Garage, Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, 1924
Charles Hibbard Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections

Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, September 10, 1937
Norton and Peel Photograph—Minnesota Historical Society Collections
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History

In the late 1890s, Minnesota’s hardware dealers began investigating the costs of their fire insurance
policies. They became convinced that if they formed and operated their own mutual insurance company,
they could they save money on their insurance policies and provide these low-cost policies to their
associates in the hardware business. On May 25, 1899, a group of Minneapolis hardware dealers created
the Retail Hardware Dealers Mutual Fire Insurance Company—an unprecedented type of insurance
company that would protect those in their line of work from the loss of merchandise in a fire. The men
jointly signed a note to borrow $20,000 to capitalize the company. Before the venture could sell policies,
the Minnesota State Legislature had to pass an act giving it a charter. Finally, in January 1900, the
Minnesota Insurance Department issued the company a Certificate of Authority to commence with
business. Keeping with the idea of brotherhood, the company was organized as a mutual, meaning that it
was owned by the policyholders. Each would have one vote at an annual meeting and would, in turn, be a
beneficiary of any of the company’s profits. The coverage of the early policies was limited to stock and
merchandise, not the loss of buildings, houses, or other possessions.91

At first, the office of the Retail Hardware Dealers was small enough to fit in one room in downtown
Minneapolis’s Boston Block at Hennepin Avenue and Third Street. Two employees, a secretary and a
stenographer-clerk, managed the paperwork. Soon, hardware dealers in Wisconsin, the Dakotas, and
lowa were purchasing policies. At the end of 1901, a 25 percent dividend was paid to each policyholder—
the beginning of the company’s “enviable dividend paying record.” Five years later, the company had
outgrown its space in the Boston Block, and in 1907, it moved to the Minneapolis’s Richardsonian
Romanesque Metropolitan Life (originally the Northwestern Guaranty Loan) Building, at Third Street and

Second Avenue.

By 1920, the company had twenty-eight employees working in its Minneapolis office as well as twenty-
eight agents out in the field. Its authority to write insurance policies had expanded to more states
including California, Texas, Michigan, New York, and Pennsylvania. Demand for policies continued to
increase nationwide, and on October 1, the first branch office was opened in San Francisco. “In rapid
succession, similar offices were set up at Dallas, Texas, to serve the Southwest states and in Atlanta
Georgia, to serve the Southeastern states.”®

At the Minneapolis home office, the staff had expanded to fill an entire side of the Metropolitan Building’s
tenth floor. Unable to obtain more space in the building, the company investigated the possibilities of
constructing its own building. It found a suitable site in South Minneapolis at the northwest corner of
Nicollet Avenue and West Twenty-fourth Street.*

The previous building at this site, Lots 10 through 12 of Block 6 of J. T. Blaisdell’s Revised Addition to
Minneapolis, was a brick-veneered Queen Anne mansion built by Blaisdell, the plat’s creator, in 1884. A
later building permit shows that the house experienced $800 worth of fire damage in 1906. From 1912
until 1922, it was used by Dr. G. Bjornstad’s Clinic and Sanatorium. On May 25, 1922, it was purchased
by the insurance company, now called Retail Hardware Mutual Fire Insurance, for about $66,000. On
August 9, the City of Minneapolis issued the company a permit to construct concrete footings for its new
office building on the site. Alimost one month later, on September 7, Hardware Mutual received a second

" “Hardware Mutual Insurance Company: The Golden 50th,” 1949, commemorative brochure, American

Hardware Mutual Insurance Company File, Minneapolis Collection, Hennepin County Central Library,
Minneapolis, foreword, 3—4; “Hardware Mutual to Dedicate Its New $4,000,000 Building This Week,”
Minneapolis Tribune, September 9, 1956; American Hardware Mutual Insurance Company, “About Us,”
http://www.careerbuilder.com/Jobs/Company/CQ25P161M4WFZ45WP8Z/American-Hardware-Mutual
g?ccessed April 28, 2011).

“The Golden 50th,” 3, 5-6.
* |bid., 6.
* Ibid., 9.
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permit for the brick and concrete office building measuring 84 feet by 140 feet and rising 45 feet. It was
anticipated that it would take a full year to complete the bU|Id|ng

On both permits, the architectural partnership of Magney and Tusler was identified as the architect and
the James Leck Company as the contractor. Both of these names had great recognition in Minneapolis in
the 1920s. Gottlieb Magney and Wilbur Tusler were becoming notable architects in Minneapolis. Also in
1922, they had designed the MacPhail School of Music Building on LaSalle Avenue. By the end of the
decade they would be responsible for preparing plans for the Young-Quinlan Building, and, most, notably,
the Foshay Tower, Minneapolis’s first true skyscraper. James Leck was one of the city’s major
contractors, receiving substantial construction projects like the University of Minnesota’s Memorial
Stadium. Leck worked on projects beyond the state lines as well, such a stadium at the University of
Michigan. Having these important firms working on the Hardware Mutual building is indicative of the
company’s prominence and profitability in the early in the 1920s.%

Magney and Tusler designed an ornate, elegant office building that borrowed elements from the Beaux
Arts, Georgian Revival, and Mediterranean styles. The brick and concrete materials as well as the boxy
design alluded to the company’s permanence and dedication to fire prevention. These elements were
softened by delicate quoins, highly detailed cornices, and pilaster capitals with Tudor Rose motifs. The
deeply recessed entryway was highlighted by a marble surround, a shield, a faux balcony, and a flagpole.
Panels of variegated reddish-brown brick warmed the austere stone walls. Magney and Tusler’s design
was a masterful balance of strong yet inviting elements. Historic photographs show an interior with
opulent public spaces featuring stone and tile floors, stone and paneled walls, and decorated plaster
ceilings, and tiled floors. Outside of the public eye were offices, a cafeteria, a kitchen, a file room, and
other Work spaces The building was representative of the company’s wealth, taking $225,000 to
construct.’®

In July 1923, the City of Minneapolis issued Hardware Mutual another permit for the property, this time for
a 77-foot by 20-foot brick garage. James Leck would also undertake that construction. Such an addition
reflected the company’s new location; no longer was it downtown where most, if not all, employees came
by streetcar or on foot, although the new location was well served by streetcar and, later, bus lines. The
building was erected at a time when car ownership was becoming more common. %

On December 13, 1923, Hardware Mutual moved into its elegant new home on Nicollet Avenue. It had
planned for growth to avoid finding itself in the situation it had been in at the Metropolitan Building where
it could expand no further. Much of the space was initially leased to other tenants with the intent to take
over this space as business grew. This proved to be excellent foresight. The company did grow, both in
Minneapolis and throughout the country. In 1926, the Eastern Department was opened in Newark, New
Jersey. By the 1930s, Retall had been dropped from the company’s name and it went by the Hardware
Mutual Insurance Company

In March 1935, the company added a second brick garage to the Nicollet Avenue property at a cost of
$16,000. At 92 feet by 23 feet in size, it was significantly larger than the one built twelve years prior. The
permit listed S. C. Wentworth and H. L. Wilson as the architects and the Ernest M. Ganley Company as
the contractor. The following month, Hardware Mutual again hired Wentworth and Wilson to design the

% Minneapolis Building Permits B562 (